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Achievement: this is 
the word that sums 
up 2016 in a nutshell 
for us.

STATEMENT FROM THE CEO G4-1

We are pleased to present the first integrated 
report of M Dias Branco, in which we set out 
our achievements in economic and financial 
and socio-environmental matters.

It is an honor to share the progress and learn-
ing made in 2016, resulting from teamwork, 
in which all are driven by the purpose of im-
plementing the Company’s mission: to offer 
high-quality, innovative, healthy, tasty and 
competitively priced food products for people's 
nourishment and enjoyment.

Achievement: this is the word that sums up 
2016 in a nutshell for us. Despite the econom-
ic challenges in Brazil, our team managed to 
make progress in the ongoing pursuit of solu-
tions to achieve our planned business targets, 
in light of our commitment to generating satis-
factory results for our various stakeholders in 
the short and long term.

No event was more striking in 2016, however, 
than the demise of Mr. Ivens Dias Branco, the 
Company’s founder, who started out with a bak-
ery but with a great deal of dedication and hard 

STRENGTH TO  
STRENGTH  

IN FULFILLING  
OUR MISSION.

work turned into the company that is now one 
of the major global players in cookies and pasta, 
and the leader of these segments in Brazil in sales 
volume. The fact we miss him so much made us 
determined to honor his legacy, and to make M 
Dias Branco an even better and bigger compa-
ny. His values, beliefs and dreams are still alive, 
inspiring us to build on the solid foundations he 
laid down.

We completed 2016 with satisfactory economic 
and financial results. Ebitda rose by 33.9%, net 
revenue by 15.3% and net income by 29.9% 
over the previous year. There were also notable 
productivity gains, resulting from a number of 
production and sales records. The restructuring 
of the sales team unified the sales force nation-
wide, making it possible to further capitalize 
on the potential of each of our brands and to 
expand our leadership in the pasta and cook-
ie market. The gains made by the Company’s 
shares on BM&FBovespa over the year testified 
to the market’s recognition of our performance. 

Our economic and financial results stand along-
side the strengthening of our socio-environ-
mental performance. Sustainability continued 
marching into our corporate practices. Work 
Groups met throughout the year to talk about 
issues in the Strategic Sustainability Agenda, 

such as nutrition, health, packaging, waste, 
water, effluent, energy, emissions, communi-
ties, social investment, inputs, sustainability 
culture and occupational health & safety. Our 
staff was increasingly engaged and proactive in 
initiatives benefiting society.

The financial support for social, cultural and 
environmental projects rose substantially and 
began including more Brazilian states.

This integrated report provides you with an 
excellent opportunity to read more about the 
Company. The results indicators are comple-
mented by milestone achievements in the 
course of 2016, such as investments in research 
and development, the governance model, prod-
uct launches, personnel management practices, 
occupational health & safety actions and risk 
and prospects management, amongst other is-
sues providing an overview of our business.

We dedicate the preparation of our first inte-
grated report to all of our investors, staff, sup-
pliers, clients and consumers, to whom we are 
eternally grateful. We hope you thoroughly 
enjoy this report and hope we can exceed your 
expectations yet again!

“
”

Ivens Dias Branco Júnior
CEO 
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COMPANY OVERVIEW M. DIAS BRANCOG4-3,4,5,6,7,8,9 PRODUCT CATEGORIES | MARKET SHARE 

CATEGORY OF  
PRODUCTS

With 60 years of history and presence 
across Brazil, M. Dias Branco  
is one of the largest Brazilian 
companies in the food sector.  It is the 
market leader in cookies and pasta in 
Brazil, the 6th largest pasta company 
and the 7th largest cookie company in 
the world in terms of value (USD)*. 

• The Nielsen Retail 2016 market survey found 
that M. Dias Branco is the domestic market 
leader in cookies with a market share of 28.6% 
(27.9% in 2015) and pasta with 28.8% (28.4% in 
2015). 

• According to the latest Nielsen figures, the Finna 
wheat flour was the market leader in the North-
East region of Brazil, with a 22.6% market share 
from October to November 2016*.  

• According to the Nielsen figures for December 
2016, the Isabela packaged toast brand was the 
market leader in the South region of Brazil, with 
a 47.32% market share. 

Our products are  
sold under the 
following core brands:

Based in Eusébio/CE, M. Dias Branco S.A. Indústria 
e Comércio de Alimentos has been active in the 
Brazilian food market for more than 60 years. The 
Company has some 16.5 thousand employees and 
offers its consumers across Brazil eight categories 
of products: 

• Cookies
• Pasta
• Wheat flour and bran
• Cake mixes
• Margarine and shortening
• Cakes
• Snacks
• Packaged toast

Exports of pasta, cookies, packaged toast, marga-
rine and shortening served 19 markets in South, 
Central and North America, Africa, Asia and Europe, 
with the volume in tonnes rising by 46% over 2015.

M. Dias Branco expands its leadership in the domestic cookie sector, in terms of sales

* Source: Euromonitor 2015 

MARKET SHARE

Our 
Brands

*Consolidated information had not been published for 2016 by the publication of this report

S T A F F 
16.5 thousand
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COMPANY OVERVIEW M. DIAS BRANCOG4-3,4,5,6,7,8,9 MANUFACTURING SITES AND DISTRIBUTION CENTERS

Distribution 
Centers 
in all  
regions
of Brazil:

• Belém/PA
• São Luís/MA
• Teresina/PI
• Eusébio/CE
• GME-Fortaleza/CE
• Docks - Fortaleza/CE 
• Maracanaú/CE
• Crato/CE
• Natal/RN
• São José do Mipibu/RN
• Cabedelo/PB
• Bayeux/PB
• Jaboatão dos Guararapes/PE 
• Recife/PE

• Caruaru/PE
• Maceió/AL
• Aracajú/SE
• Salvador/BA (2 DCs)
• Brasília/DF
• Contagem/MG
• Rio de Janeiro/RJ
• São Caetano do Sul/SP 
• Lençóis Paulista/SP
• Jaboticabal/SP
• Pinhais/PR
• Rolândia/PR
• Bento Gonçalves/RS
• Nova Santa Rita/RS

MANUFACTURING 
SITES AND 
DISTRIBUTION 
CENTERS

Manufacturing plants

Distribution Centers

Cookie, pasta 
cake and snacks factory
Maracanaú (CE)

Wheat mill and cookie  
pasta and packaged toast factory
Eusébio (CE)

Wheat mill
Fortaleza/CE Margarine and 

shortening factory 
Fortaleza/CE

Wheat mill and 
pasta factory 
Natal/RN

Wheat mill and 
pasta factory 
Cabedelo/PB

Cookie, chocolate 
topping and 
pasta factory
Jaboatão dos
Guararapes/PE

Wheat mill and 
cookie, pasta and 
cake mix factory
Salvador/BA

Pasta factory
São Caetano do Sul/SP

Cookie factory  
Lençóis Paulista (SP)

Wheat mill 
Rolândia/PR

Cookie and 
pasta factory  
Bento Gonçalves (RS)

The Company has an extensive domestic 
presence and close proximity to consumer 
markets through 12 manufacturing sites 
and 29 distribution centers strategically 
located across all regions of Brazil.

Eusébio-CE distribution center, expanded in 2016
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Our organizational identity is expressed through 
our mission statement, vision and values, providing 
our stakeholders with clarity on why we are here, 
where we want to be and the values we prioritize in 
our approach.G4-56

MISSION, VISION  
AND VALUES

VISION
The future we want to create

We contribute to society's development 
through successful and sustainable 
partnerships, a global presence  
and diversified business, and are  
recognized for our respect for people 
and the environment, ethics, creativity,  
willingness to serve, simplicity and  
passion for everything we do.

VALUES

Respect: Respect for the 
human essence, for our 
employees, customers and 
consumers. Respect for the 
environment by adopting 
sustainable practices.

Ethics: Valuing ethical 
conduct, underpinned by the 
truth and common good.

Goodwill: Solidarity, sense 
of community, willingness 
to help, collaborate and be 
constructive.

Simplicity:  Humility and 
keeping things simple.

Excellence:  Passion for and 
excellence in everything 
we do.

Achievement: Enterprise, 
courage, overcoming fear 
and persistence.

MISSION
Why we are here

We offer high-quality, 
innovative, healthy, 
tasty and competitively 
priced food products for 
people's nourishment 
and enjoyment.

The company permanently disseminates its Mis-
sion, Vision and Values among its employees, with 
the aim of strengthening the sense of common 
purpose and the commitment of everyone to the 
sustainability of the business.

In 2016, there is one initiative that deserves to be 
emphasized: the Honor to the Legacy campaign, 
conducted immediately after the death of Mr. Iv-
ens Dias, Chairman of the Board of Directors at the 
time, recalling the dreams and values that drove his 
work and that will be a source of inspiration to keep 
the team together and focused on preserving the 
foundations of the company’s success

The R3 campaign "What is good can be better.  
Rethink, Reduce, Reinvent!" encouraged our em-
ployees to practice the values of creativity, self-im-
provement and diligence, focused on increased 
productivity and reduced costs: 

• RETHINK your actions. Everyone should pay 
attention to the excellence of our execution 
with clients and end consumers. Whatever your 
field, contribute towards building solutions and 
proposing concrete measures that add value to 
the business. 

63.32% 9.52%

25.11%

2.05%

Controlling 
shareholder — 
DIBRA Fundo de 
Investimento em 
Participações

Statutory 
Director 

Free Float

Board  
of Directors

Endeavor: Constantly looking  
after our expenditure 
and assets.

Creativity:  The pursuit 
of effective solutions in an 
increasingly 
complex and unpredictable 
business world - solutions 
that are simple, doing more 
with less, without worthless 
trimmings.

Expedition:  Perfect timing, 
with the speed needed by the 
market, rapidly perceiving 
requirements to find the 
solutions and applying them 
effectively.

Security: Always act 
preventively to avoid 
accidents, building a safe 
working environment, as 
human life comes first.

Our approach

• REDUCE fixed and variable expenses, either by 
eliminating everything that is unnecessary or 
by performing your responsibilities with less 
expenditure. Present ideas, identify opportuni-
ties and do not tolerate waste. 

• REINVENT your department in search of higher 
levels of productivity in all your day-to-day 
processes and activities. Do not be content with 
your current performance, question and look 
for signs that can boost our efficiency.

The leadership development program (LDP) held 
two events in 2016 which brought together all the 
managers, around 200 professionals, to share the 
Mission, Vision, Values and Strategic Direction of 
five years, representing a major initiative of cultural 
alignment.

The meetings to follow up the results with the 
teams, called D-Day - Day of Dialog, one of the tar-
iffs in 2016 was the disclosure of the strategic orien-
tation and the strategic map. To make the organi-
zational identity and strategy clear and widespread 
is one of the pillars of the company’s management 
model.

Shareholders

In 2016, M. Dias Branco 
completed 
10 years years of being 
listed on BM&FBovespa 
currently has the 
following ownership 
structure:

* There is no government interest in the Company’s ownership. G4-EC1



AN ENTREPRENEURIAL 
HISTORY

1953
Industrial-scale production
Initiated large-scale production of cookies 
and pasta at the Fortaleza plant.

1960s
Decentralized distribution model
Focused on serving small and medium
retail business with a readily available stock.

1978
Launch of the
Richester brand

1980
Commissioned
the Fortaleza Plant
in Eusébio/CE

1992
Early vertical integration

Commissioned the Dias Branco Flour Mill
(Fortaleza/CE), a wheat milling and flour
production facility with part of the output 
produced for internal consumption and part 
produced for sale on the market.
The new facility marked the Company's entry 
into the wheat, flour and bran market.

2000
Expanded production in
the Northeast
Started operations at a new flour mill and 
pasta factory in Natal/RN.

2002
Continued
vertical integration
Started operations at the special margarine and shortening 
plant in Fortaleza/CE, with part of the output produced for 
internal consumption and part produced for sale on the 
market. The new facility marked the Company's entry into 
the margarine and shortening market.

2003
Expansion into South and
Southeast markets
through acquisitions
Commissioned a flour mill in Salvador/BA.
Acquired full ownership of Adria Alimentos do 
Brasil Ltda, a company based in São Paulo and 
the owner of the Adria, Basilar, Isabela and 
Zabet brands. Attained domestic market
leadership in the cookies and pasta sectors.

2005
Integrated
production model
Expanded Salvador (BA) site with a new cookie
and pasta manufacturing facility integrated with
the existing wheat mill, successfully achieving 
reduced logistics costs, vertical integration and 
product diversification. Commissioned a new
manufacturing site called Grande Moinho 
Tambaú (GMT) comprising a flour mill and pasta
manufacturing facility in Cabedelo (PB), 
including a distribution center.

2006
Listing
Made an Initial Public Offering on the Novo 
Mercado segment of BM&FBOVESPA,
with shares traded under the ticker "MDIA3".

2008
Building market leadership

Acquired Indústria de Alimentos Bomgosto Ltda, 
a company based in Jaboatão dos Guararapes 
(PE) and the owner of the Vitarella brand.

2011/12
Continued acquisitions
Acquired NPAP Alimentos S/A, a company based 
in Recife/PE and the owner of the brand Pilar. 
Acquired Estrela Group companies owning the
Estrela, Pelaggio and Salsito brands. The 
acquisition marked the Company's entry into the 
cake and snack market. Acquired Moinho Santa 
Lúcia, a company based in Aquiraz/CE producing 
flour, pasta and cookies under the Predilleto and 
Bonsabor brands.

2014
Entering new markets
Developed a modern packaged toast factory in
Eusébio/CE and entered the cake mix market.

2015
Continuação da expansão da 
verticalização do processo produtivo
Started operations at the Eusébio (CE) packaged 
toast factory and Rolândia/PR and Eusébio/CE 
flour mills, enhancing vertical integration in 
flour sourcing. Started construction of a new 
mill in Bento Gonçalves/RS.

2016
Restructuring of the sales team
Multibrand Management Project (PGM)
implemented, unifying the sales forces.
As a consequence the Company achieved
higher sales and the highest Ebitda ever in
absolute terms. The shares experienced their
greatest valuation.

1951
Small-scale production
Bread and pastry produced at 
Padaria Fortaleza.

1
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2015 HIGHLIGHTS

• World-Class Management (GCM): We have contin-
ued to improve the practices for being among 
the best companies in the world in excellence 
of industrial management. 

• Installation of a Cream Cracker line  
with the capacity of 2,500 tonnes/month.  

• Installation of a long pasta line  
with the capacity of 3,000 tonnes/month. 

• Installation of a sandwich cookies line  
with the capacity of 700 tonnes/month.

•  For the fifth consecutive year, M. Dias Bran-
co won the Delmiro Gouveia award for Largest 
Company in Ceará. In addition, it obtained third 
place in terms of social performance. 

• Vitarella and Richester are among the 50 top 
ten brands preferred by Brazilians, according 
to Kantar World panel: in the 4th edition of the 
local Brand Footprint ranking. 

• In its 2nd Edition, the annual sustainabili-
ty report of M. Dias Branco came 12th in the 
evaluation of ABRASCA (Brazilian Association of 
Publicly-Held Companies), scoring 90 points on 
a scale up to 100. 

•  The Troféu Carrinho de Ouro (Gold Cart Trophy) 
of AMASP - Maranhão Supermarket Associa-
tion, as a partner company of the supermarket 
chains, reinforcing the commitment to quality 
service, partnership and trust. 

•  M. Dias Branco was recognized by the Study 
- Highlight of Distribution conducted by the 
magazine Distribuição, which recognizes the 
continued trust between the company and 
small retail, a sales channel that for decades 
represents a strong partnership for the com-
pany. 

•  The Regional Accounting Council of Rio de 
Janeiro (CRC-RJ), in partnership with the Rio 
de Janeiro Federation of Industries (Firjan), 
of the Fecomercio system and support of the 
Federal University of Rio de Janeiro (UFRJ), 
awarded the Citizen Company certificate to M. 
Dias Branco. 

• The winner of the award Great Brands of the 
newspaper Jornal Diário de Nordeste with the 
brand Fortaleza in the categories "macaroni", 
in Fortaleza, and "Cream Crackers" in Fortaleza 
and Juazeiro do Norte. 

• Industrial Management System (SGI): The 
Eusébio/CE and Special Shortening and Mar-
garines plants in Fortaleza/CE are integrated 
into the Integrated Management System, thus 
standardizing internal activities through proce-
dures based on international standards, engaging 
all employees in an effort to achieve world class 
management (WCM). 

• Installation of a square sandwich cookies line  
with the capacity of 700 tonnes/month. 

• Adaptation of the packaging sector to the cookies 
line with the capacity of 350 tonnes/month.   
 

• The company received from the Government of 
the State of Ceará the Complete Company Certif-
icate, a Company that Includes, for the inclusion 
of professionals with disabilities on its staff. 

• Special mention on creation of jobs and eco-
nomic development in the State of Piauí in the 
category “Food Companies”, in the solemnity 
Greatest Companies 2016, organized by the State 
Secretary of Finance. 

• Won for the 5th time, the award for Largest and 
Best Suppliers of Brazilian Bread Making  which 
is in its 8th edition. In 2016, the edition of the 
award had the theme: Appreciation, Recogni-
tion and Integration. 

• Tribute for donations to the SESC Brazil Table 
Program, a national network of food banks 
against hunger and waste.

Increase in production capacity 
and operational efficiency

Institutional awards won

• Multibrand Management Project (PGM): 
Launched in February by the company’s com-
mercial area, it changed the market service 
matrix. The manager, previously focused on 
one brand, is now responsible for a portfolio of 
brands in a particular region. This change has 
increased the level of customer service and the 
business results. 

• Marketing and Export Committees: In May, in 
order to strengthen and expand the leadership 
of M. Dias Branco in the Brazilian market, and 
expand its operations into other countries, two 
new departments were created and began to 
strengthen the team.

Organizational restructuring 

• Executive Council: This board was created in 
2016 in order to facilitate and expedite the 
company’s decision making process. Each week, 
the President, Vice-Presidents and directors 
meet to discuss and submit topics that are ma-
terial to the business, ensuring the proximity 
and agility necessary to achieve results. 

• N5 Meeting:  All the leaders of a same plant be-
gan to meet systematically to monitor the results 
of the different areas and define joint actions for 
improvement. This initiative has established the 
fifth level of meetings in the company’s gover-
nance model, and is an important advance, in 
2016, as it favors integration of the managers in 
the various plants in Brazil.

The Governor of Ceará, jointly with the Dias Branco family, 
established the “Ivens Dias Branco medal”
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Vitarella
•  Top brands, sponsored by the newspaper 

Jornal Vanguard, of Caruaru: 1st place in the 
categories of Cream Cracker, Macaroni and 
sandwich cookies. 

• JC brand recall, of the newspaper Jornal do 
Commercio/PE: 1st place in the categories of 
Cream Cracker, Macaroni and sandwich cookies. 

• Marcas Que Eu Gosto (Brands I like), of Folha 
de Pernambuco: 1st place in the categories of 
Cream Cracker, Macaroni and sweet cookies. 

• Marcas Preferidas (Favorite brands), of Diário 
de Pernambuco: 1st place in the categories of 
Cream Cracker, Macaroni and Sweet cookies. 

• 9th place in the Brand Footprint ranking among 
the 50 brands most chosen by Brazilian con-
sumers. 

• Kantar Award: Brazil (1st place Savory Cookies); 
North and northeast (1st place in the Traditional 
Pasta, Dry Cookie and Sweet Cookie and Wafer 
categories). 

• Carrinho de Ouro (Gold cart) award 2016, 
promoted by the Pernambuco Supermarkets 
Association (APES), in the category Regional 
Supplier.

Isabela
• 1st place AGAS Cart. 

• 1st place in the Top of Mind Award Rio Grande 
do Sul for the 25th consecutive time. 

• 1st place in the Marcas de Quem Decide (Brands 
of those who decide) award - Jornal do Comér-
cio do Rio Grande do Sul for the 18th consecu-
tive time.

• Richester, a brand directed towards the young 
public, invested in the launch of two products: 
Animated Zoo Square sandwich cookies in 140 
g packets in flavors such as Swiss chocolate and 
strawberry, which represented a supplement to 
our portfolio.  In addition, it launched Cookies 
Amori in 40 g packets (4 cookies) and 60 g pack-
ets (6 cookies).  

• Vitarella launched the the new rib flavor for its 
noodles line. Margarine in 1 kg pots  has come 
onto the market to expand the portfolio, which 
already had 250 g and 500 g pots. The line of 
mini cookies introduced Crocks Mini. The big 
news, however, was the new Vita Cookies, in 40 
g and 60 g packets, in the flavors - Vanilla with 
chocolate chips and chocolate with chocolate 
chips. 

• Pilar invested in releases of sandwich cookies 
sandwich cookies Gufs Bem-Casado and Choc-
olate filled with Strawberry  (available in 60, 
130, and 390 g packets) and Pilar ring shaped, 
coconut flavor cookies. 

• Treloso presented the new  size for  
Recheados Clubinho: 140 gram packet. 

• Isabela launched the Wafer Lanchinho. Available 
in new flavors of strawberry and chocolate, in 

Richester
• 47th place in the Brand Footprint ranking 

among the 50 brands most chosen by Brazilian 
consumers. 

Fortaleza brand
• 1st place in the Grandes Marcas (Great Brands) 

award of the newspaper Diário do Nordeste, in 
Fortaleza in Cream Crackers and pasta and in 
Juazeiro do Norte in the Cream Cracker seg-
ment. 

Adria
• Among the 50 most valuable brands of Brazil.  

According to the ranking of the magazine Isto é 
Dinheiro, it occupies the 47th position. 

• Adria was voted favorite brand of pasta of the 
residents of the city of São Paulo by Datafolha, 
of the newspaper Folha de Sao Paulo. 

Finna
• 1st place in the Biggest and Best Suppliers award 

of 2016 of FestPan.

30 g packets. This novelty is directed towards 
child consumers and is ideal for taking in your 
lunch box, in your pocket or your backpack. 

• In cookies, the Adria brand made two releas-
es in 2016: Vanilla and Chocolate cookies, and 
square plugged sandwich cookies The first was 
created as a practical option to be consumed 
in a quick snack, at work, at school, at college, 
with friends or with the family, bringing the 
brand closer to the younger consumer. The 
square plugged cookie is an option for the 
infant public and is available in the flavors 
of Swiss chocolate and strawberry, in 140 g 
packets. 

• The Estrela brand has released a commemora-
tive stamp to celebrate its 70 years of history. 
With a much more attractive and modern ap-
pearance, the brand has undergone an update 
that also includes the packaging of the prod-
ucts. The new packaging preserves the essence 
of the brand’s performance over these seven 
decades, however, with a more modern garb 
and aligned with market trends.  

• Redesign of the website of the Fortaleza (www.
marcafortaleza.com.br), Estrela (www.mar-
caestrela.com.br) and Pelaggio (www.pelaggio.
com.br) brands

Awards won (by brands)

Product launches

Recognition  
of Mr. Ivens 
Dias Branco

• Ivens Dias Branco medal – Instituted by the Government of the 
State of Ceará, on August 05, through Decree 32,007, the honor 
will provide recognition to those that contribute towards the 
development of the State. 

• The Brazilian Air Force has granted its highest honorary 
distinction, the Aeronautical Order of Merit, in a posthumous 
tribute to Mr.  Ivens Dias Branco. 

• Mr. Ivens Dias Branco was honored in memory with a monument 
in Praça Portugal in Fortaleza.

The Isabela brand received the Marcas de Quem Decide 
(Brands of those who decide) award 
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• ISO 9001 - Quality Management Systems:  
plants in Eusébio/CE, Fortaleza/CE (GME), Ben-
to Gonçalves/RS, Jaboatão dos Guararapes/PE  
and Moinho Dias Branco/CE. 

• ISO 14001 - Environmental Management Systems: 
plants in Eusébio/CE and Jaboatão dos Guarar-
apes/PE. 

• ISO 22000 - Food Safety Management Systems: 
plants in Eusébio/CE and Fortaleza/CE (GME).

• Participation at Sial Paris, one of the main fairs 
in the world in the food and beverages sector, 
with a focus on innovation and trends, and one 
of the fairs responsible for boosting food mar-
ket transactions. 

• Presentation of the portfolio of the Richester 
brand during the 10th Yummex Middle East fair, 
a large international fair for sweets, cookies 
and snacks in the Middle East. The Richester 
stand was part of the export sector project 
Brazilian Biscuits, Pasta and Industrialized 
Breads & Cakes of the Brazilian Association of 
the Industrialized Cookies, Pastas and Breads 
& Cakes (ABIMAPI), in partnership with the 
Brazilian Agency for Promotion of Exports and 
Investments (Apex-Brazil).  

• Participation in two traditional international 
food fairs, Sweets & Snacks Expo, in Chicago, 
with the support of Abimapi, Apex-Brasil and 

Participation in fairs and events

Global 

Participation in fairs promotes the brands with business partners and clients 

Summer Fancy Food, in New York, with the sup-
port of the Brazilian Association of Exporters 
and Importers of Food and Beverages (ABBA). 

• Presence at the 20th Edition of the Americas 
Food & Beverage Show and Conference in Miami, 
Florida. 

• Participation in the 15th edition of the Interna-
tional Congress of Cookie and Pasta Industries 
and Industrialized Breads & Cake in Florianópo-
lis. 

• Participation in the  round of business with 
international buyers promoted for the partici-
pants in the Abimapi Export project, through 
the partnership with Apex-Brazil. 

• Presence in the 19th Fennopan – North-Northeast 
Baking and Food Service Fair.  

• The Sustainability Meetings, whose purpose is to 
disseminate the culture of sustainability in all 
areas of the company, strengthened the corpo-
rate citizenship in various plants throughout 
Brazil with actions directed towards arous-
ing care with the environment, support for 
neighboring communities, transparency with 
the society and the quest for the well-being of 
people.  

• The theme for Environment Week  was "Light 
your ideas, save power!” Employees had the 
opportunity to participate in Cine Environmen-
tal, a survey on the intranet, of Alô SGA (Hello 
EMS - Environmental Management System) 
and talks on conscientious consumption and 
new sustainable sources of energy, delivered by 
partner institutions, like Senai and Coelce. 

• In Health Week 2016, the theme "Live well, 
work better" was chosen in order to address 
the quality of life of the employees, focusing 
on posture guidelines, a healthy diet, regular 
physical exercise, prevention of hypertension, 
diabetes and obesity, relief from stress and 
fatigue, among others.

Internal events

• At work, we are surrounded by colleagues. They 
help us to complete projects, face challenges 
and even make the day to day more joyful. To 
thank and repay these people who are always 
present in our everyday lives, M. Dias Branco 
White held the Week of Recognition, with the 
theme “Your work deserves applause”. 

• The fun activities of the IMS (Industrial manage-
ment system), whose purpose was the dissem-
ination of important topics related to quality 
management systems, food security, environ-
ment and work safety in an entertaining way 
through word searches, riddles, crossword 
puzzles and alphabet soup, were applied in 
the plants: Eusébio/CE, Fortaleza/CE (GME), 
São Caetano do Sul/SP, Bento Gonçalves/RS, 
Maracanaú/CE and Cabedelo/PB. 

• The First IMS technical meeting took place in 
November in the Salvador/BA plant to promote 
the integration of professionals in the areas of 
quality management, food safety and the envi-
ronment.  For a week there were round tables 
on technical subjects, lectures with internal 

• OHSAS 18001:2007 - Occupational Health & 
Safety Management Systems: Jaboatão dos Guar-
arapes/PE plant. 

• FSSC 22000 - Food Safety Management System: 
Jaboatão dos Guararapes/PE plant. 

• HACCP - Hazard Analysis Critical Control Point: 
Salvador/BA plant
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and external professionals, presentation of the 
Plan for Corporate Quality , presentation of the 
Technical and Operations Director, field visits 
to the Cotegipe port, Aratu mill, manufacturing 
and Environmental Protection Area (APA) in 
Baía de Todos os Santos. 

• The Internal Week for Accident Prevention in the 
Workplace – SIPAT is a large event held in the 
area of work safety, whose theme in 2016 was 
"Safe Behavior:  Your example is worth more 
than a thousand words".  

• Preparation and application of the Survey on 
Perception of the Safety and Health Culture  in 
the Bento Gonçalves/RS and São Caetano do 
Sul/SP plants in order to verify the level of 
security awareness by employees. 

•  The purpose of the First Work Safety Meeting 
held in the Salvador/BA, Bento Gonçalves/RS 
and São Caetano do Sul/SP plants was to expose 
the advances of the Program for Excellence in 
Occupational Health and Safety of the Company 
in the plants. 

• Closing events of Teams for Improvement 
projects  of the TPM (Total productivity in 
manufacturing) pillars such as Specific Im-

Internal events (cont.)

provements, Planned Maintenance, Quality 
Maintenance, Education and Training, Occupa-
tional Safety and Health, 5S* were promoted 
in the plants in order to recognize the initia-
tives for a reduction in losses in the industrial 
process. In 2016, there were advances in the 
teams for Autonomous Management in the 
Eusébio/EC, Maracanaú/EC, Bento Gonçalves/
RS, Fortaleza, Jaboatão dos Guararapes/PE and 
Salvador/BA plants, where the main objective 
was the restoration of the basic conditions of 
the equipment and in the training of operators 
in the production lines and industrial process-
es. To support the continuity begun in 2014 in 
the implementation of the TPM methodology 
and its pillars of the methodology, the course 
for TPM Internal Facilitator was applied in the 
plants. 

• Throughout the year, in various plants, actions 
are promoted with the employees on commem-
orative dates such as Easter, Father’s Day, Labor 
Day, Women’s Day, among others.  The intent is 
to pay tribute to our professionals and provide 
a good work environment.

Internal events stimulate the employees’ development and integration 

* The 5S Methodology includes: sense of usage, sense of organization, 
sense of cleanliness, sense of health and sense of self-discipline.



26 | Annual Report 2016 Annual Report 2016 | 27

COMPANY OVERVIEW M. DIAS BRANCOG4-3,4,5,6,7,8 and 9 PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

PERFORMANCE  
INDICATORS

Product Lines
Rev, 
Net Weight

Price 
Average

Rev, 
Net Weight

Price 
Average

Rev, 
Net Weight

Price 
Average

2016

Cookies

Pasta

Flour and Bran

Margarine and Shortening

Other Product Lines**

TOTAL

Net sales revenue by product line *

2,745.2
1,205.0
1,002.5
260.4 
115.0

5,328.1

521.8
358.1
827.7
70.0
12.9

1790.5

5.26 
3.36 
1.21 
3.72
8.91
2.98

2015

2,390.9
1,043.7
887.0
220.2
80.4

4,622.2

503.8
340.2
769.3
65.9
7.9

1,687.1

4.75
3.07
1.15
3.34

10.18
2.74

Changes

14.8%
15.5%
13.0%
18.3%
43.0%
15.3%

3.6%
5.3%
7.6%
6.2%

63.3%
6.1%

10.7%
9.4%
5.2%

11.4%
-12.5%
8.8%

*Net Revenue in R$ million; weight (net of returned goods) in thousands of metric tons; and average net price in R$/Kg.
**Cakes. Snacks. Cake Mix and Packaged Toast

603,9 784,4 

2015 2016

Net Income (R$ million)

29,9%

686,6 914,4

2015 2016

Ebitda (R$ Million)

33,9%

2016 %RL 2015 %RL

Selling

Administrative and general expenses

Management fees

Tax

Depreciation and amortization

Other operating exp./(rev)

TOTAL

Operating expenses

971.5
166.8

11.8
24.2
24.5
86.3

1,285.1

18.2%
3.1%
0.2%
0.5%
0.5%
1.6%

24.1%

888.6
146.0

11.4
17.8
20.8
-9.4

1,075.2

19.2%
3.2%
0.2%
0.4%
0.5%

-0.2%
23.3%

AH% AH - %RL

9.3%
14.2%

3.5%
36.0%
17.8%

n/a
19.5%

-1 p.p
-0.1 p.p

0 p.p
0.1 p.p

0 p.p
1.8 p.p
0.8 p.p

Operating Expenses
(R$ millions)

2016 2015

Short Term

Long Term

Total Indebtedness
(-) Cash

(-) Short-Term Financial Investments

(-) Long-Term Financial Investments

(=) Net Debt
Equity

Capitalization

Debt

348.0
295.3
643.3

(860.1)
(0.2)

(10.3)
(227.3)
4,333.6

4,976.9

392.1
363.1
755.2

(348.8)
(6.1)
(4.1)

396.2
3,716.9

4,472.1

-11.2%
-18.7%
-14.8%
146.6%
-96.7%
151.2%

-157.4%
16.6%
11.3%

Change
Capitalization
(in R$ millions)

40.0%

30.0%

20.0%

10.0%

0.0%
2014

30.6%

2015

31.5%

2016

32.4%

% sales with added nutrients out of total
revenue  FPSD-FP7

80.0%

60.0%

40.0%

20.0%

0.0%

65.2%

2014 2015

59.9%

2016

61.9%

Recycling rate

25.0%

20.0%

15.0%

10%

5.0%

0.0%
2014

8.8%

2015

16.4%

2016

19.9%

Water reuse rate G4-EN10

150

100

50

0

102.63

2014 2015

138.95 

2016

133.04

Energy intensity
(kWh/tonnes of product)G4-EN5

50

40

30

20

10

0

36.68

2014 2015

42.70

2016

44.42

Average number of hours
of training per employee G4-LA9
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The publication of an 
integrated report consolidates 
the company’s vision of 
sustainable growth and 
transparency, to provide 
relevant information for the 
business to all stakeholders.

For the first time the company is publishing its An-
nual Report integrated with the Management Re-
port. This Integrated Report brings the consolidat-
ed economic and financial information for the year 
2016, and the results of the social and environmen-
tal initiatives that are increasingly consolidated in 
the corporate practices of M. Dias Branco.

Our aim is to demonstrate to our stakeholders 
the "integrated thinking" advocated by the Inter-
national Integrated Reporting Council (IIRC) to 
drive sustainable business growth, creating val-
ue for shareholders, employees, the government 
and society in general. This edition of the Report 
is the third in which we are publishing socio-envi-
ronmental information and embraces all business 
units. 

This report has been prepared in accordance with 
the Core Option under Global Reporting Initiative 
(GRI) G4 Reporting Guidelines, with independent 
assurance provided for certain disclosures com-

prising the Company’s management model. Assur-
ance has been provided by specialist consultants as 
described in Assurance Letter. G4-32

Financial disclosures conform to the International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) issued by the 
International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) 
and the interpretations issued by the Internation-
al Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee 
(IFRIC), as adopted in Brazil by the Technical Pro-
nouncements Committee (CPC) through Techni-
cal Pronouncements Committee Interpretations 
(ICPC) and Guidelines (OCPC) approved by the Bra-
zilian Securities Commission (CVM).

Other sources of material information supporting 
socio-environmental disclosures include technical 
standards (ISO 9001, ISO 14001, FSSC 22000, OHSAS 
18001 and ISO 22000), Brazilian regulations on la-
bor relations and internal systems including Man-
agement by Goals (MBG), Matrix Budgeting, Stra-
tegic Management and World-Class Management.
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Stakeholders

Channels Investors Leadership Employees Civil Society
Govern-

ment
Clients Suppliers

Climate Survey      

SAC - Customer Service      

Ethics Channel    

Social Investment     

Self-Assessment  
Questionnaires

      

Websites

Interview/Meeting

FOOD
SECTOR

POPULATION AND
INCOME GROWTH

CLIMATE
CHANGE

Changes in agricultural land
uses and greater volatility in 

agricultural commodities prices.

An estimated population of 9 
billion in 2050 with higher 
average purchasing power.

CHANGING
DEMAND PATTERNS
Higher demand
and diversification into more
elaborate food products
(and resource intensive).

COMPETITION FOR
NATURAL RESOURCES

Declining farm area per capita. Higher energy
price volatility and investments in renewable

energies. Water scarcity.

CHANGING
CONSUMER VALUES
Growing consumer awareness of social 
and environmental issues surrounding 
manufacturing, the value chain and 
products. Growing concern over food 
safety, healthiness and functionality.

GREATER CORPORATE
ACCOUNTABILITY
A commitment to food security, reducing hunger and
poverty, and environmental conservation.
Increasingly stringent control of water and
energy consumption and emissions and waste.
Social and environmental issues across the value chain.

INCREASING 
GOVERNMENT

INTERVENTION
Stricter social and environmental

legislation and standards. 
Privately owned land in foreign 

countries. Inclusion of small 
farmers in the broader market and 

incentives for environmentally 
friendly farming practices.

Global   
food  
industry  
trends

SUSTAINABILITY STRATEGY

The priority sustainability issues was established 
in 2014 through an assessment of global trends 
affecting the food industry, as well as a sector and 
market-specific assessment. These assessments 
and studies provided comprehensive insights into 
the vision and aspirations of multilateral organi-
zations and regulators, governments, academia 

• Nutrition and healthiness
• Packaging;
• Solid waste, water and energy
• Energy and emissions
• Communities & social investment
• Sustainability culture.
• Occupational health and safety
• Inputs

G4-18 TO 21, 24 TO 26

Relationship channels

Each of these macro trends has one or more strate-
gic topics associated with sustainability, which puts 
the company in the direction of sustainable growth 
over time.  These topics associate the interests of 
the business and shareholders with the interests of 
society. In the coming years the company is eval-
uating consulting key stakeholders to hear their 
views on the strategic topics.

The prioritized strategic topics, presented in de-
tail on pages 66 to 125, are in line with the Sustain-
able Development Objectives established by the 
UN in 2015. There are eight topics that underpin 
the sustainability agenda of M. Dias Branco:

In addition to the studies and discussions that are 
permanently updated and monitored, the Rela-
tionship Channels described in the table below 
provide additional support in identifying stake-
holders' needs as they relate to the impacts from 
our operations.

The information compiled by these channels has 
been correlated with our Strategic Sustainability 
Topics so they can be managed by the relevant de-
partments. For the purposes of this report, these 
channels relate directly to the Social Investment, 
Communities, Transparency and Dialog, Sustain-
ability Culture, Occupational Health & Safety, de-
scribed in detail in Social and Environmental Per-
formance. 

In this chapter we also describe the various initiatives 
that contribute to cost-cutting, saving natural resourc-
es, employee satisfaction, improving living standards 
in the workplace and corporate citizenship. 

We believe this is how we can build a sustainability 
culture which over time will increasingly integrate 
social, environmental and government issues into 
the decision taking process, focusing on creating 
value in the short, mid and long terms. 

and non-governmental organizations in Brazil 
and around the world. M Dias Branco’s sustain-
ability concept process was built with the partici-
pation of a steering and management committee 
with specialist advisory support, and covered the 
following global food industry trends:
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Strategic Topic
Why it is important  
to us and stakeholders Courses of Action Expectations for 2021

Nutrition and Healthiness
In addition to standardized food quality that is appropriate 
for consumption, food and nutritional security has come to 
be understood as a household's physical, social and economic 
access to sufficient, safe and nutritious food for all members. A 
recent increase in prevalence of diseases related to obesity and 
the costs of treatment have made this a matter of public health. 
The resulting changes in consumer values and awareness of the 
relationship between obesity and an unhealthy diet has led to 
growing concern about eating healthy and functional foods.

• A product range with a more nutritious profile and 
increased use of natural ingredients

• Lower levels of sugar, sodium and trans fats.

• Increase the share of products with more nutri-
tious properties in our product offering.

• Eliminate trans fats across our product range.

Packaging

Global guidelines for the consumer goods and packaging 
industries have encouraged initiatives that focus on reducing 
packaging weight, increasing recycled content and increasing 
post-consumer packaging recycling rates. Brazil's National 
Solid Waste Policy (PNRS) establishes that the responsibility 
for the waste generated throughout a product’s life-cycle is to 
be shared among consumers, manufacturers, distributors and 
importers. While a mandatory requirement, this also creates 
opportunities to establish new recycling businesses generating 
income for informal waste collectors.

• Renewable and sustainable materials
• Lower plastic consumption
• Sustainable design and product life-cycle analysis.

• Replace raffia and polyethylene flour packaging 
with FSC1, certified paper to meet increasing 
consumer demand;

• Introduce bundling films with 100% recycled 
materials for the pasta lines.

• Reduce plastic consumption based on an annual 
target exceeding 1.2% of total consumption of 
flexible film

• Maintain in excess of 80% the volume of corru-
gated cardboard and cardboard coming from 
material acquired with forest certification FSC*.

Solid Waste, Wastewater, Wa-
ter, Energy and Emissions

Eco-efficiency involves initiatives and investments in 
production systems, products and services to reduce 
environmental impacts while generating an economic 
return. These initiatives aim to reduce consumption of raw 
materials and inputs such as water and electricity, while also 
reducing greenhouse gas emissions and waste throughout the 
organization. Eco-efficiency initiatives can provide financial 
returns through the savings generated by the efficient use of 
natural resources and can also mitigate potential compliance 
risks. With the advent of Brazil's National Solid Waste Policy, 
post-consumer reverse logistics for packaging has become 
mandatory and also involves external stakeholders.

• Reduce waste output from processes.
• Proper process waste disposal
• Post-consumer reverse logistics for packaging.
• Incremental reduction of water and energy consumption
• Water recycling
• Competitive price of electricity and guaranteed supply
• Energy efficiency;
• Lower fossil fuel intensity

• Effectively reduce waste streams across all plants.
• Implement water recycling at plants with waste-

water treatment plants.
• Incrementally reduce water and energy con-

sumption compared with previous years.

* The FSC - Forest Stewardship Council is a nongovernment organization that helps promote respon-
sible forest management worldwide.
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Social Investment &  
Communities

Our engagement with society ranges from narrowly defined 
issues affecting communities surrounding our operations to 
broader issues affecting society as a whole. Developing positive 
relations with communities surrounding our operations and 
retail distribution network can contribute to minimizing the 
potential negative impacts on neighboring and more sensitive 
communities. From a broader perspective, society has called upon 
companies to contribute more effectively on issues related to 
their business activities which can be addressed through social 
investments and support for socially important causes.

• Strategic allocation of social investment.
• Engagement and relationship with communities.

• Maintain the social investment at all manufacturing 
plants.

• Apply the methodology for assessing the impact 
of social investment at all manufacturing plants 
through 2021.

Transparency and Engagement
(Development of people, health 
and safety and the sustainability 

culture)

Quality of life at the workplace (through occupational health and 
safety programs) and personal and professional development are 
two critical success factors for any organization. The quality of 
human capital must therefore be a focus area for any company 
today.
Consumers are increasingly aware of the importance of their 
purchasing decisions. They are demanding that the organizations 
providing their products and services be socially and 
environmentally responsible. Companies in the food industry, 
in particular, are increasingly expected to be ethical and 
transparent, especially in providing clear and accurate labeling 
information. Brazil's legislation has also become increasingly 
stringent in this regard.

• Development and recognition of human capital. 
• Occupational health and safety
• Sustainability culture.
• Relations with customers and consumers.

• Including sustainability content in all Corporate 
University training programs.

• Ensuring that employees have a positive 
perception* of the Company in terms of its 
commitment to sustainability, abiding by 
sustainability principles in their work and voluntary 
activities.

• An injury rate not exceeding 0.5.
• Occupational Safety management system based on 

the Positive Program, implemented at all plants.

Inputs
Increasing consumer concern over environmental issues and 
potential joint liability and reputation damage arising from 
suppliers' practices can create risks for businesses. These 
concerns also create opportunities for developing initiatives for 
the benefit of the business, such as sourcing from local small-scale 
farmers or participation in local and regional voluntary initiatives 
in partnership with other companies and nongovernment 
organizations.
Climate change or policy could potentially affect agricultural 
land uses and the supply of essential commodities for the food 
industry, resulting in volatility in commodities prices. In addition, 
competition with other crops could create instability in the supply 
of basic agricultural products for the food industry.

• Socio-environmental assessment of suppliers/
commodities

• Systematic evaluations of climate changes/policies in 
consumable production areas.

• Qualify and monitor all suppliers having an 
impact on quality, environmental, food safety and 
occupational safety issues, as well as companies 
having no impact but which hare critical to the 
business

*Employee perceptions will be measured 

Strategic Topic
Why it is important  
to us and stakeholders Courses of Action Expectations for 2021
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OVERVIEW OF  
OUR MARKETS  

Wheat storage silos at the mill in Eusébio

Wheat industry* 
The characteristics of this market directly influ-
ence the company’s results since wheat is the main 
raw material used in flour mills and in the manu-
facture of its products, such as cookies, pastas and 
cakes. 

According to the United States Department of Agri-
culture (USDA), the 2016/17 harvest will be marked 
by a new record in world production, with 748 mil-

lion metric tons (MTM), an increase of 2% over the 
record obtained in 2015/16. 

The fourth consecutive production record is main-
ly due to Russia, with a harvest of 72.5 MTM, a 19% 
increase in relation to the 2015/16 harvest and Ar-
gentina which reappears as one of the large world 
producers, with a harvest of 15.0 MTM, 33% high-
er than the 2015/2016 harvest and 24% above the 5 

year average. Wheat production in the USA 
was estimated at 62.9 MTM, 12% more than 
the previous year.

World consumption, forecast at 740 MTM, 
also marks its fourth consecutive high, 4% 
more than in 2015/16, mainly due to the 
growth in consumption in India, with an 
increase of 8.3 MTM, and in China, with an 
increase of 6 MTM in comparison with the 
2015/16 harvest.

Global trade has also been driven to a new 
record, mainly due to an increased demand 
for imports from various Asian countries 
and Brazil. The world wheat trade is fore-
cast at 178 MTM, 11% above the average 
of the last 5 years. The United States has 
presented a 26% increase of 27.5 MTM in its 
exports compared with 2015/16. Australian 
exports are estimated at 23.5 MTM, 49% 
higher than the previous year. 

Worldwide closing stocks also increased to 
a new record of 249 MTM, an increase of 3% 

 More detailed information about the Company’s markets can be 
seen in the 2016 Reference Form at http://ri.mdiasbranco.com.br 

178 
MTM

compared to 2015/16.  China’s stocks are 
estimated at 111 MTM, representing 45% 
of the worldwide closing stocks, 60% high-
er than the 5 year average.  Russian stocks 
are around 11 MTM, an amount 98% high-
er than 2015/16. The USA has increased 
its stocks by 17%, to 31 MTM, the highest 
number since 1987/88.
Wheat production in Brazil remains low 
compared with the world's primary pro-
ducers, but has improved considerably 
over recent years. Climate conditions un-
favorable to winter crops throughout most 
of Brazil combined with soil properties 
affect Brazil's wheat crops and/or produc-
tion costs. Actions to stimulate research 
are being carried out in Brazil, in order to 
find varieties better adapted to Brazilian 
conditions in order to produce the types 
of grain required for the production of 
products that meet the requirements of in-
creasingly demanding consumers.

Despite the State’s efforts to guarantee 
producers’ income, many suppliers, and 
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* Source of this session: USWA – United States Wheat Department – Supply & Demand, Jan 2017; USDA – United States Department of 
Agriculture – Wheat – World Market and Trade, Jan 2017; Abitrigo – Home Page; Conab – Acompanhamento do safra Brasileira de Grãos 
- Jan 2017; Do grão ao pão - Farinha de Trigo: história da moagem no Brasil – Abitirgo.
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particularly Argentina, are able to ship their 
wheat at lower costs and with higher quality stan-
dards than Brazil.

According to Conab (National Council of Supply), 
there will be record wheat production in Brazil 
for 2016/17 of MTM 6.7, an increase of 21.5% com-
pared to the 5.5 MTM of the 2015/2016 harvest. 
While around 221 million hectares of wheat will be 
planted in the world, in Brazil this area will be 2.12 
million hectares, less than 1% of the world’s total 
area.

As a result of the economic conditions encoun-
tered in Brazil, with a decrease in the population's 
consumption in the 2015/2016 harvest and a situa-
tion of lower wheat production, adversely affected 
by quality problems, due to the unfavorable climat-
ic conditions , mainly in the State of Rio Grande do 
Sul, where the industry's milling was affected, re-
tracting 2.9% to 10.0 MTM.

The start of the recovery of industrial milling in Bra-
zil is expected for the 2016/2017 harvest and a 4% 
increase to 10.4 MTM is estimated in comparison 

with the previous year. These prospects stem from 
a positive scenario for consumption, good internal 
availability of the product and its good quality. 

In 2016/2017, Brazil will be among the five largest 
importers in the world with a volume of around 7.3 
MTM, and Argentina will probably be the largest 
supplier of the imported raw material. The United 
States, Paraguay, Uruguay and Canada also figure 
in the list of countries.

There will be an ample offer of wheat in this har-
vest in Mercosur with Argentina returning to figure 
as an important producer. Argentina’s production 
should grow to 15.0 MTM, a 33% increase in rela-
tion to the previous harvest, supplying the market, 
mainly Brazil with good quality wheat. Accordingly, 
Argentine will have a surplus of 9 MTM, thus de-
manding continuity of its good performance as an 
exporter.

Wheat flour, one of the most consumed foods on 
the planet, is a source of a considerable part of 
our daily needs of carbohydrates, protein, vita-
mins and iron.

800

750

700

650

600

550

500
06/07 07/08 08/09 09/10 10/11 11/12 12/13 13/14 14/15 15/16 16/17

Global Wheat Production and Consumption (in MTM)

735

712
740

748

Production Consumption

M
T

M

0
1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9

10
11
12
13

Egypt Indonesia Algeria Brazil EU Japan Bangladesh Morocco Philippines Vietnam

Largest importers of wheat in the world (in MTM)

16/17 15/16
Sources: CONAB and USDA

Domestic 
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sumption

Harvest 
(MTM)

Initial 
Inven-

tory (01 
August)

Produc-
tion Imports Supply Exports

Industrial 
Milling Seeds Total

Final In-
ventory 
(July 31)

2011/2012 2,201.6 5,788.6 6,011.8 14,002.0 1,901.0 9,820.0 324.9 10,144.9 1,956.1

2012/2013 1,956.1 4,379.5 7,010.2 13,345.8 1,683.9 9,850.0 284.3 10,134.3 1,527.6

2013/2014 1,527.6 5,527.8 6,642.4 13,697.8 47.4 11,050.0 331.5 11,381.5 2,268.9

2014/2015 2,268.9 5,971.1 5,328.8 13,568.8 1,680.5 10,300.0 413.7 10,713.7 1,174.6

2015/2016 1,174.6 5,534.9 5,517.6 12,227.1 1,050.5 10,000.0 367.3 10,367.3 809.3

2016/2017 809.3 6,726.8 5,950.0 13,486.1 700.0 10,400.0 317.3 10,717.3 2,068.8
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The pasta industry
 
Brazil plays a prominent role in the global are-
na, occupying the position of third largest pasta 
producer, behind only Italy and the United States, 
with an annual volume of more than 1 million 
tonnes.  According to the Brazilian Association 
of Cookies, Pasta, Industrialized Bread and Cake 
Industries (ABIMAPI), food pasta sales in Brazil 
amounted to 889 thousand tonnes in 2015*. 

ABIMAPI also stated that the factor which makes 
higher expansion of national consumption levels 
difficult is that the Brazilian people see pasta as a 
complement and not a main dish. Pasta consump-
tion per capita in Brazil in 2015 was 4.35 kg/year as 
per the table below.
In Brazil, dry pasta is almost totally produced from 
soft wheat and is segmented into: semolina pasta 

with egg, semolina pasta, general purpose pasta 
and home-made pasta. There is also production of 
durum wheat pasta, using a raw material which is 
imported and represents 3.4% of the total volume 
sold.

Dry pasta currently has the highest representative-
ness in the pasta sector, with 83.7% of the volume 
of sales for the whole pasta category in 2015, ac-
cording to AC Nielsen data. Considering data for 
2015, the sale of dry pasta was subdivided into: (i) 
44.5% semolina without eggs; (ii) 31.3% semolina 
with eggs; (iii) 18.8% common; (iv) 3.4% durum 
wheat and (v) 2.0% homemade.

According to data from Nielsen and ABIMAPI, the 
types of pasta which experienced the highest 

growth between 2010 and 2015 are instant noo-
dles and fresh pasta, with a growth of 47.2% and 
42.5% respectively in sales value. Increased con-
sumption and sales were the result of the practical-
ity in preparing a meal, attracting children, young 
people and adults.

Therefore, companies have increased investments 
in developing new ready-meal products, such as 
selling instant noodles with a sachet of sauce and 
pre-cooked lasagnas. Another determining factor 
for the expansion of new investments in producing 
instant noodles is profitability. According to ABI-
MAPI and AC Nielsen, in the retail trade, one kilo 
of common dry pasta cost an average of R$ 4.97 in 
2015 and instant approximately R$ 13.06 per kilo.

According to AC Nielsen data from 2015, the south-
east region is responsible for the consumption of 
43.8% of the pasta in the country, the northeast 
region for 28.8%, the south for 19.2%, midwest for 
6.9% and north for 1.3%.
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Country Population Volume (2015*) Per Capita

1st Italy 59.8 1,562.00 26.12

2nd Argentina 43.85 421.8 9.62

3rd France 64.67 607.8 9.4

4th Germany 80.68 741.7 9.19

5th Iran 80.04 655.5 8.19

6th Russia 143.44 1,019.80 7.11

7th Turkey 79.62 545.2 6.85

8th Egypt 93.39 485.8 5.2

9th Brazil 204.45 889 4.35

10th USA 324.12 1,143.80 3.53

Per capita consumption of pasta (kg/year)

Source:  http://www.abimapi.com.br/estatistica-massas.php 

M Dias Branco expanded its leadership in Brazil’s pasta market.

*Consolidated information had not been published for 2016 by the publication of this report
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The cookie industry
 

Cookies are segmented into sandwich, wa-
ter and salted crackers, wafers, Maria and 
Maisena (plain, sweet cookies), dry and 
sweet, buttery, savory, ring shaped and 
others. Brazil occupies 4th position as the 
largest world cookies seller, with a record 
of 1.732 million tonnes sold in 2015, ac-
cording to data from ABIMAPI and Euro-
monitor. 

According to AC Nielsen, the Southeast 
accounted for the largest volume of cook-
ie sales in Brazil in 2015, explained by the 
Southeast's larger per-capita income and 
the fact that cookie consumption is strong-
ly influenced by households’ purchasing 
power. The sector exported 39,000 tonnes 
to more than 80 countries in 2015, with the 
10 largest destinations representing 88.0% 
of international sales.

In per capita consumption, Brazil currently 
consumes approximately 6 kg/per capita 
per year, while countries such as Argentina 
and the United Kingdom consume more 
than 10 kg per inhabitant per year. The table 
opposite shows the latest figures disclosed 
for per capital consumption of cookies:

The population’s upward mobility is en-
couraging the consumption of cookies, 
which also have a higher added value, such 
as sandwich and toppings. Cookies which 
are considered healthy are also presenting 
expressive growth rates, demonstrating an 
opportunity to expand production.

AC Nielsen data for 2015 shows that the 
south-east region accounts for 45.5% of 
cookie consumption in Brazil, the north-
east region for 30.3%, the south for 15.1%, 
the Central Western region for 7.9% and the 
North for 1.2%.
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        Country Population
Volume 
(2015*)

Per Capita

1st Argentina 43.85 531.5 12.12

2nd UK 65.11 659.5 10.13

3rd Italy 59.8 478.4 8

4th USA 324.12 2,385.90 7.36

5th Brazil 204.45 1,228.20 6.01

6th Russia 143.44 855.1 5.96

7th Germany 80.68 406.2 5.03

8th Mexico 128.63 601.4 4.68

9th China 1,382.32 3,497.60 2.53

10th India 1,326.80 1,948.00 1.47

Per capita consumption of cookies (kg/year)

Source:  http://www.abimapi.com.br/estatistica-biscoitos.php

BUSINESS MODEL

An important feature of the company, with a ma-
terial effect on its financial situation, lies in the fact 
that there is vertical integration of the production 
process. The main inputs of its products, wheat 
flour and vegetable fats, are produced by the 
company itself. This integrated production chain 
provides conditions for better production planning, 
better product quality, better consumption efficien-
cy of the main inputs, more competitive prices for 
products and better control of production costs.

In 2016, the company manufactured 93% of all the 
wheat flour and 88.7% of all the shortening used 
in its production process (83.4% and 92.1% respec-
tively in 2015), increasing the verticalization ratio 
compared to the previous year.

Another key differentiator of M. Dias Branco is the 
geographical coverage of the production and dis-
tribution plants, present in the South, Southeast, 
North, Northeast and Midwest regions, enabling it 
to operate in all regions of the country. The wide 

production and logistics network allows flexibility 
in meeting the demands of the different markets, at 
competitive costs. G4-12

Another important aspect for the company’s fi-
nancial performance lies in the fact that, for over 
60 years, it has developed and consolidated a 
dispersed distribution model , which, without ad-
versely affecting personalized service to large cli-
ents, is structured to cater mainly to micro, small 
and medium retailers with a prompt delivery and 
presale system with weekly visits to its clients. G4-9

The efforts for building solid business relationships 
with customers allied with the numerical distribu-
tion of the client base and with the strong regional 
brands permit making credit sales to clients with a 
negligible level of default of just 1.21% in the year.

The main raw materials, acquired on the domestic 
and international market, used for the production 
of the Company’s products are: wheat, palm oil, soy-

M. Dias Branco Value Chain
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Advertising material for launching the Treloso square sandwich 
cookie

North and Northeast brands

The Fortaleza brand concentrated part of the work 
on the packaged toast line, a new product segment 
launched in 2015. With the slogan "Light, Crispy 
and Toasted just like all family chat should be", 
the brand launched a campaign to boost consump-
tion of the product. The campaign focused on the 
North and Northeast regions and featured a film 
on open TV, OOH (out-of-home media), radio, 
plus POS actions, with exclusive materials for the 
category of packaged toast, tasting and handing 

BRANDS AND CAMPAIGNS

In 2016, marketing and public relations 
activities were carried out at the points 
of sale (POS) which reinforced consumer 
loyalty even more.  

out of promotional gifts. The campaign was also 
enhanced through vignettes in the capitals of the 
States of the Northeast, except Pernambuco. An-
other action that generated good visibility was the 
sponsorship of the New Year’s Eve festivities in the 
city of Fortaleza, one of the biggest end of year cel-
ebrations in the Brazil. The event received more 
than a million people who watched more than 15 
minutes of fireworks.

bean oil, sugar, cocoa and starch, as well as plastic 
and paper/cardboard packaging, electricity and 
water. These inputs are always managed consider-
ing the positive and negative impacts on the natu-
ral capital, as presented in the Chapter “Socio-envi-
ronmental Performance”. G4-12

M. Dias Branco has a team of committed, trained 
employees, in addition to experienced executives 
aligned with the interests of its shareholders and 
other stakeholders. Programs for development 
and involvement of teams are intensified every 
year, in order to recognize and strengthen our hu-
man capital.

Transparency in relations also favors the compa-
ny’s share capital, through actions in communi-
ties in the neighborhood of the plants, the man-
agement of relationship channels such as the 
customer service system and ethics channel, in 
addition to participation in sectoral entities, such 
as the Brazilian Food Industry Association (ABIA) 
and the Brazilian Association of the Industrial 
Cookies, Pasta, Bread & Cake Industry (ABIMAPI) 
and Brazilian Wheat Industry Association (ABITRI-
GO), for example.

Through research, development and innovation 
(RD&I), as well as modern management practices, 
the company seeks to maximize market opportu-
nities and strengthen collaboration and efficien-
cy in its relationships with suppliers, employees, 
shareholders and consumers.

The Company has chosen to adopt regionally 
strong brands, attending the most diverse con-
sumer profile, from all social classes, thus trading 
in all the regions of Brazil.

The production of cookies includes salted, sand-
wich, buttered, coated, sugared, vanilla and corn 
flour cookies, tartlets, rusks, donuts, crackers, 

and wafers and cookies. With respect to pasta the 
company has interests in common semolina, sem-
olina and egg noodles, grano duro, lasagna and 
instant noodles. 

The main cookie and pasta brands are: Vitarella, 
Fortaleza, Richester, Treloso, Pilar, Estrela, Adria, Is-
abela, Zabet, Basilar and Bonsabor.

The production of wheat flour and bran covers 
domestic and industrial types of flour and bran of 
the thick type, bran and reground bran. The main 
brands of flour are Medalha de Ouro, for the baking 
industry, and Finna, for the end consumer.

Margarine production includes domestic and in-
dustrial margarines and shortening for various 
applications, such as deep frying, ice-cream, cov-
erings, fillings and sprays. The main domestic mar-
garine brands are Puro Sabor and Adorita. Medal-
ha de Ouro stands out as the industrial margarine 
brand intended for food service.

Cakes and cake mixes complete the Company’s 
portfolio. With respect to cakes, the company has 
a line for children in the Pelaggio and Richester 
brands and a family line in the Pelaggio brand, with 
unfilled products and products that have fillings.
In snacks, it produces the traditional and Power 
types. In addition to being differentiated in terms 
of net weight, Corn Power snacks are corn prod-
ucts with low salt and fat content.

In the packaged toast line four flavors were 
launched by the Fortaleza and Vitarella (North/
Northeast), Adria (Southeast) and Isabella (South) 
brands: Traditional, Integral, Multi-grain and Light.
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Richester, a brand directed towards to the young 
public, invested in the launch of two products: 
Animated Zoo Square Sandwich cookies and Amori 
cookies. Animated Zoo Square cookies are available 
in 140 g packets in flavors such as Swiss chocolate 
and strawberry. They have a tasty milk crust and 
there are many nutrients in the formula, such as 
iron, zinc and vitamins B , B1, B2, B6 and PP. 

The Amori cookie was launched as a practical and 
tasty option for the day to day of the young public, 
which identifies with the brand. The Amori line al-
ready had options for mini cookies. To reinforce the 
launch, the brand invested in POS materials.

Within the children’s universe, Richester has con-
ducted two actions, one at Easter and the other on 
children’s day, with Animated Zoo cookies, where 
the consumer gained promotional gifts when buy-
ing the products. The actions took place in the main 
POVs in the States of the Northeast. The action for 
children’s day also included creating a promotional 
box for the date, with Chocowaffer.

Another action that deserves mention for Rich-
ester was the reinforcement plan for Amori sand-
wich cookies during the 2nd half. The aim was to in-

crease sales volumes compared to the first half for 
the cookies of the line and to restore the strength 
of the brand at the POS. There were activities for 
buying and winning and merchandising materials 
were distributed, there were indoor media (POS), 
folders, bonus points and an incentive campaign 
for the Distributor. The action achieved the expect-
ed results.

The margarine brands of Amorela and Puro Sabor 
focused on maintaining the visibility of the brand 
with consumers, with actions in social networks 
and the publishing of recipes in the printed media 
and online via a public relations agency.

The Finna brand had two big moments in 2016: an 
open marketing campaign and gaining the lead-
ership in the market share of wheat flours in the 
Northeast. The brand created its first 360o cam-
paign, using the slogan “Finna and you”, integrat-
ing a film for open TV, a radio spot, web activa-
tions and special materials for POS. To generate 
experience, the brand invested in an approach us-
ing tastings and gifts in promotional buy and win 
packs. Linked to the integrated communication 
campaign, the brand has renewed the color code 
of its visual identity. 

The Finna brand campaign boosts sales and achieves the lead in the Northeast

Advertising material  
for launching 
the square animated zoo 
sandwich cookie 

Estrela also sponsored regional festivities, such 
as São João de Maracanaú (CE) and Expocrato 
(CE), with tastings, gifts and activations, with an 
impact on more than 500,000 people. Once again, 
the purpose was to strengthen brand loyalty and 
strengthen ties with consumers. Throughout the 
year, POS actions were carried out, with tastings, 
buying and winning and exclusive Estrela promo-
tional materials.

Salsitos combined online and offline actions to en-
courage the public to choose the names of their 
characters. As a result, it generated greater inter-
action among fans of the brand’s fan page. Delici-
tos carried out activities in the POS of the buy and 
win type. Upon purchasing six Delicitos, consum-
ers received a personalized mug.  

The two brands have also undergone visual reno-
vation and will present the new packaging in 2017. 
New strategies have also been defined for the 
brands and as from 2017 Salsitos will focus on teen 
consumers and Delicitos on adult consumers.   

The Pelaggio brand dived into the Disney universe, 
with sampling during the Disney on Ice, an event 
that takes the magic of the characters to an ice 
skating show. The brand also carried out POS ac-
tions of buying and wining, focusing on licensed 
Disney products, like cookies and cupcakes.

Vitarella launched the institutional campaign “The 
taste of small surprises”, encouraging consumers 

to appreciate small gestures. The idea was to invite 
people to create and register little big moments in 
the family, which is increasingly difficult in mod-
ern life. The brand also promoted activities and 
events on commemorative dates, such as Carnival, 
Holy week, São João, Winter Festival, Macaroni 
Day and the end of the year. 

Pilar sponsored the 12th Brazil Circus Festival , 
which represents one of the largest events dedi-
cated to circus art in Brazil. The project counted 
on the presence of local, national and internation-
al artists, which presented the magic of the circus 
and the theater to more than 500 people. 

The traveling project took place in Recife (Metro-
politan Region) and was executed in two formats: 
presentations on the back of a truck (free), and 
stage shows in theaters (tickets at symbolic prices). 
The brand also performed activities in Carnival, São 
João, Macaroni Week, Grandparents' Day and social 
events. 

The Treloso brand presented its new size for Clu-
binho sandwich cookies. The launch featured a 
marketing campaign, which included a vignette on 
open TV and radio, advertisements in magazines 
and newspapers, external media, and actions in 
POS. The brand also held two editions of the Trelo-
so project, in which it took road shows of films to 
the cities in the interior of Pernambuco. The pub-
lic was encouraged to swap cookie packages for 
cups of collectible brands. On the return to school, 
in February and August, and on children's day, 
Treloso sponsored the Globo project for students’ 
videos. The brand also sponsored Carnival blocks 
and festivities. 
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South and Southeast brands

Adria’s main highlight was the opening campaign 
of the brand in the packaged toast category. Using 
the idea “Your day begins and ends with Adria”, 
a campaign was broadcast on open TV, cable TV 
and radio to publicize the position for the cate-
gory. The aim of the campaign was to strengthen 
the idea for the consumer that Adria is now also 
packaged toast. The mark still worked activation 
actions in the main POS, with consumer giveaways 
(buy and win) and tastings 

In the pasta category, the Adria brand maintained 
its long-term partnership with the largest Italian 
festivities in São Paulo, “São Vitus” and “San Gena-
ro”, with disclosure of its line of products. 

Isabella also invested in the media to strengthen 
the packaged toast segment, a product released in 
2015. With the concept “For You to Do”, the cam-
paign was shown on open TV by the main broad-
casters of Paraná, Rio Grande do Sul and Santa 

Catarina. The brand also conducted activation ac-
tions in the main POS of the Southern region, with 
consumer giveaways (buy and win) and tastings. 

It sponsored the Farroupilha week, one of the main 
cultural events of Rio Grande do Sul, with parades 
in honor of leaders of the Farroupilha Revolution. It 
is a traditional action of the brand which has strong 
affinity with consumers of Rio Grande do Sul.  

Basilar (pasta), Zabet (cookies) and Nikito (cook-
ies for children) carried out maintenance on the 
brand's visibility in the eyes of the consumer, 
publishing recipes and topics on nutrition for the 
printed media and online via a public relations 
agency attaining high visibility with the consum-
er public. Basilar and Nikito also invested in the 
sponsorship of two important festivals in the inte-
rior of the State of São Paulo: Barretos and Amer-
icana rodeos. The brands offering samplings and 
tastings at both events.

The Company has a formal risk management poli-
cy, revised by the Audit Committee and approved 
by the Board of Directors.

The objective of the risk management policy is to 
establish definitions, guidelines, assessment crite-
ria, tendency to risk and responsibility for the cor-
porate risk management process, to ensure that:

• The business risks inherent to M. Dias Branco´s 
activities are identified, assessed and minimized 
to an acceptable level. 

• The internal control structure is continually 
revised. 

• The potential areas of conflict of interests are 
identified and the associated risks minimized. 

• All employees fully understand the objectives 
and their roles in the risk management process. 

• Define a common language and classification of 
risks and internal controls. 

• Key user recommendations be fully implement-
ed 

• The strategic objectives of M. Dias Branco are 
fully complied with.

The risk management policy classifies the main 
strategic, market, regulatory, reporting and operat-

RISKS

ing risks, based on qualitative and quantitative mea-
surement methodologies. 

Based on the assessment and measurement of 
risks prepared by the risk management area, the 
Company seeks protection against those that in its 
judgment have the greatest potential to adverse-
ly affect its results. The main risks identified can be 
seen in the Reference Form filed at the CVM - Bra-
zilian Securities Commission, and also available on 
the Company’s investor relations site.

The main risk mitigation instrument adopted by 
the Company consist of continual improvement to 
the control environment which is properly moni-
tored, tested and up-dated in order to address each 
risk identified with at least one internal control ca-
pable of mitigating it.

In addition to risk management, also in respect of 
internal controls, the company, in the pursuit of 
continual improvement in its structure for gover-
nance, risk and control, adopts as benchmarks the 
guidelines of the main entities in these areas, such 
as COSO (Committee of Sponsoring Organizations 
of the Treadway Commission) IIA (Institute of Inter-
nal Audit) and IBGC (Brazilian Institute of Corporate 
Governance).

The Company is also continuing to expand the reach 
of its GRC (Governance, Risk and Compliance) soft-
ware implemented for electronic management of 
the risk matrices and internal audit test routines 

Part of the campaign launching Adria packaged toast 
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and monitoring of the corrective action plans. With 
this management tool, the controls are specified ac-
cording to criteria previously defined by the Compa-
ny. These criteria take into consideration the type 
of control, the way it is executed, its relevance 
within the organizational context, the frequency 
for executing it, if the control is a key control and 
the classification of the control.

According to the annual planning by the Audit, 
Risk Management and Compliance Board, which 
reports directly to the Audit Committee, the con-
trol environment is assessed at two levels: if the de-
sign of the internal control meets Company expec-
tations; and if the controls operate in accordance 
with previously defined criteria and mitigate the 
corresponding risks.

With specific respect to quality assurance in fi-
nancial reporting, the activities undertaken by 
the employees are governed by internal policies, 
procedures and internal controls approved and 
disclosed in channels that can be accessed by em-

ployees. Reconciliation routines were defined to 
ensure the integrity and complete register of fi-
nancial information in the Company´s system.

The internal audit independently conducts tests 
periodically, issuing improvement recommenda-
tions when necessary. Compliance with these rec-
ommendations is monitored by Management and 
the Audit Committee.

Additionally, the company offers its employees and 
any other interested parties the Ethics Channel, an 
instrument for receiving communications related 
to conduct contrary to its code of ethics. The Eth-
ics Channel is a free, confidential and outsourced 
service, accessible by phone, e-mail, PO box or in-
ternet.

In 2016 this channel handled 9 complaints about 
human rights that were well-founded. 6 and 12 
respectively were handled in 2015 and 2014. All 
were resolved the same year, as shown in the 
table below. G4-HR12

Issue

2014 2015 2016

Registered  
in the period

Resolved  
in the period

Registered  
in the period

Resolved  
in the period

Registered  
in the period

Resolved  
in the period

Moral Harassment 3 3 0 0 3 3

Sexual Harassment 1 1 1 1 0 0

Sexual Discrimination 1 1 0 0 0 0

Social and 
Environmental 
Responsibility

1 1 5 5 2 2

Occupational 
Health and Safety 6 6 0 0 4 4

Total 12 12 6 6 9 9

Ethics Channel – Number of denouncements and complaints related to impacts on human rights 
registered, processed and resolved through formal mechanisms. G4-HR12

Through the corporate University, training was 
provided on the Anti-corruption Act and Preven-
tion/Prosecution of violations against the eco-
nomic order.

The internal control environment observes the 
principles of segregation of duties, and access is 
granted to the system used to prepare the financial 

Upon joining the company all employees receive training and the Ethics Code

statements, subordinated to an assessment and 
approval process for user requests. The Company 
defined work flows that respect the authority lim-
its necessary to register information, reviews and 
approvals of activities undertaken by the teams. 
Reconciliation routines were defined to ensure 
the integrity and complete register of financial in-
formation in the Company´s system.
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OUTLOOK
In 2016, M. Dias Branco reviewed its five-year 
strategy with the participation of its team leaders. 
Suggestions were gathered from the managers 
and events were held with the directors involving 
lectures, analyses of scenarios, group discussions 
and presentations of proposals by all the areas. The 
proposed revision was consolidated by the Execu-
tive Committee and then approved by the Board 
of Directors. The contents were shared with the 
managements in the leadership development pro-
gram (LDP). One of the features of M. Dias Branco 
is collective building, involving different areas and 
perceptions.

To facilitate the implementation of the company’s 
strategy, meetings are held to follow up results 
- GPD (Management through Goals), known as D 
Day(Dialog Day), where the sectoral indicators are 
followed up at all hierarchical levels. Another prac-
tice strengthened in 2016, which also encourages 
the alignment of the teams, are the N5 meetings, 
where the managers of the same plant discuss top-
ics relevant to the company. There are around 200 
managers involved in N5 meetings throughout the 
country. 

The 2016-2020 strategic plan is organized within 
five macro guidelines:

• Maximizing profitability and value for share-
holders;

• Market growth with excellence in the supply 
chain and customer relationship;

• Innovation, productivity and optimization of 
resources;

• Results-oriented culture;
• Compliance and Strategic Risk Management.

Even in the face of a macroeconomic scenar-
io which remains challenging, the company will 
continue with its plan for investments in market-
ing, innovation, infrastructure and organizational 
structure, continuously strengthening its strategic 
pillars: brands, verticalization, distribution, organ-
ic expansion and through acquisitions, innovation 
and operational efficiency. 

The ongoing investment in the flour mill of Bento 
Gonçalves (Rio Grande do Sul) and future invest-
ments in the shortening and margarine plants, 
which will bring the company close to 100% ver-
tical integration, in addition to the future plant in 
Juiz de Fora (MG), which will be crucial to further 
strengthen the expansion of sales in the Southeast 
and South. 

In 2016, the company also restructured the export 
area, obtaining the first promising, satisfactory re-
sults for the long-term plans. More than 7000 tons 
were sold to 19 countries in the pasta, cookies, 
margarine and packaged toast categories.  

With respect to acquisitions, the company is pro-
ceeding with its search for opportunities to expand 
current markets and potential markets for M Dias 
Branco, focusing on relevant aspects, such as the 
strength of the brands, the distribution model, the 
market share and the potential for synergies.

Over the next few years, the Company intends to 
continue growing in regions where it still has a 
smaller market share, to intensify studies in search 
of opportunities in new food products and to con-
tinue to invest in improving operating efficiency.

Global Presence MDB 2015 x 2016

South America 
Central America

North America
Asia

MDB 2015
South America
Central America
North America

Asia
Europe

MDB 2016

1 country

4 countries

4 countries
5 countries

2015

2016

2016

2016
2015

1 country2015
2016

7 countries
2016

2015

1 country
2016

2015

2015

1 country

6 countries

0 countries

1 country

3 countries
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In 2016 the commercial, logistics and industrial departments increased their synergy

M. Dias Branco is a privileged 
company, based on solid values, with 
a well-defined mission and a team of 
competent employees, focused on 
sustainable growth. This combination 
creates a very high, transparent 
standard of governance, which enables 
the leadership to face short-term 
difficulties and at the same time have 
a long-term vision for making the 
required choices and investments.

M. Dias Branco expects it will continue nurtur-
ing its maturity in Corporate Governance. The 
Company is listed on the Novo Mercado segment 
of BM&FBOVESPA and has a policy of ensuring 
transparency in dealing with the market to en-
sure shareholders are able to make informed in-
vestment decisions.
 
40% of the members of our Board of Directors are 
independent members, delivering on our commit-
ment to providing high-quality and transparent 
information. 

The Audit Committee was created in 2007 as a 
non-statutory advisory body for the Board of Di-
rectors, currently consisting of three independent 
members and one alternate member.

The Committee is responsible for giving support to 
the shareholders and to the Council in their activi-
ties of supervising relevant themes related to:

• The accuracy and reliability of the financial 
information reported to the Board, 
shareholders, and stakeholders in general.

• The efficiency and effectiveness of the risk 
management process and internal control systems;

• contracting, guiding, reviewing and assessing 
the activities of the Audit, Risk Management and 
Compliance Committee and the Independent 
Audit.

• Adherence to legal requirements for financial, tax 
and accounting reporting.

• Assessing and monitoring compliance by the 
Company’s directors with the recommendations 
made in audit reports and by regulatory agencies.

• Monitoring potential conflicts of interest and 
compliance with the Company’s code of ethics.

• The encouragement, development and 
sustainability of good corporate governance 
practices.

To this end, the Committee held monthly meetings 
throughout the year, in which it issued opinions and 
recommendations to Management and the Board, 
through formalizing and sending minutes. In these 
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• Establish a sustainability policy for the Company.
• Manage the outcomes of working groups (GTs) established for each 

strategic sustainability topic.
• Monitor the preparation of the Company's Annual Report.
• Annually benchmark the Company's sustainability practices against 

leading listed companies.
• Submit sustainability program proposals to the Executive Commit-

tee for consideration.

Publishing this Integrated Report with comprehensive 
information on financial, social and environmental per-
formance and conforming to GRI Guidelines is another 
initiative to improve disclosure and our commitment to 
corporate governance.

Matters related to strategic issues, monitoring results 
and socio-environmental matters are discussed by the 
Executive Committee, which reports regularly to the 
Statutory Board. Ethics issues are addressed by the Eth-
ics Committee, which reports directly to the Audit Com-
mittee. The ethics committee was structured in 2012, on 
a permanent and non-statutory basis, consisting of the 
organizational development, legal and audit, risk man-
agement and compliance Director.

Since 2014 the Company has maintained an Occupation-
al Health & Safety committee to periodically oversee ini-
tiatives related to these issues.
 
In 2015 a Sustainability Committee was created to advise 
the Executive Board on implementing the Company's 
sustainability practices. The Sustainability Committee is a 
standing committee that meets every six months and has 
the following responsibilities:

meetings the Committee conducts technical vis-
its to certain operating plants and discusses with 
various managers the Company’s main processes 
and controls, always focusing on risks that could 
impact its strategic objectives.

The Executive Committee, created in 2010, is an 
advisory body for the Statutory Directors (consist-
ing of a chairman and deputy chairmen), a perma-
nent body, and is responsible for analyzing sce-
narios and growth opportunities, proposing the 
strategic direction, coordinating the deployment 
of the corporate goals in sector goals and facili-
tating the process for monitoring the results. It is 
composed of corporate members of the Non-Stat-
utory Committee.

The Executive Council was also created in 2016, 
unifying the Statutory Board and Executive Com-
mittee in order to further align the governance 
forums and provide a formal venue for strategic 
debate and provision of accounts. 

Our Investor Relations Department has contin-
ued to serve investors and market analysts, and 
in 2016 attended 5 conferences in Brazil, and 2 
conferences overseas. In total, 328 contacts were 
made during the year, clarifying doubts from in-
terested parties and contributing to strengthen-
ing the transparency of its documents and disclo-
sure of its results.

Meetings between corporate managers strengthen integration and decision-making

5

2

Conferences 
in Brazil

Conferences 
overseas
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Júlio Borges de Carvalho Audit, Risk Management  
and Compliance Officer 39 M

Luis Cristiano Prazeires Albuquerque Administrative and Information 
Technology Officer 44 M

Luiza Andréa Farias Nogueira Organizational Development 
Officer 52 F

Marcos Roberto Pinheiro da Silveira Logistics Officer 47 M

Mark Stanley Luyt Industrial Officer 55 M

Martim Francisco de A. Ibrahim Bernardara Marketing Officer 39 M

Maurício Freitas de Araújo Industrial Officer 61 M

Sidney Leite dos Santos Technical and Operations Officer 49 M

Vera Maria Rodrigues Ponte Controllership Officer 52 F

ETHICS COMMITTEE

Name Position Age Sex

Júlio Borges de Carvalho Audit, Risk Management  
and Compliance Officer 39 M

Luiza Andréa Farias Nogueira Organizational Development 
Officer 52 F

Daniel Mota Gutierrez Legal Officer 43 M

SUSTAINABILITY COMMITTEE

Name Position Age Sex

Aled Carvalho Parry Sustainability Manager 52 M

Fábio Cefaly de Campos Machado New Business and Investor  
Relations Officer 40 M

Júlio Borges de Carvalho Audit, Risk Management  
and Compliance Officer 39 M

Luiza Andréa Farias Nogueira Organizational Development 
Officer 52 F

Sidney Leite dos Santos Technical and Operations Officer 49 M

OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH AND SAFETY COMMITTEE

Name Position Age Sex

Ezequiel Leite do Nascimento Corporate QSMA Manager 52 M

Sidney Leite dos Santos Technical and Operations Officer 49 M

Júlio Borges de Carvalho Audit, Risk Management  
and Compliance Officer 39 M

Luiza Andréa Farias Nogueira Organizational Development 
Officer 52 F

Daniel Mota Gutierrez Legal Officer 43 M

Marcos Roberto Pinheiro da Silveira Logistics Officer 47 M

GOVERNANCE BODIESG4-34

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Name Position Age Sex

Maria Consuelo Saraiva Leão Dias Branco Chairman of the Board  
of Directors

82 F

Affonso Celso Pastore Independent Director 77 M

Francisco Cláudio S. Leão Dias Branco Director 49 M

Maria das Gracas Dias Branco da Escossia Director 57 F

The Independent Director Francisco Queiroz Maia Júnior  
stood down on 1/24/2017, and was replaced by his alternate.

- -

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Name Position Age Sex

Antônio Carlos Dias Coelho Independent Member 70 M

Joanília Neide de Sales Cia Independent Member 53 F

José Carlos Pinho de Paiva Timbó Independent Member 68 M

STATUTORY EXECUTIVE BOARD

Name Position Age Sex

Francisco Ivens de Sá Dias Branco Júnior CEO 56 M

Francisco Cláudio S. Leão Dias Branco Industrial Vice President 49 M

Francisco Marcos Saraiva L. Dias Branco Commercial Vice-President 52 M

Geraldo Luciano Mattos Júnior Vice-President for Investments  
and Controllership 53 M

Maria das Gracas Dias Branco da Escóssia Financial Vice-President 57 F

Maria Regina Saraiva L. D. B. Ximenes Vice-President of Management and 
Development: 55 F

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

Name Position Age Sex

Antônio Rynaldo Studart Guimarães Commercial Officer 74 M

Aristófanes Martins de Alexandre Commercial Officer 51 M

César Martins Rosa Vasconcelos Reis Exports Officer 38 M

Daniel Mota Gutierrez Legal Officer 43 M

Fábio Cefaly de Campos Machado New Business and Investor  
Relations Officer 40 M

Fernando Bocchi Research and Development  
Activities 50 M

The information provided on members of governance bodies is as of the date of this report (March 6, 2017).
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Key socio-environmental results

Nutrition and healthiness

Packaging

Waste Material

Water and wastewater

Energy and emissions

Communities & social investment

Transparency and dialog

Inputs - Commodities and supplies
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Fortaleza employees participate in donations and recreational activities for needy children

Being sustainable is taking care 
of the environment by decreasing 
waste generation, consuming 
water and power rationally, 
supporting underprivileged 
communities in the neighborhood 
of the plants, producing quality, 
healthy, tasty food and always 
seeking to provide well-being for 
the people.

The Strategic Agenda of Sustainability, approved at 
the beginning of 2014 by the Company’s leadership 
has given priority to themes capable of generating 
and protecting value for all stakeholders in the long 
run. Every year M. Dias Branco, prepares to broaden 
the dialog not only with shareholders, clients and 
employees, but also with local governments, sur-
rounding communities and suppliers. We base our 
relationships on the principles of economy, ethics, 
transparency and corporate citizenship.

In the corporate sphere, the management of sus-
tainability occurs through working groups (WG) 
consisting of senior managers with the purpose of 
making the social and environmental aspects part 
of the business culture. Through clear initiatives 
that bring tangible and intangible results, every 
WG has defined long-term planning, whose goals 
are accompanied by the Management by Goals 
(GPD), the performance monitoring system used 
by the company.

The operational aspects related to safety, quali-
ty, environment and food security are managed 
within the industrial environment . World-Class 
Management is an excellence model that pro-
vides tools to support initiatives at industrial fa-
cilities toward creating sustainable value, with all 
departments united around a single objective: 
delivering excellence in operations.

With the application of the TPM methodology 
(Total Manufacturing Performance) in the indus-
try’s production lines, it is possible to see positive 
changes in various indicators that measure the 
entire production process.
During 2016, the improvement teams operated in 
the industrial plants, focused on reducing losses, 

restoration of basic conditions, training people 
through the use of continuous improvement.

Additionally, from 2016, the teams were encour-
aged to also contribute to the implementation 
of traditions based on sustainability, oriented 
towards reducing water consumption, power 
consumption and prevention of work related ac-
cidents.

Therefore, this new way of acting of the teams for 
improvement, enables greater involvement of em-
ployees in the workplace, to further strengthen the 
company’s sustainability indexes.

The Industrial management system (SGI) also plays 
an important role for the company to be World Class, 
as a base structure for providing standardization of 
internal activities through procedures based on in-
ternational standards, such as the ISO standards.
 
In 2016, the process for implementing SGI with the 
publication of relevant procedures such as the SGI 
manual and SGI policy, integrating in a single docu-
ment the various policies existing in the plants with 
respect to quality management, environment and 
food security systems. Related procedures were 
published such as management of qualification of 
suppliers, management of non-conformities, inter-
nal and external audits of the SGI, corporate quality 
plan and other procedures in the area of food secu-
rity and the environment.
Following the model of shared management, the 
focal points of the SGI were defined in each plant 
with the role of promoting the management of doc-
uments and records of the areas. The launch of the 
SGI has already occurred in the plants below and the 
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others will occur in accordance with the company's 
strategic planning.

• 2015: implemented in the plants of Maracanaú/
EC and São Caetano do Sul/SP.

• 2016: deployed in the Eusébio/CE and Shorten-
ing and Special Margarines plants in Fortaleza/
CE.

The Positive Program is advancing in the process 
for strengthening the perception of security on the 
part of the employees and has already been imple-

Visual identity of the  
Sustainability initiatives

A voluntary employee gives a class to adolescents from the neighboring communities Strategic  
Topic Courses of Action Key Results in 2016

Nutrition and 
Healthiness

• A product range with a 
more nutritious profile and 
increased use of natural 
ingredients

• Lower levels of sugar, 
sodium and trans fats.

• In 2016, 32.4% of formulations contained added 
micronutrients, a healthy increase of 2.9% over the 
previous year and 5.9% over 2014 (base line) 

• Decrease of 17% in sodium in Vitarella sandwich cookies, 
30% in Delicitos wheat snacks and 30% in Salsitos corn 
snacks.

Packaging • Renewable and sustain-
able materials

• Lower plastic  
consumption

• Sustainable design and  
product life-cycle analysis.

• 83.6% of cardboard boxes and 100% of cardboard comes 
from material acquired with forest certification 

• At the Bento Gonçalves/RS plant, plastic packaging for 
the balers with 100% recycled material, which represents 
79,455 kg of packaging produced with energy and re-
newable raw materials and sustainable practices, adding 
environmental and social benefits calculated pursuant to 
the certificate sent by the supplier;

• Reduction in weight of packaging, consisting of 199,345 
tonnes in use of plastic in 2016, which represents 1.5% of 
total use of flexible films in the year;

• Replacement of raffia and polyethylene in 25-kg flour 
packaging by paper with the FSC seal.

KEY SOCIO-ENVIRONMENTAL 
RESULTS 

mented in the plants below and in the others it will 
occur in accordance with the company’s strategic 
planning.

• 2014: Eusébio/CE, Fortaleza/CE plants, 
São Caetano do Sul/SP and Salvador/BA plants.

• 2015: Maracanaú/EC and 
Bento Gonçalves/RS plants. 

The results of the implementation of these processes 
are presented throughout this chapter.
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Waste Material 
Solid Waste, 
Wastewater, 

Water, Energy 
and Emissions

• Reduce waste output from 
processes.

• Proper process waste 
disposal

• Post-consumer reverse  
logistics for packaging.

• Incremental reduction of 
water and energy con-
sumption 

• Water recycling

• Competitive price of 
electricity and guaranteed 
supply

• Energy efficiency;

• Lower fossil fuel intensity

• Reduced generation of waste from 14% as compared to 
2015, and a 3% rise as compared to 2014;

• Residues aimed at sustainable alternatives such as recy-
cling, reuse, composting and others represent 90% of the 
total created in 2016. The Recycling Rate was above 60% 
in 2016, while that for reuse stood at 11.2%;

• In 2016 the Jaboatão dos Guararapes/PE plant started 
sending sludge to the ETE (sewage treatment plant) to 
produce ecological bricks;

• Company investment in the Packaging Reverse Logistics 
Dê a Mão para o Futuro (Give the Future a Hand) program 
was of R$ 504 thousand or 2.77% of the program’s total 
investment;

• Average use of water in 2016 per tonne of goods was 0.47 
m³, a 7.8% decline as opposed to 0.51 m³ used in 2015.

• The total volume of water removed dropped 2.81% as 
compared to 2015, yet rose 0.63% over the base-year of 
2014;

• Use of rainwater directly gathered and stored by the orga-
nization represented 15.1% of the total volume of water 
captured, as opposed to 11.1% in 2014;

• Implementing the rainwater gathering system on the 
roofs of the Jaboatão dos Guararapes/PE plant for use in 
cooling towers;

• Water reuse rose by 21% over 2015 and 126.8% over the 
base-year. In 2016 the company reused 19.9% or 238 
thousand m³ of water;

• Disposal of 250,842 m³ of effluents, a 64% decline as com-
pared to the base-year of 2014. As compared to 2015,  
reduction was of 26%;

• An 11.7% increase in natural gas use and a 67% drop in 
the use of diesel oil;

• Energy intensity rose by 19.5% as compared to 2014, yet 
there was a 4.3% decline compared to 2015;

• The migration of 3 plants to the free energy market saved 
R$ 4.9 million in 2016;

• Energy efficiency actions saved R$ 1.3 million;

• Annualized fossil fuel greenhouse (GHG) emissions by the 
vehicle fleet increased in 2016 as opposed to 2015, yet 
emission intensity (tCO2e fossil/ liters) dropped 3.3% as 
compared to the 2014 base-year;

• A Zero Landfill achievement in waste disposal created by 
the Jaboatão dos Guararapes/PE plant.

Communities 
& Social 

Investment

• Strategic allocation of social 
investment.

• Engagement and relation-
ship with communities.

• 100% of plants with the implementation of commitment actions 
by the surrounding community (46% in 2015 and 8% in 2014).

• Allocation of R$ 3.9 million in social projects by means of Incentives 
Laws.

• 27 visits to social organizations supported by the company 
throughout the country.

• R$ 487 thousand in donations of goods (R$ 696 thousand in 2015) 
handed out during the year to 120 organizations (63 in 2015).

• Social investment of R$ 160 thousand

Transparency 
and 

Engagement

• Development and  
recognition of  
human capital.

• Occupational health  
and safety

• Sustainability culture.

• Relations with customers  
and consumers.

• Over 697 thousand hours of training (over 700 thousand in 
2015) held on-site as well as remotely.

•  The frequency rate (FT) rose to 1.24 (1.02 in 2015) and the 
seriousness rate (ST) was reduced to 18.47 (56.42 in 2015), 
a decline of roughly 67% in accident seriousness. Both 
indicators dropped as compared to 2014.

• Detection and training of Sustainability Ambassadors and 
Partners in the plants.

• Insertion of 10 social and environmental topics in the stra-
tegic matters disclosure indicator by the Communications 
area.

• 1,099 notices received by the CACs. 566 were received in 
2015.

• A 16.5% increase in the share by staff members from every 
plant in the Health and Safety Dialog (DSS).

• There were no fatalities at the company in 2016. 

Inputs • Socio-environmental assess-
ment of suppliers

• Social and environmental 
aspects relating to agricul-
tural commodities.

• Forwarding of a qualifying questionnaire to a total of 246 
suppliers, 131 of which of raw materials, 60 of packaging 
and 55 of commodities.

• Disclosure of the Vendor Management and Qualification 
extendable to the manufacturing plants.

Strategic 
Matter Courses of Action Key Results in 2016
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NUTRITION AND 
HEALTHINESS

In order to supply consumers with tastier and more 
nutritive goods, the Research & Development Board 
is structured on pillars related to Research, Develop-
ment and Innovation, and relies on support by the 
Regulatory Affairs, Sensory Analysis and Marketing 
departments.
 
While seeking to develop goods that contribute in 
reducing children’s and young people’s nutritional 
deficit in the country and in encouraging improve-
ments in health attributes in existing lines, in 2016 
the Company invested R$ 8.1 million in R&D, a 55.8% 
growth over the base-year of 2014. This investment 
gave rise to 156 projects covering new products, im-
provements and optimizations.

Furthermore, in 2016 and in accordance with the 
Company’s Strategic Plan for 2020, the Innovation 
Management area was created, defining and validat-
ing the pillars that will serve to guide future Research 
& Development projects.

For 2017, the Company will work with a portfolio of 
160 projects, focusing on Health, Sustainability and 
Indulgence, in line with the new established innova-
tion methodology.

In 2016 the R&D and Marketing areas defined a 
proposal to renew the vitamin mix in goods, based 
on studies by the Ministry of Health’s Innovation 
Radar. Actions aimed at improving the nutritional 
profile of goods are based on studies that detect-
ed inadequate ingestion levels of micro-nutrients 
such as fibers, calcium and vitamins A, D and E, 
among the country’s children and young people. 
In addition to the above-mentioned micro-nu-

A product range with a more 
nutritious profile and increased 
use of natural ingredients
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Investment in R&D (R$ million)

8.1 Percent of sales volume, by product category, containing added nutrients such as fibers, 
vitamins, minerals and other functional additives.

trients, B complex vitamins and minerals such as Fe 
and Zn are added to a number of goods in the current 
portfolio. In 2016, 32.4% of recipes contained added 
micronutrients, a healthy increase of 2.9% over 2015 
and 5.9% over 2014 (base line) The table below pres-
ents the percentage of the value realized by adding 
nutrients in relation to the total revenue and revenue 
from the product category.FPSD-FP7

Please note that in 2016 the first Technical Panels 
were created in the Jaboatão dos Guararapes/PE, 
Fortaleza/CE, Salvador/BA and São Caetano do Sul/
SP plants. These Panels are composed of staff mem-
bers who act as volunteers and perform assessments 
requested by the Marketing, R&D, Supplies and Qual-
ity Control areas.

To become a Panel member, interested staff mem-
bers participated in a selection process that proved 
their sensory abilities, in order to compose a team 
that meets project needs and is diversified. The pur-
pose is to acquire greater marketing acceptability in 
company goods. 

Calculation based on net revenue net of discounts and returned products.
In 2014 packaged toast was not yet available in the market.

Category
% sales with added nutrients 
out of total revenue FPSD-FP7

% sales with added nutrients 
out of total revenue from prod-
uct category

 2014 2015 2016 2014 2015 2016

Cookies 10.7% 11.2% 12.1% 19.5% 20.8% 22.4%

Margarine and vegetable creams 4.1% 4.3% 4.6% 99.8% 100.0% 100.0%

Flours 15.4% 15.2% 14.4% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%

Cakes 0.3% 0.3% 0.4% 39.2% 42.8% 58.1%

Snacks 0.0% 0.3% 0.2% 10.1% 60.3% 61.7%

Cake mixes 0.0% 0.1% 0.2% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%

Packaged toast* - 0.2% 0.5% - 27.3% 44.4%

Grand total 30.5% 31.6% 32.4% - - -

FP7-DMA
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The R&D and Regulatory Affairs areas continued 
working to reduce sodium content in every class 
of goods, pursuant to an agreement by the activi-
ty with the Ministry of Health. Outcomes obtained 
were a 30% decline in some segments.

The Company maintains ongoing actions to as-
sess sodium (salt) substitutes in some categories, 
assessing raw materials and alternative processes 
that partially eliminate hydrogenated fats from 
goods, as well as to reduce sugar.

The Company’s actions regarding use of packaging 
are associated with improvement and optimizing 
projects in the R&D areas - specifically with regard 
to packaging and supplies, which obtained posi-
tive results in 2016.

The idea of effective technical specifications or 
sustainable design helps us to minimize waste 
through ongoing improvement actions related to 
sustainability guidelines: inclusion of renewable 
materials, lower use of plastic, sustainable design 
and life cycle analysis.

Lower levels of sugar, sodium 
and trans fats.

M. Dias Branco carefully monitors domestic and 
international regulatory trends through its in-
dustry entities, means of communications, con-
sumers and other publics. This monitoring has 
provided inputs for decision making in connec-
tion with new projects and has based the Compa-
ny’s sustainability actions.

PACKAGINGThere were also advances in product development, with a better nutritional balance in the several classes of 
activities undertaken by the company, besides performing research, interviews and workshops with special-
ists aimed at adding value to wheat bran.

Providing goods with a more nutritive profile complies with market trends.
The marketing team in packaging development

G4-DMA
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In 2016 in the Bento Gonçalves/RS plant, we started using plastic packaging for 
balers with 100% recycled material, which represents 79,455 kg of packaging 
produced with energy and renewable raw materials and sustainable practices, 
containing environmental and social benefits calculated pursuant to the 
certificate received from the accredited supplier. 

Of the total of 26,994 tonnes of cartons employed 
in 2016, 22,555 tonnes came from raw material ac-
quired with forest certification and equal to 83.6% 
in total volume. The same occurs with cardboard. 
100% of the 1004 tonnes used came from sustain-
able forests.

Reduction in the dimensions or in weight/
thickness of packaging employed in the 
production of cookies and pasta in the 
Company’s plants, reduced 199,345 tonnes 
in use of plastic in 2016, which is equal to 
1.5% of total use of flexible films in the year.
 
Changes in annual packaging consumption 
are presented in the table below. G4 EN1

Another action was the replacement of raf-
fia and polyethylene in 25-kg flour packag-
ing by paper with the FSC seal.

A discussion panel was organized in 2016 
on biodegradable plastic material and ACV 
- Life Cycle Analysis.

In the long run the Company will seek to 
apply sustainable plastic films with 100% 
recycled material for use by balers. We will 
proceed with projects reducing the use of 
plastic, and with LCA actions.

Renewable and 
sustainable 

Lower plastic 
consumption 

Sustainable design and  
product life-cycle analysis

Use of paper and cardboard packaging 
originating from sustainable forests.

Annual consumption of primary packaging. 

100%
of the 1,004 tonnes of 
cardboard consumed
come from
certified forests.

Annual volume

Material 2014 2015 2016
Var.%  

2016/2015
Var.%  

2016/2014

Not 
renewable

Flexible films (laminates, 
metalized laminates and 
monolayer) – metric tons

11,803,707 12,739,529 13,481,697 5.8% 14.2%

Rigid packaging – units 50,233,678 53,573,646 58,660,386 9.5% 16.8%

Renewable Paper packaging (recycled, 
kraft and semi-kraft) – units 95,792,334 103,909,337 104,671,512 0.7% 9.3%

Total consumption
in tonnes

Use originated from 
certified forests.

Cardboard box
 26,994

Cardboard box
 83.6%

Cardboard crib
 1,004

Cardboard crib
 100%
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WASTE

Waste management at M. Dias Branco is the re-
sponsibility of the Environment and Administrative 
Departments and is conducted in accordance with 
our SGI Policy. This document covers environmental 
commitments by the Company and the Environmen-
tal Management System based on ISO 14001. The 
Eusébio/CE and Jaboatão dos Guararapes/PE plants 
currently have this certification.

Every plant has professionals specialized in the en-
vironment, and a partnership with suppliers and re-
cyclers ensures technical excellence of procedures in 
place for solid waste management and disposal. 

The Company’s solid waste management brought 
excellent results in 2016, with a 14% drop in gen-
eration as opposed to 2015, as reflected the graph 
below. There was a 3% rise in relation to the 2014 
base-year, though the volume of production had 
risen over the period.

All plants have Waste Centers for temporarily stor-
ing waste for treatment and final disposal. Some 
centers are equipped with waste processing ma-
chines, presses and/or scales. Sales of solid process 
waste and unusable products generated R$ 2 mil-
lion in 2016 (R$ 2.2 million in 2015).

Reduce waste output  
from processes

Proper process waste 
disposal

45.000

30.000

15.000

0

33.184

2014 2015

39.976

2016

Total waste generation (in tonnes)

34.193

The Company continued to prefer sustainable al-
ternatives for waste disposal, despite the difficult 
economic circumstances. Waste aimed pursuant 
to sustainable alternatives such as recycling, re-
use, composting and others was equal 90% of the 
total created in 2016. The Recycling rate remained 
at a level above 60% while reuse stood at 11.2%.

Disposal method 2014 2015 2016

Recycling 21,643 65.2% 23,939 59.9% 21,173 61.9%

Reuse 4,353 13.1% 2,459 6.2% 3,813 11.2%

Composting 1,909 5.8% 4,548 11.4% 2,028 5.9%

Landfilling 4,854 14.6% 2,990 7.5% 3,424 10.0%

Co-processing 105 0.3% 224 0.6% 293 0.9%

Incineration 43 0.1% 20 0.1% 32 0.1%

Biological treatment 
(stabilization ponds) 0 0.0% 5,789 14.5% 0 0.0%

Decontamination of lamps 0 0.0% 1 0.0% 3 0.0%

Re-refining 0 0.0% 5 0.0% 6.97 0.0%

Other 277 0.8% 1 0.0% 3420 10%

Total 33,185 39,975 34,193

Historic disposal of waste (tonnes) G4-EN23

G4-DMA
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Main waste products and their disposal:

• Recycling: Spent frying oil, ferrous scrap metal, 
non-ferrous scrap metal (aluminum and cop-
per), paper and cardboard, wood (pallets, scrap 
wood) scrap wood and boards, off-specification 
products, metal packaging, non-contaminated 
plastic drums, plastic bags with residual vege-
table fat, big bags, containers, films and small 
plastic packaging items, organic process waste, 
batteries, electronic waste, and construction 
waste.

• Reuse: tree trimming waste, restaurant waste.

• Composting: refinery sludge

• Co-processing: scrap tires, toxic waste from 
Wastewater Treatment Plants, contaminated 

rags and wipes, hazardous waste, paints and 
solvents, chemicals, activated charcoal filters, 
electrical components, resin, machining fluid.

• Incineration: health care service waste;

• Biological Treatment: wastewater treatment 
plant waste streams containing non-toxic sub-
stances, water treatment plant waste streams 
containing non-toxic substances, sewer waste 
streams containing non-toxic substances.

• Re-refining: spent engine oil, diesel oil.

• Other: forklift battery (returned to supplier – 
reverse logistics).

Disposal method Non-hazardous Hazardous Total %

Recycling 20,772.45 401.10 21,173.55 61.9%

Reuse 3,812.40 0.57 3,812.97 11.2%

Composting 2,028.19 0.00 2,028.19 5.9%

Landfilling 3,408.96 14.55 3,423.52 10.0%

Co-processing 250.56 42.42 292.98 0.9%

Incineration 0.00 31.99 31.99 0.1%

Decontamination of lamps 0.00 3.14 3.14 0.0%

Re-refining 0.00 6.97 6.97 0.0%

Other 3,416.45 3.70 3,420.15 10.0%

Total 33,689.01 504.44 34,193.45  

Disposal of hazardous and non-hazardous 
waste (tonnes) G4-EN23

In 2016 the Jaboatão dos Guararapes/PE plant 
started sending sludge to the ETE - sewage treat-
ment plant to produce ecological bricks. The study 
was part of the waste disposal improvement plan. 
The sludge was previously used for composting, 
being converted into fertilizer. 

Based on studies of other market practices, a pos-
sibility was envisaged of working to adjust the pro-
cess and sludge specification in order to meet re-
quirements for the production of ecological bricks, 
and now through a licensed supplier the waste is 
sent to a duly licensed kiln that produces these 
goods.
 
The process is in line with the PNRS (National Solid 
Waste Policy) pursuant to Law no. 14236/2010 for 

recycling waste arising from the sewage treatment 
process. This action results in a number of benefits, 
reduces extracting clay from mines, increasing use-
ful life and reducing environmental impacts by the 
activity, in which 5% of brick production mass con-
sists of sludge. Hence, a greater value-added use 
is made of the waste, which also gives rise to cost 
cutting in its treatment. 

Actions such as this have inserted the Compa-
ny in the definition of a circular economy, which 
proposes that the sum of resources obtained and 
produced should be kept circulating by means of 
integrated productive chains.

In 2016 M. Dias Branco undersigned its concur-
rence through ABIMAPI (Brazilian Association of 
Cookies, Pasta, Industrialized Bread and Cake In-
dustries) in the program’s Give the Future a Hand 
committee for gathering after-use packaging. This 
program was created to comply with the National 
Solid Waste Policy, in connection with the need 
for putting in place reverse logistics systems. The 
chief results for 2016 (data available until Novem-
ber 2016) were:

• 129 cooperatives (screening centers) affiliated 
and supported by the program, covering the 
97.7% established target.

• These cooperatives sold 74,346 tonnes of waste.

Proper process waste 
disposal

• The number of cooperators was 4,036, while in 
January there were only 696, an expansion in 
excess of 570%.

• Average gross income per cooperator in Novem-
ber 2016 was of R$ 1,043.05, providing a more 
dignified life to solid waste collectors.

• Average productivity per cooperator was of 2.17 
tonnes per month. 

Investments in the Give the Future a Hand program 
in 2016 totaled R$ 20.3 million, of which M. Dias 
Branco accounted for R$ 504 thousand or 2.77% of 
the year’s total investment.



84 | Annual Report 2016 Annual Report 2016 | 85

SOCIAL AND ENVIRONMENTAL PERFORMANCE WATER AND WASTEWATER

WATER AND 
WASTEWATER

The Environmental Area is in charge of managing 
environmental aspects and impacts in the Company. 
It was organized four years ago with a view to stan-
dardizing environmental management processes 
among the plants, improving pollution control and 
incrementally reducing use of natural resources.
 
Environmental expenditure totaled R$ 10.4 million 
in 2016, rising from R$ 9.7 million in 2015. This sum 
includes: expenditures with environmental profes-
sionals and ETE operations (R$ 2.7 million), effluent 
monitoring expenses, gas emissions, disposal of haz-
ardous waste and other services (R$ 6.1 million) and 
investments basically in ETE improvements (R$ 1.6 
million). G4-EN31

The Company received four notices from environ-
mental bodies owing to non-conformities with en-
vironmental laws and regulations, with no financial 
liabilities involved. Of the four notices received, 
two have been resolved (Salvador/BA and Ben-
to Gonçalves/RS plants) and two are in progress 
(Shortening and Special Margarine plant in Fortale-
za/CE). G4- EN29

In 2016 the environmental team developed, applied 
and analyzed the outcome of a water balance meth-
odology. Furthermore, it undertook a technological 
feasibility study in treating industrial effluents for re-
use by the Maracanaú/CE plant. 

12

9

6

3

0

8.1

2014 2015

9.7

2016

Investment in environmental protection
(in R$ million)

10.4

The Technical team controls water quality.

Ongoing improvement teams engaged in reducing use 
of water were formed in the Salvador/BA and Cabedelo/
PB plants. Such teams are also present since 2015 in the 
Eusébio/CE and Fortaleza/CE plants. 

Another action involved implementation of the Envi-
ronmental Management System based on ISO 14001 in 
the Maracanaú/CE and São Caetano do Sul/SP plants, 
as well as the start of EMS migration from the Eusébio/
CE plant to the corporate model, according to SGI (Envi-
ronment Industrial Management System).

Average use of water in 2016 per tonne of goods was 0.47 m³, a 7.8% decline as opposed to 0.51 m³ 
used in 2015. Total volume of water removed dropped 2.81% as compared to 2015, yet rose 0.63% over 
the base-year of 2014, though the volume of production was greater in 2016. Total volume of water 
removed was of 1.19 million m³ as shown in the graph that follows.

Relative reduction in 
water consumption

Sources 2014 2015 2016
Var.%  

2016/2015
Var.%  

2016/2014

Surface water  -  - 17,114  -  -

Groundwater 675,524 680,566 629,530 -7.5% -6.8%

Rainwater collected directly and stored by the 
organization 131,912 167,649 180,455 7.6% 36.8%

Municipal water supplies or other water 
utilities 373,533 378,254 350,670 -7.3% -6.1%

Tank trucks 7,138 3,397 17,567 -417.1% 146.1%

Total 1,188,107 1,229,866 1,195,336 -2.81% 0.63%

Total water withdrawal by source (m³) G4-EN8G4-DMA

G4-DMA
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The chief source of water supply employed by the 
Company is groundwater, which in 2016 was equal 
to 52.7% of the total volume of water captured. This 
percentage declined as compared to 2014, when 
groundwater use was equal to 56.9%. In turn, use of 
rainwater directly gathered and stored by the orga-
nization represented 15.1% of the total volume of 
water collected, as opposed to 11.1% in 2014. This 
result evidences that the Company carefully manag-
es this natural resource that is vital in our operations. 

In 2014 the Jaboatão dos Guararapes/PE plant 
began capturing rainwater for use by the cooling 
tower. Water analyses, definition of cooling tower 
water specification, definition of monitoring and 
treatment methods were performed, as well as 
building a structure to gather rainwater.

Water recycling has also improved, up by 21% on 
2015 and 126.8% on the baseline year. In 2016 the 
company reused 19.9% or 238 thousand/m3.

Actions such as gathering and storing rainwater and water reuse are essential in ensuring supply over 
time to the Company, as several plants are located in river basins rated by Agência Nacional de Águas - 
ANA (National Water Agency) as in a state of scarcity.

Water reuse

 2014 2015 2016
Var.%  

2016/2015
Var.%  

2016/2014

Total volume of water used (m3) 1,188,107 1,229,866 1,198,136 -2.6% 0.8%

Total volume of water recycled or reused 
(m3) 104,404 202,050 238,816 18.2% 128.7%

% of water recycled or reused 8.8% 16.4% 19.9% 21.3% 126.8%

Total volume and percentage of reused and recycled waterG4-EN10

2016

2015

2014

0 20%

52.7%
1.5%

1.4%

40% 60% 80% 100%

Total water withdrawal by source 
(%) GN-EN8

Groundwater

Rainwater collected directly and stored
by the organization

Municipal water supplies
or other water utilities

Tank trucks
Surface water

29.3%15.1%

55.3%

55.9%

0.8%

0.8%

29.4%

31.4%

13.6%

11.1%

7.8%
decrease in  

average water  
consumption in 

1,400,ooo 
1,188,107 1,229,866 1,198,136
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Total volume of water used (m3)

Total volume of water recycled or reused (m3) 

104,404 202,050 238,816
238 
thousand/m3
of water was 
reused in 2016
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Plant Drainage Basin
Availability  

(m3 / inhab. / year)

Jaboatão dos Guararapes (PE) Capibaribe 422

Natal/RN Trairi/Piranji 470

Cabedelo/PB Baixo Paraíba 470

São Caetano do Sul/SP Alto Tietê 136

Eusébio (CE)

Metropolitana - CE 1,467
Maracanaú (CE)

Shortening and Margarines in Fortaleza (CE)

Dias Branco Mill, Fortaleza (CE)

Salvador/BA Paraguaçu 3,266

Lençóis Paulista (SP) Tietê Jacaré 2,050

Bento Gonçalves/RS Taquari/Antas 17,939

Water availability in drainage basins where the 
Company has plants 

Source: Ministry of the Environment. Atlas das Regiões Hidrográficas do Brasil. 2006 | Planos de Bacias – Alto Tietê, Mogi-Guaçu, Tietê-Jacará and Taquari-Antas.

< 500 m³ per inhab. per annum – state of scarcity.

from 500 to 1700 m³ per inhab. per annum – state of stress.

> 1700 m³ per inhab. per annum – state of comfort.

The Falkenmark index employed by the UNO 
to detect the water’s quantitative condition per 
inhabitant, the ratio between average flow and 
population (m³ per inhab. per annum):

Information on water availability, reservoir 
levels and rainfall in the regions close to the 
manufacturing plants are constant topics in 
the industrial and environmental manage-
ment agenda. The adjoining table shows 
that 84% of water employed by the Compa-
ny comes from regions in a state of scarcity 
(32%) and stress (52%). It is precisely in the 
plants located in such areas that 98.5% of re-
cycled water is used, 

Water situation
% total  

water used 

% of water 
recycled and 

reused

Situation of shortage 32.1% 44.0%

Situation of stress 51.7% 54.5%

Comfortable situation 16.2% 1.5%

Total water used and reused 
in drainage basins where the  
Company has plants

The Company continues investing in ETEs 
- Wastewater Treatment Plants. A total of 
250,842 m3 of wastewater was disposed of in 
2016, a substantial decrease on 2014 (64%).  
The reduction on the previous year was 26%.

Wastewater treatment
750,000 

Total wastewater disposal (m3)

698,467

338,048

600,000

450,000

300,000

150,ooo

0
2014 2015 2016

250,842

Rainwater intake reservoir
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Plant Process description
Total Wastewater 
Disposal in m3

Eusébio (CE)

The activated sludge process is used with continuous aeration. The treated effluent 
is discharged into the nearby Rio Coaçu creek in accordance with applicable state 
environmental regulations, with part of the water used for greens irrigation. The 
standards followed: SEMACE Ordinance 151/2002, SEMACE Ordinance 154/2002, 
SEMACE Ordinance 111/2011, CONAMA Resolution 357/2005 and CONAMA 
Resolution 430/2011.

41,598

Shortening and 
Margarines  

in Fortaleza/CE

For industrial effluent treatment, a physical and chemical method is used followed 
by a biological (activated sludge) process, while domestic sewage is directed to 
the public sewage network (CAGECE). Both are then disposed of in the receiving 
water body. Standards followed: SEMACE Ordinance 151/2002, SEMACE Ordinance 
154/2002, SEMACE Ordinance 111/2011, CONAMA Resolution 357/2005 and 
CONAMA Resolution 430/2011.

158,366

Maracanaú (CE)
Primary and secondary treatment with disposal of wastewater in the public ETE 
(CAGECE). Compliance with SEMACE Ordinance 154/2002.

    *

Natal/RN Wastewater is directed to the local utility.     *

Cabedelo/PB

The wastewater is sent to the ETE with physical and biological treatment consisting 
of: digestive decanting tank, UASB Reactor, sand filters, reuse tank and soil 
infiltration boxes. Receiving water body: soil (infiltration). Legislation: CONAMA 
Resolution 357/2005 and CONAMA Resolution 430/2011.

    *

Salvador/BA Wastewater is channeled to the local treatment plant. 34,346

São Caetano  
do Sul/SP Liquid waste is treated by the local concession operator.     *

Lençóis Pau-
lista (SP) Wastewater is channeled to the local treatment plant. *

Bento  
Gonçalves/RS

Biological treatment system - following treatment, the effluent is disposed of in 
the storm water system. Effluent quality is monitored under the relevant operation 
license and in accordance with applicable state and federal regulations.

8,074

Dias Branco 
Mill, Fortaleza 

(CE)
Effluent is directed to the local utility. *

Jaboatão 
dos Guarara-

pes/PE

Treatment: physical-chemical and biological activated sludge treatment. Allocation: 
92% of wastewater is reused internally (bathrooms, irrigation, façade washing, 
external surfaces and the wastewater treatment process) and 8% is directed to the 
Jaboatão River. Standard applied: CONAMA 357/05, 430/11 and CPRH 2001 Technical 
Standard. Treated effluent quality is monitored through internal and independent 
analyses, with analysis accuracy ensured by process controls.

8,458

Total 250,842

The methods of wastewater disposal and treatment at each plant is described in the table below: G4- EN22

ENERGY AND EMISSIONS

The Engineering department has delivered import-
ant improvements in energy management, an as-
pect which has become increasingly strategic for M. 
Dias Branco. In 2016 initiatives across the Company 
during Environment Week were geared to raising 
awareness about energy conservation. 

The results presented in the tables below showed an 
increase in natural gas consumption of 11.7% and 
substantial reduction of 67% in diesel consumption. 

Educational games with staff members on Energy conscientious consumption

* In these plants, discarded effluents are not measured, yet there are studies in progress.

G4-DMA

G4-DMA
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2015 2016
Var.%  

2016/2015

Energy consumption in the group (thousands of GJ) G4-EN3 1,935,052 2,158,445 11.5%

Electricity (thousands of GJ) 1,006 1,001 -0.5%

Natural Gas (thousands of GJ) 1,894,561 2,115,692 11.7%

LPG (thousands of GJ) 36,106 40,632 12.5%

Diesel (thousands of GJ) 3,379 1,120 -66.9%

Total energy consumption (thousands of GJ) 

Energy intensity (kwh/tonnes of product) G4-EN5

Energy efficiency initiatives and savings made

* In 2014 we reported only on electricity consumption without including the Jaboatão dos Guararapes (PE) site. 
From 2015 the total energy consumption of all plants will be disclosed. Energy consumption at distribution centers is 
negligible and has not been taken into account.

With regard to natural gas, transfer of production 
from the Jaboticabal/SP plant (since closed down) 
to the São Caetano do Sul/SP plant, gave rise to 
this increased demand, as Jaboticabal/SP used to 
operate with fuel oil. Moreover, adapting the boiler 
to work with natural gas in the Natal/RN plant was 
also responsible for the rise in demand.

The decline in diesel oil use by the Cabedelo/PB 
plant was of 98.6% due to non-use of generators 
during peak hours in 2016, while the Eusébio/CE 
plant did not run generating tests to ensure good 

working order, if required. Two-day testing was a 
practice adopted in 2015.

Energy intensity during 2016 rose by 19.7% as 
compared to the 2014 base-year, yet dropped by 
4.3% as compared to 2015. This decline is due to a 
rise in production of roughly 53% at São Caetano 
do Sul/SP and a 11.81 kwh per tonne variation in 
this plant’s energy intensity. Moreover, a 5.5% de-
crease in the volume produced, as well as a num-
ber of energy efficiency actions, were instrumen-
tal in reducing this indicator.

 2014 2015 2016
Var.%  

2016/2015
Var.%  

2016/2014

Energy intensity 102.63 138.95 133.04 -4.3% 29.6%

To continue pursuing a competitively priced elec-
tricity supply is a strategic business objective due 
its significant cost. In 2016 the Company migrat-
ed to the free energy market with three plants: 
Eusébio, Shortening and Special Margarines and 
Moinho Dias Branco - all in the state of Ceará.

Energy efficiency actions continued to make 
progress in 2016 with the use of more efficient 
lighting (LED) systems, acquisition of natural 
gas measuring instruments per production line, 
equipment replacement (low-efficiency motors 
and vacuum systems), optimized combustion in 

Competitively priced  
electricity

Energy efficiency

Furthermore, it has also agreed on acquiring elec-
tricity in this market for the Salvador/BA plant and 
the Rolândia/PR flour mill, with migration due for 
the first quarter of 2017. These actions equal R$ 
4.9 million in savings for 2016.

the cookie ovens and assessment of new energy 
sources (wind and solar).

Such actions put in place by a number of plants 
led to R$ 1.3 million in savings in 2016, as seen 
the table that follows.

Initiatives Savings (R$)

Automated triggering of the compressor pumps at Plant 02 (Cookies) at the Jaboatão dos Guararapes/
PE plant  48,714

Leak detection in the compressed air distribution system in the Salvador/BA and Maracanaú/CE plants  140,699 

LED luminaires in the cookie and pasta line warehouses at the Maracanaú/CE plant  59,414

LED luminaires at Plant 01 (Pasta) and Plant 02 (Cookies) at the Jaboatão dos Guararapes/PE plant  251,846

LED luminaires in the road system at the Eusébio/CE plant, Distribution Centers in Maracanaú/CE and 
Teresina/PI and the plant in Jaboatão dos Guararapes/PE  452,110

Flow meter and compressed air lung tank at the Eusébio/CE plant  57,624

Replacement of electric motors by the high-performance model at Factory 01 at the Jaboatão dos Guar-
arapes/PE plant  59,918

Wafer furnace fuel adjustments at the Jaboatão dos Guararapes/PE plant 248,919

Total 1,319,244

G4-DMA

G4-DMA
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M Dias Branco's emissions primarily relate to 
product transportation. The primary impacts 
from transportation (of people and goods) are: 
noise pollution, greenhouse gas emissions and 
scrap and spent materials (tires, lubricants, etc.). 

The logistics department manages the emissions 
of the company’s fleet, with the aid of supply sys-
tems which were merged in 2016. All vehicles 
purchased from 2013 have SCR/EGR technology 

As for atmospheric emissions from more signifi-
cant fixed sources - NOx and SOx - the Company 
complies entirely with standards defined by envi-
ronmental bodies. G4-EN21

• CONAMA Resolution 436/2011 (Appendix I); 
CONAMA Resolution 382/2006 (Appendix II). 
CETESB L9.221 JUL/1990 Determination of Sam-
pling Points in Ducts and Stacks - Procedure; 

• CETESB L9.223 Jun/1992 Emissions in Ducts and 
Stacks – Determination of Particulate Matter - 
Dry Basis - Analysis methods;

• NBR 11966/89 Emissions in Ducts and Stacks - 

Annualized GHG fossil fuel emissions rose in 2016 
as opposed to 2015, albeit with less vehicles in 
the fleet. On the other hand, emission intensity 
(tCO2e fossil/ liters) reflected a 3.6% decline as 
compared to the 2014 base-year, albeit with 26 
more vehicles in the fleet. This evidences that effi-
cient fleet management was successful.

Lower fossil fuel intensity

that is compliant with Proconve P7 (Vehicle Air 
Pollution Control Program). These vehicles are 
more fuel-efficient and produce less emissions. 
G4-EN30

 
During 2017 a stakeholder company will provide 
training in cost-effective driving at every plant 
that has its own distribution fleet, in order to pro-
vide greater awareness to our drivers on the use 
of fuel.

Year
Number of 

carriers
Fuel  

(liters)

Amount 
spent  

(R$ 
thou-
sand)

Fossil 
CO2  

(met-
ric 

ton)
CH4 

(tCO2e)
N2O 

(tCO2e)

Monthly 
Green-

house Gas 
Emissions  

(tCO2e)

Monthly 
biomass 

emissions 
(tCO2e)

Monthly 
total GEE 
emissions 

(tCO2e) 
G4-EN15

2014 597 2,832,588 7,212 6,971 12 30 7,014 402 7,416

2015 627 3,545,298 10,489 8,305 18 144 8,467 685 9,152

2016 623 3,563,218 11,310 8,346 9 67 8,509 690 9,199

Consolidated data on operating the Company’s fleet and GHG emissions (in tonnes) G4-EN15 

120,000 

Annual fossil GHG emissions and intensity
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Annual fossil GHG emissions (tCO2e)
Intensity of emissions (tCO2e/Liters)

102,107

Velocity and Flow Rate – Test Method;

• NBR 11967/89 Emissions in Ducts and Stacks - 
Moisture Determination - Test Method;

• NBR 12019/90 Emissions in Ducts and Stacks 
- Determination of Particulate Matter - Test 
Method 

• Method US - EPA7B and CETESB L9. 229: Emis-
sions in Ducts and Stacks – Determination of 
Nitrogen Oxides.

• Method US - EPA3: Determination of CO, CO2 
and O2.

COMMUNITIES & SOCIAL 
INVESTMENT

G4-DMA Social actions by M. Dias Branco managed by 
the Sustainability area and supported by the plants’ 
administrative department, are centered on spon-
soring social, cultural and environmental projects by 
means of:

• Incentive Laws and direct project support.

• Donations of food, assets and equipment.

• Volunteer actions in  
partner organizations.

• Activities in the facilities  
of several plants.

As described in the course of this section, donations 
of food, volunteer actions and direct support by 
means of Incentive Laws have allowed the Company 
to put in place commitment actions in 100% of the 
manufacturing plants in 2016 (46% of plants in 2015 
and 8% in 2014). G4-S01

Social investments rose during 2016 with a concen-
tration of funds in Ceará, as Company headquarters 
are located in this state, in addition to four produc-
tive plants. Whenever possible the Company priori-
tizes support to organizations close to the plants and 
of which the scope of activities is in line with our So-
cial Responsibility Policy.  

G4-DMA
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The company holds meetings and makes periodic visits 
to the entities that are supported, as part of its gover-
nance model. During 2016, 27 visits were made to orga-
nizations that are given monthly donations, and 9 to proj-
ects supported throughout Brazil by tax incentive laws. 
These visits are made jointly with community leaderships 
with whom the Company has direct communications 
and a permanent dialog.

The project aims at training in sports by means of a profes-
sional coach for base categories (children and teenagers) It 
contributes by enhancing coordination and physical abilities 
of the beneficiaries.

Focused on community children and teenagers through 
a partnership with other companies, 390 children from 
7 to 16 years of age are assisted, as well as 30 adult 
drug addicts. These actions provide beneficiaries with 
an expressive quality of life improvement, positively 
occupying idle time and providing new prospects for the 

Regional distribution of
incentivized social investment in 2016

Ceará

Northeast (except CE)

South and South-east

12.8%

8.7%

78.5%

As opposed to 2015, when the Company donated 
R$ 2.8 million in own funds for social projects and 
R$ 727 thousand under tax incentive laws. In 2016 
priority was granted to funding projects benefit-
ed under tax incentive laws.

Incentive laws  
and direct support

Allocation of social investment between
own and incentivized resources

Own Incentivized

2016

2015

2014

0 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%

96.1%

79.4%

27.8%

20.6%

72.2%

3.9%

Funds 2014 2015 2016

Own 575,000 2,800,000 160,000

Incentivized 1,490,000 727,000 3,995,600

Total 2,065,000 3.527,000 4,155,600

Social investment (R$)

This year a total of R$ 3.9 million was allocated to 
projects under the Rouanet Law, Children’s and 
Young People’s Protection Fund, Law for Encour-
aging Sport and Senior Citizens’ Law. The total sum 
invested almost doubled over the 2014 base-year.

Engagement in projects 
supported by tax incentive laws 
in 2016 G4-SO1

Sociedade Educativa Cultural 
Poliesportiva Bento Gonçalves

Life and Sport III

Plant/City: Bento Gonçalves/RS 
Value of the project: R$ 744,943
Social investment MDB 2016: R$ 140,000

Plant/City: Fortaleza/CE
Value of the project: R$ 320,000
Social investment MDB 2016: R$ 160,000

Sports Law Total R$ 300,000

The project encourages sporting practices and education.
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Activities in art, culture and education, of which the target 
public are teenagers and young people subject to signif-
icant social disadvantages. A global reference with the 
cultural order of merit, it had been facing a major challenge 
in ensuring its continuity when the Company was attracted 
and invested in a tax incentive project. The action cares for 
250 children and teenagers, and also provides support to 
family members. Several prizes were awarded by Unesco, 
Unicef and Funarte. We are currently the master sponsors.

This project aims to provide the public with 1500 copies of 
a book documenting the poetry and creative process in the 
works of contemporary artist Rian Fontenele.

A cycle of lectures on the multicultural influence 
in the formation of the northeastern population, 
with stress on the importance of contributions by 
different peoples in the cultural and ethnic features 
of the Brazilian northeastern region.

Develops 15 genuine locally produced cultural projects in 
the state of Ceará by means of processes, artistic research 
and guidance by nationally renowned consultants in visual 
audio and performing arts such as theater and dancing.

• Book: A Brief History of Architecture in Ceará - Demócrito 
Rocha Foundation. A harmonious work publication in a 
special format and a 1000-copy edition, displaying the 
scenario of our historical architecture (from the period of 
street planners) and its practitioners, its importance in the 
state’s development and relevance as a cultural expres-
sion. Consisting of a book, DVD (documentary) and a 
project-launching event.

• Motion Picture: Padre Cícero 40 years/The Film - Demócrito 
Rocha Foundation. Brings to light, records and documents 
the memory of the “Padre Cicero” Brazilian motion picture 
production, the northeastern region’s patriarch. The first 
fiction film production on the life of the priest and the first 
color feature-film entirely run in Ceará.

Edisca

Rian Fontenele 
Gilberto Freyre 

Dragão do Mar Creation Laboratory

O Povo

Plant/City: Fortaleza/CE 
Value of the project: R$ 682,583
Social investment MDB 2016: R$ 450,000

Plant/City: Fortaleza/CE 
Value of the project: R$ 360,789
Social investment MDB 2016: R$ 250,000

Plant/City: Fortaleza/CE
Value of the project: R$ 283,108
Social investment MDB 2016: R$ 100,000

Plant/City: Fortaleza/CE
Value of the project: R$ 1,309,700
Social investment MDB 2016: R$ 170,000

Plant/City: All plants in Ceará  
state
Value of the projects: R$ 449,822 and 501,090
Social investment MDB 2016: R$ 400,000

Rouanet Total R$ 2,420,600

Support by M. Dias Branco allows maintaining a social project that is a world reference. 
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Provides encouragement for communications between 
music students from Ceará and key exponents of Brazilian 
instrumental music, providing advanced learning in 
musical workshops and attracting audiences by means 
of concerts held by these artists. Performances are held 
in the project’s theater, located on land provided by the 
Company, as well as in the Eusébio/CE plant.

Owing to its features as a street folk theater, the city of 
Recife has adopted this show as one of its chief Christmas 
celebrations.  The play recites the story of the birth of 
the little boy Jesus and is performed on the Ground Zero 
public square to an audience of 70,000 persons from 
different walks of life, free of charge. 

Develops orchestra, choir and musical initiation practice 
in a partnership with Obras Sociais da Irmã Dulce (OSID), 
with teenagers and young people from the Aratu/BA 
region. The project creates sensitivity and involvement 
with music by the community and benefits institutions 
near the Salvador/BA plant.

Tapera das Artes - Encontro mestre 
aprendiz - Tocando Fortíssimo

Baile Menino Deus (Ronaldo Brito)
Núcleos Estaduais de Orquestras 
Juvenis e Infantis da Bahia (Neojiba)

Plant/City: Eusébio/CE, Special 
Shortening and Margarines and Dias 
Branco Mill - Aquiraz/CE 
Value of the project: R$ 682,583
Social investment MDB 2016: R$ 360,000

Plant/City: Recife/PE 
Value of the project: R$ 1,137,500
Social investment MDB 2016: R$ 100,000

Plant/City: Salvador/BA 
Value of the project: R$ 8,177,289
Social investment MDB 2016: R$ 290,000

Children are given music lessons by masters in Brazilian music.

Encourages a musical sense in needy young people by 
means of specific courses, enhancing creativity, sensitivity 
and creating opportunities for artistic expressions. It 
exploits domestic and international musical concepts, 
with musical and cultural interchange in 7 to 15 year-old 
children’s groups. The Mauro Sales School was selected 
as a project beneficiary. Performances have been held for 
Company staff members.

A multimedia artistic work by José Tarcísio Ramos, a native 
of Ceará, who reveals his 55 years as an artist by handing 
out 1000 copies.

This museum is based on a cultural policy anchored on 
the principles of democracy, which encourage a leisurely 
culture and defense of the right to have fun. Its collection 
is also employed as a tool by investigators from different 
universities in Brazil with topics of traditional toys, playful 
arts, design, visual arts workshops and folk dancing. It has 
hosted 50,000 visitors.

Um Toque de Vida - Acordes do Coração

Zé Tarcísio 

Museu Brinquedim - Growing with Art

Plant/City: Cedro/CE
Value of the project: R$ 60,000
Social investment MDB 2016: R$ 60,000

Plant/City: João Pessoa/PB
Value of the project: R$ 50,000
Social investment MDB 2016: R$ 50,000

Plant/City: Natal/RN
Value of the project: R$ 50,000
Social investment MDB 2016: R$ 50,000

Plant/City: Fortaleza/CE
Value of the project: 283,108
Social investment MDB 2016: 40,000

Plant/City: Fortaleza/CE
Social investment MDB 2016: R$ 40,600
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Children’s and Young 
People’s  Total R$ 630,000

It embodies assistance, educational, sporting, health, 
study, research and cultural features, among others. 
It caters for persons handicapped from birth to their 
old age in the São Caetano do Sul/SP community, with 
sporting activities, skating, dancing, gym, games, IT, 
music and visual arts. The project supported by M. 
Dias Branco will assist 32 members experienced in 
instruments. In addition to the allocated funds, staff 
members acted as volunteers during children’s month.

Caters full-time for children from 4 months to 3 years 
and 11 months. Contributes in improving quality of life 
of Maracanaú/CE community dwellers, including with 
actions aimed at family members and the community as 
a whole. We provide donations of goods every month, 
and during children’s month staff members acted as 
nursery volunteers.

APAE

Pleno Viver Nursery - Terra Foundation

Plant/City: São Caetano do Sul/SP 
Value of the project: R$ 34,526
Social investment MDB 2016: R$ 34,000

Plant/City: Maracanaú/CE 
Value of the project: R$ 519,228
Social investment MDB 2016: R$ 216,000

M. Dias Branco supports the APAE center located near the São Caetano do Sul/

The Association focuses on dancing lessons for children 
and teenagers in a social exclusion risk situation and caters 
for a public of 150 beneficiaries. Its object is to cultivate 
regional folk references by means of social and cultural as 
well as educational activities, in one of the five major areas of 
violence in the city of Fortaleza/CE, aiming at improving the 
community’s quality of life.

The Association has been active for over 20 years in 
raising the healing rate and improving quality of life of 
children and teenagers with cancer, as well as of their 
family members. It runs a hospital that operates by means 
of three guidelines: specialized treatment, humanized 
assistance and early diagnosis. In 2016, 2365 children 
and teenagers were assisted, and the hospital is currently 
a reference in Brazil. The Company cooperated with 
the McHappy Day social initiative by purchasing 2340 
sandwiches (which were donated to Company staff 
members and pupils of Manoel Ferreira Gomes School, 
located in the surroundings of the Eusébio/CE) plant. In 
addition, M. Dias Branco made a number of donations of 
goods and products to the Association.

Favors social and cultural inclusion for children and young 
people subject to social vulnerability, converting children 
into citizens through sporting practices (ballet and judo) 
and social inclusion. The project develops its activities at 
Maria Felícia school located close to the Shortening and 
Special Margarines plant.

Vidança* Association

Peter Pan 

Group of Dancers  
Cristo Amor e Doações (BCAD)

Plant/City: Fortaleza/CE 
Value of the project: R$ 189,000
Social investment MDB 2016: R$ 80,000

Plant/City: Fortaleza/CE
Value of the project: R$ 3,234,000
Social investment MDB 2016: R$ 100,000

Plant/City: Fortaleza-CE
Value of the project: R$ 129,000
Social investment MDB 2016: R$ 60,000

* The investment’s value was 50% funded by M. Dias Branco and 50% by the controlling shareholder (DIBRA).
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The entity caters on a daily basis for 250 children and 
teenagers and their family members subject to a social 
vulnerability situation, strengthening bonds and 
encouraging socializing through music. In addition to 
the allocated funds, staff members acted as volunteers 
during children’s month.

Shelters annually 50 children and teenagers who live in, 
and focuses on institutional assistance by working with 
the family in order to overcome the reasons that gave rise 
to sheltering. Staff members acted as volunteers in the 
institution.

Cares for children’s and teenagers’ health by means 
of assistance, teaching and research. Benefits 
communities around the Pinhais and Rolândia 
plants as well as all the state of Paraná.

Abraçaí

Abrigo Amorada Home 

Pequeno Príncipe Hospital 

Plant/City: Bento Gonçalves/RS
Value of the project: R$ 159,401
Social investment MDB 2016: R$ 90,000

Plant/City: Lençois Paulista/SP
Value of the project: R$ 25,000
Social investment MDB 2016: R$ 25,000

Plant/City: Paraná
Value of the project: R$ 13,000,000
Social investment MDB 2016: R$ 25,000

Senior law Total R$ 630,000

There are two hospitals under its administration, 
one is a general hospital and the other a 
psychiatric ward, and together they have 486 
beds, of which 94% are reserved for Brazil's 
National Health Service - SUS patients. In parallel 
to the chief activity, the institution runs the 
São João Batista Cemetery, which revenues 
contribute to the hospital’s maintenance.

The chief customer is SUS, the Santa Casa health 
provider has detected that partnerships are a 
means of obtaining the required investments to 
preserve its activities. The Company is its chief 
partner, as its donations contribute to making 
investments

The entity’s object is to fully assist senior citizens, 
seeking to ensure and preserve their rights and a 
life with dignity. It provide assistance and long-term 
shelter to 220 senior citizens. 

There are 26 senior citizens living in the Association, who 
perform activities such as therapy, physiotherapy, spiritual 
activities, handicraft courses, gardening, music, poetry and 
motivational activities. The Institution has existed for 37 
years in Fortaleza

Irmandade Santa Casa de 
Misericórdia de Fortaleza**

Torres de Melo Home

Associação Regional da  
Caridade de São Vicente de Paulo

Plant/City: Fortaleza/CE 
Value of the project: R$ 2,225,000
Social investment MDB 2016: R$ 280,000

Plant/City: Maracanaú/CE 
Value of the project: R$ 3,780,909
Social investment MDB 2016: R$ 250,000

Plant/City: Fortaleza/CE 
Social investment MDB 2016: R$ 100,000

Financial contribution makes it possible to maintain 
the hospital, benefiting all of society

** The investment’s value was 89% funded by M. Dias Branco and 11% by the controlling shareholder (DIBRA).

Abraçaí Project in Bento Gonçalves
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For example, in Maracanaú/CE we are support-
ing a nursery that promotes cultural and social 
inclusion of socially vulnerable children, seek-
ing to transform their realities. As is the case of 
the plants, we donate products. The company 
also maintains a partnership with a local social 
project, focused on the preparation of athletes 
with disabilities.

Similar initiatives take place in Lençóis Paulista/
SP, Jaboatão dos Guararapes/PE, Cabedelo/PB 
and Natal/RN. At the Rolândia/PR and São Cae-
tano do Sul/SP plants the supported entities 
ensure assistance to community members who 
require their services. 

All the entities supported by the Company are 
engaged in aspects related to local develop-
ment in industrial zones located in urban areas, 
such as health, education, culture and the envi-
ronment, with priority for the vulnerable pub-
lic such as children, young people and senior 
citizens. 

In recent years M. Dias Branco structured its 
Social Investment Policy (Food and Goods 
Donation Policy) and its Relationship with the 
Surroundings Plan. In the next few years the 
intention is to develop a methodology for as-
sessing social investment impacts. Moreover, in 
2017 it is planned to strengthen relationships 
with nearby community leaderships in the four 
Ceará plants and that of Bento Gonçalves/RS. 

There were no operations in 2016 with signifi-
cant adverse impacts in the nearby local com-
munities of any of the plants. G4-SO2

Furthermore 1629 items of uniforms were donat-
ed that could no longer be used by staff mem-
bers. Donations are made after removing the 
Company’ logo and benefit seamstresses close to 
the Eusébio/CE plant, who make use of the fabric.  

In 2016, 100 computers were donated to the Ma-
racanaú/CE plant, to teach young people how to 
assemble and make use of existing parts. Com-
puters also employed in professional training 
courses.

In order to formalize recognition to the social 
projects benefited, plaques were placed in all of 
the supported organizations, confirming that M. 
Dias Branco supports the social work undertaken 
on that spot. 

In addition to the mentioned projects, the Com-
pany has allocated funds from Ceará state incen-
tives for two projects: Mauro Sales School (R$ 
45,000.00) and Pizon Association (R$ 30,000.00). 
As direct support, M. Dias Branco invested R$ 
160,000.00 in the Ceará Natal de Luz project.
 

Interacting with communities
 The social investment and communities work 
group benefits from the participation of the Le-
gal, Human Resources, Sustainability and Envi-
ronment Departments and seeks to discuss and 
assess the social and environmental impacts 
jointly with the communities. In 2016 the Compa-
ny put in place commitment and relationship ac-
tions with the surrounding communities in 100% 
of its plants (in 2015, 46% of plants and in 2014, 
8%), as shown below. G4-S01

The Company invests in basic environmental edu-
cation actions aimed at the surrounding commu-
nities. It supports institutions of the community 
and government agencies, in addition to provid-
ing a team of professionals who offer environ-
mental management programs with internal and 
external activities. G4-27

The environmental issues of the Salvador/BA plant 
are given special attention, because its environ-
mental assets are represented by green masses of 
forests and mangroves, which are home to a rich 
diversity of species of flora and fauna. The need 
to ensure the protection of natural attributes and 
establish rules for co-existence between the eco-
systems and industrial activities has turned this 
region into the Environmental Protection Area 
(APA) of Baía de Todos os Santos.

The plant has drawn up a plan for environmental 
management based on environmental charac-
teristics of the area, which ensures appropriate 
industrial practices. Environmental water, air, 
waste and green area control programs are de-
veloped, in addition to programs encouraging 
research and monitoring of the terrestrial fauna, 
the environmental education of the surrounding 
communities, the study of the vegetation and re-
forestation.

With respect to the APA, the Company has a com-
plete infrastructure for producing and planting 
seedlings of native species used in reforestation 
and landscaping. In the nursery 3,900 seedlings 
are produced quarterly, which are monitored un-
til they reach the planting stage.

In this plant the company supports alternative 
income projects, such as for example Na Arte do 
Corte e da Costura (The Art of Modeling and Sew-
ing) and educational projects such as Plantando 
Tudo Dá (Everything Grows when Planted), Brin-
car e Aprender (Playing and Learning) and Re-
forçando o Conhecimento (Stressing Knowledge). 
The Company also supports cultural actions in the 
community, celebrates commemorative dates, 
holds campaigns, lectures and training courses. 
G4-EC8

The positive environmental impact is environ-
mental awareness developed through projects 
supported by M. Dias Branco for children, fisher-
men, shellfish gatherers and all the community 
that live in the vicinity of the plant.

At the plant in Bento Gonçalves/RS the company 
evaluates environmental impacts and continu-
ously monitors them, due to the installation of a 
new mill. At the Manoel Ferreira Gomes school, 
situated next to the sewage treatment plant of 
the Eusébio/CE plant, the Company carries out 
environmental impact assessments and continu-
ous monitoring with the community. G4-SO1 
 
At the Fortaleza/CE, Shortening and Special 
margarines and Moinho Dias Branco plants, the 
Company attends monthly meetings with rep-
resentative from the surrounding communities, 
neighboring companies and local and state gov-
ernment bodies, to assess environmental impacts 
and ongoing monitoring. This relationship pro-
vides the means of monitoring local community 
needs. G4-SO1

In all other communities, though there have no 
complaints on environmental impacts, preven-
tive assessments have always been performed. 
We also support social, sporting and cultural ac-
tions in these plants.
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The Food Donation Policy prepared in 2014 was 
finally implemented in 2016 with uniform internal 
procedures for all the plants, and with criteria for 
the selection of beneficiary organizations. Dona-
tions are made every week of goods within their 
valid dates, yet with an imminent expiry date that 
prevents their sale.

 
Donations of goods rose to R$ 487 thousand in 2016 
(R$ 696 thousand in 2015), handed out during the 
year to 120 organizations (63 in 2015) located in the 
surroundings of manufacturing plants and distribu-
tion centers. The number of organizations benefit-
ed almost doubled in relation to the previous year, 
though their value decreased. G4-EC8
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Staff members were invited in 2016 to partici-
pate more actively, by delivering donations or 
by acting as facilitators at lectures held in public 
schools.

The Presentes que Causam Sorrisos (Gifts that 
Bring Smiles) campaign, staff members partici-
pated with donations of toys and new and semi-
new books, gave lessons and organized entertain-
ment. This action was attended by 193 volunteer 
staff members in Brazil, engaged in a number of 
activities in schools located close to the plants. In 
all, 2735 toys and books were donated to schools, 
benefiting 1791 children.

In the Eusébio/CE plant, the School Project is in 
charge of an important action involving students 
of public and private school institutions and uni-
versities, and receives daily visits from 6 to 12 
year-old as well as university students. This ac-
tion aims at strengthening relations with our con-
sumer customers and the community in general, 
reaching out to a well diversified public. The work 
performed discloses our brands and goods in a 
welcoming and playful manner.  

We rely on a team of trained professionals and a 
complete infrastructure to provide guided tours, 
including a theater performance with education-
al topics, in addition to significant experience of 
seeing the manufacturing process for cookies and 
pasta. The School Project also holds other social 
and cultural actions such as visits by the offspring 
of staff members, theater performances in schools 
and educational associations of which we are part-
ners, as well as events at supermarket points of 
sale. G4-EC8

Voluntary Social and cultural 
activities in the plants 

Plant Entity
Children 

benefited
Toys 

collected 
Volunteers

Eusébio (CE) Escola Mauro Sales 100 316 21

Fortaleza/CE Escola Maria Felício 389 389 11

Maracanaú/CE Fundação Terra-Creche Pleno Viver 115 168 20

Jaboatão dos Guararapes/PE Escola Cristo Vive 90 270 18

Salvador/BA Pérola de Cristo 83 400 25

São Caetano do Sul/SP APAE- Association of Parents and Friends 
of Handicapped Persons 280 400 33

Lençóis Paulista (SP) Abrigo Amorada Home 30 30 1

Bento Gonçalves/RS Abraçaí 61 61 6

Natal/RN Escola Estadual Izabel Gondin 70 100 20

João Pessoa/PB Casa Pequeno Davi 46 50 10

CD São Luís/MA Associação Comunitária Lar Educação 150 150 6

CD Crato/CE Creche São Miguel 70 80 6

CD Teresina/PI ○Centro de Apoio à Criança “Michele de 
Gruttola” 57 71 10

CD Manaus Instituto Filippo Smaldone 250 250 6

Total 1,791 2,735 193

Results of the campaign 
“Presents that Cause Smiles” in 2016

Needy children and young people require atten-
tion, care and guidance on the future and how 
to care for the environment with greater aware-
ness. To this end M. Dias Branco relies on a Junior 
Achievement partnership for supporting volun-
teer actions in schools close to its plants. In 2016 
staff members from the Eusébio/CE, Shortening 
and Special Margarines and Moinho Dias Bran-
co, Fortaleza/CE, Maracanaú/CE and Jaboatão 
dos Guararapes/PE plants attended classrooms 
to participate in these young people’s education. 
The topic selected was the importance of educa-
tion for the future of pupils. G4-EC8

The School Project hosted over 100 schools and 50 
universities in 2016, totaling over 12 thousand visi-
tors. It has become a reference in company visiting 
programs, with the sharing of its lessons with other 
company professionals, who decided to adopt this 
system for visits by their customers.

The Company has leisure facilities in manufactur-
ing plants. We highlight the M. Dias Branco Cultural 
Center, which fosters culture and welfare of em-
ployees, providing a reading room, games room, 
multimedia room, art gallery, leisure room, cin-
emas and TV rooms, theater and a library with a 
diversified and updated collection, benefiting over 
2000 staff members with loans of books. It also 
sponsors cultural and educational activities such 
as art workshops, plays and musical performances.

In 2016, more than 900 employees participated in 
the refresher courses in arts. Musical performanc-
es have been held with choirs and the vocal group 
Tarantella and the Massa Brasil band, benefiting 
over 2000 staff members with the art of music.

Visitors can follow the 60+ years of the Company’s background
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Theater performance courses were also provided, 
forming the Artemassa artistic group that benefits 
200 employees. A number of cultural events were 
held such as the traditional Arraiá Cultural (tradi-
tional feast held in June), with a diversified pro-
gram that benefited 3000 staff members. Another 
cultural action deserving mention was the Indoor 
Games Championship in which 300 employees 
participated. The theater group held 120 perfor-
mances, in addition to Sexta Musical, an event held 
every week and on special dates.

Cultural activities are also actions by the Salvador/
BA and Jaboatão dos Guararapes/PE plants. The 
Vitarella Cultural Center in the Jaboatão dos Guar-
arapes plant inaugurated the Ivens Dias Branco 
Library, which provides employees with a collec-
tion of 3166 books, and encouraging reading by 

means of educational campaigns, thus benefiting 
over 1000 staff members in 2016. The Center has 
facilities with a games room, multimedia room, TV 
room, resting room and arts room. Several work-
shops were held during 2016 such as: origami, 
clay sculpturing, painting on fabrics, art with felt, 
canvas and cardboard recycling, which brought to 
light talents and benefited 400 employees.

Several workshops were held during 2016 such as: 
origami, clay sculpturing, painting on fabrics, art 
with felt, canvas and cardboard recycling, as part 
of the company’s sustainability actions and which 
brought to light many talents and benefited 400 
employees.

Performances were held by Coral Canta Vitarella 
with regional music in several venues in Pernam-
buco and Paraíba, valuing local art and culture and 
benefiting 5000 persons in Recife.

Furthermore, in 2016 the 1st Indoor Games Cham-
pionship was held, with awards for the best three 
competitors and benefiting 200 employees, who 
competed during this first edition of the Champi-
onship.

A number of cultural events were implemented in 
2016 in the Salvador/BA plant, located in the Aratú 
bay area. Creation of the GMA choir benefited 18 
staff members, who held six musical performanc-
es for our employees. The plant also has a games 
room, resting room and cinema room as employee 
leisure facilities. Art workshops were held for with 
53 participants, with materials recycled by our em-
ployees/volunteers on commemorative dates in 
addition to musical events, in particular Cultural 
Friday and the Music Festival, with 85 participants.

Ivens Dias Branco Memorial

The M. Dias Branco Historical Center located in Eu-
sébio/CE retrieves and preserves the Company’s 
background through a vast collection of texts, 
documents, photos, packaging, machinery, audio, 
images, trophies, relics and commercials. The area 
consists of five theme environments in which vis-
itors may see the arrival of the founder, Manuel 
Dias Branco in Brazil, as well as the most recent 
events.

Guided visits assist the internal and external public 
with educational activities. We held a commemora-
tive event for the Company’s 63 years that benefit-
ed 2000 employees. In 2016, the Historical Center 
received more than 10 thousand visitors. 
 
Another historical landmark is the Ivens Dias Bran-
co Memorial inaugurated in December 2016, next 
to the M. Dias Branco Historical Center. 

Games Room at Eusébio/CE Cultural Center
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Employee profile at 12/31/2016. G4-10

The adoption of management tools and the in-
vestment in training stimulate the teams in all 
the plants to make a collective effort to achieve 
corporate results. The Company therefore encour-
ages professional growth set out in the Personnel 
Management Policy*.

In 2016, the investment in the development and 
appreciation of the internal public was R$ 229.1 
million (R$ 203.5 million in 2015 and R$ 191.9 mil-
lion in 2014), including occupational health and 
assistance programs, food, transport, labor safety, 
training , profit sharing and other benefits. 

TRANSPARENCY  
AND ENGAGEMENT 

* More information on the policy for people management can be obtained at www.mdiasbranco.com.br/gestao-de-pessoas/. 

 * This figure excludes trainees and persons retired due to disability.

In 2016 the Company had a headcount of 16,460* employees, 4.8% less than in 2015. The profile of the 
employees distributed by age group, gender, geographic region, career level and area is described in 
the following table. Most of our employees are in the industrial area in operational-level jobs, followed 
by the commercial area (salespersons and sales promoters). The gender profile remained unchanged 
on the previous year, i.e. 73% are men and 27% women.

Development and recognition of  
human capital

Employee profile

Sex

2015 2016 Var.%  
2016/2015Qty. % Qty. %

Female 4,612 26.7% 4,378 26.6% -5.1%

Men 12,680 73.3% 12,082 73.4% -4.7%

Age Qty. % Qty. %
Var.%  

2016/2015 

Up to 25 years 3,143 18.2% 2,703 16.4% -14.0%

26 to 35 7,401 42.8% 6,660 40.5% -10.0%

36 to 45 4,576 26.5% 4,721 28.7% 3.2%

46 to 55 1,821 10.5% 1,941 11.8% 6.6%

Over 56 years 351 2.0% 435 2.6% 23.9%

Region Qty. % Qty. %
Var.%  

2016/2015 

Midwest 80 0.5% 85 0.5% 6.3%

Northeast Region 14,442 83.5% 13,518 82.1% -6.4%

North Wales 70 0.4% 68 0.4% -2.9%

South East Wales 1,615 9.3% 1,626 9.9% 0.7%

South Region 1,085 6.3% 1,163 7.1% 7.2%

Area Qty. % Qty. %
Var.%  

2016/2015 

Administrative 1,789 10.3% 1,839 11.2% 2.8%

Commercial 3,670 21.2% 3,286 20.0% -10.5%

Industrial 9,421 54.5% 9,048 55.0% -4.0%

Logistics 2,412 13.9% 2,287 13.9% -5.2%

Career level Qty. % Qty. %
Var.%  

2016/2015 

Specialists  
(professionals and 
analysts)

647 3.7% 621 3.8% -4.0%

Management 1,188 6.9% 1,162 7.1% -2.2%

Operational 12,235 70.8% 11,792 71.6% -3.6%

Sales and promotion 3,222 18.6% 2,885 17.5% -10.5%

Grand Total 17,292  16,460  -4.8%

The figures for 2015 do not include retired staff. From 2016 we began including these employees in the table below.
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In 2016 the M. Dias Branco Corporate University offered on-site and remote training courses given 
by external partners and by its own employees, focused on the Company’s interests, objectives and 
strategies. In the course of 2016 over 697 thousand hours of training (over 700 thousand in 2015) held 
on-site as well as remotely.

In response to challenges during 2016, the Man-
agement PDL contents were related to the annu-
al targets and the Company’s strategic guidance. 
The contents’ greater part was taught by direc-
tors, and leadership participation throughout the 
country was assured by live broadcasting based 
on the event held at company headquarters, with 
optimal results. 

For middle leadership and operating leadership, 
the year’s programming stressed the develop-
ment of cooperative skills and team work. In all, 
there were 1,158 leaders, generating over 11,922 
thousand hours of training.

Seeking to strengthen dissemination of knowledge among staff members and an interchange of ex-
periences, the Partners of Knowledge Program was intensified in 2016. This action resulted in 15,627 
hours of training provided by employees themselves, with 6087 training opportunities in 296 classes 
and covering 111 topics. This program constantly stimulates the development of competencies, help-
ing to develop a culture of sharing that values internal teams and favors business,

On-line training opportunities rose to 5000 in 2016. Courses provided covered topics in areas of Ad-
ministration and Management, IT, the Environment and Welfare, among others. This form of learning 
allows staff members to expand opportunities for keeping updated in a simple and accessible manner.  

A number of on-site training courses were held 
in the plants or through video-conference (under 
the rationalizing spirit of the R3 Campaign - Re-
think, Reduce, Reinvent) on new SGI corporate 
procedures, totaling 6597 hours of training by 
means of the Corporate University. Teams were 
organized for training in the Problem Solving 
Analysis Methodology (MASP), to train staff mem-
bers in the use of quality tools to analyze the root 
cause of problems and creation of corrective and 
preventive actions.

Corporate Education

Leadership Development Program - PDL

On-line Education

Industrial Management System Training 

Partners of Knowledge 

 
2014 2015 2016

Var.%  
2016/2015

Var.%  
2016/2014

Total average 36.68 42.70 44.42 4% 21%

Average hours of training accumulated until December by gender 
 

Men 32.11 35.54 37.50 6% 17%

Female 48.87 63.01 64.18 2% 31%

Average hours of accumulated training until December by career level

Specialists (professionals and analysts) 55.55 72.86 50.74 -30% -9%

Management Level 49.15 47.92 45.33 -5% -8%

Operational Level 40.31 48.75 50.04 3% 24%

Sales Level (Sales and Promotion) 13.69 11.80 19.71 67% 44%

Average number of hours of training per employee, broken down by 
gender and functional category  G4-LA9

* Does not include trainees and persons retired due to 

The Team Development Program was launched 
in 2016, viewing corporate directors and direct-
ly related leaderships. The program aims at de-
veloping individual and collective competencies 
that ease the area’s strategic objectives, in addi-
tion to strengthening bonds among team mem-
bers in connection with area’s mission and its 
impact on business. A pilot class was organized 
and it is planned to proceed with other directors 
in the coming years.
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Leaders talk to their team’s staff members on strong points and improvement opportunities.

The purpose of this program is to develop the 
employees’ skills, aiming at continuous improve-
ment in individual and collective performance. 
The model adopted in M. Dias Branco for contin-
ued performance management strengthens the 
alignment of individual and strategic goals, pro-
vides background information for promotions, 
career moves and selections, identifies training 
and development needs, consolidates the culture 
of meritocracy, strengthens the leadership and 
enhances the organizational climate.

The performance management model compris-
es calibration tables to enrich the perception of 

Another important action for our employees was the creation of Development Forums. These forums 
in 2016 were focused on driving integration by staff members under a same director, discussing topics 
of interest to the area under the respective director’s guidance. Meetings were held on-site or through 
video-conference, with the participation in some cases of another invited director. During the year, 10 
Meetings were held and involved 834 training hours.

Performance management

Development Forums 

Benefits granted to employees G4-LA2

the performance of the employees by their areas, 
clients and suppliers. Individual feedback is pro-
vided after the calibration tables, with prepara-
tion jointly by the manager and employee evalu-
ated of their respective Individual development 
plan - IDP. At the end of each assessment cycle, 
acknowledgment will occur of staff members 
deemed as outstanding by the Company.  

The program currently includes 1359 partic-
ipants, all of whom occupy specialist, middle 
leadership and managerial positions.  G4-LA11

Availability 

Type of Benefits 
All  

employees
All industrial 

plants

Life insurance  
Health care plan  
Meals (in the company's refectory or luncheon vouchers)  
Food (Food vouchers)  
Agreements with institutions (discounts for employees in pharmacies, universities, lan-
guage courses, gyms, opticians, schools)  

Christmas hamper of the Company's products  
Transport (specific route or transport vouchers)  
Profit sharing program*

Program for gymnastics in the workplace**

Quality of life program (leisure structures for employees, vaccination campaigns, lectures 
for raising awareness concerning occupational health and safety)

Recognition for service time 

*Except apprentices.
** Except the plants Bento Gonçalves/RS and Rolândia/PR

G4-DMA
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In 2014 M. Dias Branco accepted applications for its second Trainee Program, with the enrollment of 
roughly 8000 young talents from all over Brazil, among whom were company employees. Following 
a careful selection, 20 candidates were selected to be included in this team. In January 2016, 17 of 
these young people concluded the Program and were assigned to strategic positions in a number of 
business units.

The Company holds negotiations with all the unions of the categories in which it operates. Union 
negotiations are closed by collective agreement, where the employees are always informed of the 
progress of the negotiations. Through dialog and mediation, the Company seeks to consider in the dis-
cussions both the external situation (inflation, GDP, the country’s growth, the level of unemployment 
and the inflation adjustment of the minimum wage) as well as the specific scenario of the business 
(sales performance and compliance with the budget) to support reviews of wages and benefits. G4-LA11

The Papo Aberto (Frank Talk) program meetings provide an informal dialog by leaderships (directors 
and managers) with staff member groups, which discuss topics such as careers, values, strategies, 
outlooks, among others, As a result of this open dialog, there is greater closeness and alignment 
among professionals, also with improvements in the work environment. In 2016 there were 35 Papo 
Aberto meetings in 13 plants.

The Spokesperson program’s key objective is to 
create a communications channel between op-
erating area employees and managers, to discuss 
topics of a general interest.  In 2016 the response 
monitoring process was enhanced, regarding the 
issues submitted. It is held in 12 industrial plants 
and involves roughly 140 staff members who act 
as Spokespersons, representative from different 

In its effort to preserve good communications 
with employees, the Company has a dedicated 
Communications team that discloses informa-
tion and develops educational campaigns. To this 
end it relies on internal vehicles such as bulletin 
boards, a printed newsletter, intranet and e-mail, 
among others. They all have a specific editorial 
line and are constantly updated in accordance 
with the profiles of various publics. 

Trainee program

Union Relations

Papo Aberto

Porta-Vozes Internal Communications Vehicles

Papo Aberto: leaderships dialog with staff members

areas selected due to their outstanding attitude 
and good communications skills. Meetings with 
Spokespersons take place every month in each 
plant.

Both programs, Papo Aberto and Porta-Vozes, 
impact positively in the M. Dias Branco organiza-
tional environment. 

In 2016, we highlight the reformulation of the 
Corporate Magazine "Sabor da Noticia", which dis-
seminates best practices and information in order 
to keep the whole team informed with respect to 
the business. Another distinction was the devel-
opment of a Meu MDB smart phone application, 
which is bound to improve access to information 
for the commercial team’s professionals, who per-
form their activities outside Company facilities. 
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Occupational health  
and safety

Due to strengthened actions in occupational safe-
ty, a growing involvement by managers in safety 
issues and the advances gained with the Positive 
Program (which is the Company’s Program for 
Excellence in Occupational Health and Safety), M. 
Dias Branco decided to include a new value in its 
Statement of Values: ‘Safety’: This decision was 
amply disclosed to staff members, enhancing the 
relevance dedicated to the topic. Please note that 
the Regional Labor Court and Jornal do Povo, both 
of Ceará, stressed the Positive Program’s advances 
in their communications channels.

The Internal Week for Accident Prevention in the 
Workplace – SIPAT is a large annual event held in 
the field of Occupational Safety simultaneously at 
the Company's plants. The topic covered in 2016 
was “Safe Behavior: Your example is worth more 
than one thousand words,” seeking greater aware-
ness of each person’s responsibility in accident pre-
vention, as safe behavior is a key factor for every-
body’s individual safety.  

Another noteworthy point was the award at the 
Jaboatão dos Guararapes/PE plant of the OHSAS 
18001 Certification, stressing the subject’s impor-
tance to the Company. 

The DSS - Safety and Health Dialog rose 16.5% in 
employee participation, rising from the 62% level 
in 2015 to 72.2% in 2016. The rise over the 2014 
base-year was 106.3%.

Despite the number of accidents above the reduc-
tion target defined for 2016, the actions adopted 
directly influenced in reducing the seriousness of 
such accidents. Hence, though the frequency rate 
(FR) has risen to 1.24, the seriousness rate (SR) de-
clined to 18.47 as compared to the previous year, 
which reflects a drop of roughly 67% in accident 
seriousness. Both indicators dropped as compared 
to the base-year (2014). No fatal accidents affected 
our employees in 2016G4-LA6.

One of the factors that contributed to reducing fre-
quency and seriousness rates as compared to 2914 
was the strengthening of efforts in acknowledg-
ment of occupational risks through LPDR - Survey 
on Hazards, Risks and Damages and APR - Prelimi-
nary Risk Analysis.

The chief actions implemented in the Jaboatão dos 
Guararapes/PE plant were: Training on safe behav-
ior, awareness campaigns (covering subjects such 
as electrical blocking, dengue prevention, report-
ing incidents, use of PPE, etc.). adequacy of internal 
and external paths by installing horizontal and ver-
tical signaling and defining safe circulation routes 
(persons and equipment), ergonomic adaptations 
at work posts and a review of the survey on haz-
ards and risks.

The health team in the industrial plants of Eu-
sébio/CE, Fortaleza/CE and Maracanaú/CE started 
a pilot project to monitor staff members on leave 
due to illness/accidents, with absence in excess of 
15 days. Contact with these employees reflects the 

Participation in health
and safety engagements
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Company’s concern with their health conditions 
and assists in the leave process with the social se-
curity service (Instituto Nacional do Seguro Social 
- INSS). The occupational illness Frequency Rate 
of diseases with the issue of an Occupational Acci-
dent Report remained at zero for 2016. G4-LA6

For the purpose of preventing illnesses and pro-
moting health and quality of life of employees, in 
2016 the Ergonomic Management preventive pro-
gram began updating ergonomic assessments in 
the Cabedelo/PB, Lençóis Paulista/SP, Salvador/BA 
and São Caetano do Sul/SP plants, and diagnosed 
the Eusébio/CE plant’s ergonomic management. 
The program’s target was to assist in planning ac-
tions to be out in place in ergonomic management.

Ergonomic adaptations were implemented in the 
Jaboatão dos Guararapes/PE plant, resulting in a 
decline of 70 work posts rated as ‘yellow’ in ergo-
nomics under the RULA method of Rapid Posture 
Assessment of Upper Limbs. There was also an im-
provement in the thermal condition of work posts, 
with a rise from 85 to 87 of posts with moderate 
activities and from 277 to 292 of posts with light 
activities.

According to our schedule for preventive med-
icine actions in 2016, 180 health actions were 
performed in the Company’s industrial plants, 
using various approaches such as lectures, pos-
tural and educational blitzes and vaccination 
campaigns, among others, in order to make our 
employees aware of the importance of preven-
tion of various diseases such as dengue fever, 
high blood pressure and diabetes, obesity, oral 
health, hearing conservation and preservation, 
musculoskeletal disorders, combating drugs and 
prevention of breast, uterus and prostate cancer, 
among others. 
 
In 2016, there were no occurrences of cases of 
noise-induced hearing loss (NIHL) and there was 
no need to issue a CAT-communication of acci-
dents at work for NIHL in the employees in the 
industrial area in any of the company’s plants, 
in accordance with Appendix I of Regulatory 
Standard NR-07, Ordinance 19, of 4/7/1998 of the 
Ministry of Labor and Employment. To achieve 
this satisfactory result, they continued with the 
actions recommended by the hearing conserva-
tion program, dedicated to the promotion and 
preservation of the hearing health of all employ-
ees exposed to noise. G4-LA7

Work-related accident Seriousness and Frequency Rate G4-LA6

 2014 2015 2016
% CHANGE % CHANGE

2016/2015 2016/2014

Frequency rate (FR) 1.35 1.02 1.24 22% -8%

Seriousness rate (SR) 29.13 56.42 18.47 -67% -37%

G4-DMA
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A culture of sustainability 

The development of a culture of sustainability in 
the company takes place through education and 
communication. In 2016, we emphasize the follow-
ing initiatives:

Relationship with 
clients and consumers
In the contemporary world, where consumers are 
increasingly aware and critical regarding food, 
product quality and food safety are prerequisites 
for any company in the sector regardless of its size.
 
M. Dias Branco adopts the best practices in the 
management of the quality and safety of foods in 
its production process. The model adopted is based 
on the international standards ISO 9001 (quality 
management) and ISO 22000 (food safety manage-
ment),it follows the SGI (Industrial management 
system) policy which contains the company’s com-
mitments with questions of food quality and food 
safety. The Company accordingly has the following 
certificates:

• ISO 9001 - Quality Management System: Eu-
sébio/CE, Fortaleza/CE, Bento Gonçalves/RS, 
Jaboatão dos Guararapes/PE and Moinho Dias 
Branco/CE plants 

• FSSC 22000 - Food Safety Management System: 
Jaboatão dos Guararapes/PE plant. 

• HACCP - Hazard Analysis Critical Control Point: 
Salvador/BA plant. 

• ISO 22000 - Food Safety Management Systems: 
Eusébio/CE and Fortaleza/CE plants.

Added to this, there is the need for transparency 
in the relationship with clients in order to not only 
meet, but especially to understand their expecta-
tions, demands and interests. Accordingly, an open 
channel where the company can listen to, evaluate 
and respond to the criticisms and suggestions of its 
customers is an important instrument, which, when 
properly harnessed, can bring important insights 
into the process of innovation in the business.

The Customer attendance service (SAC) fulfills this 
role in the company. In 2016, there were 1,068 

• Strengthening of sustainability contents in 
the M. Dias Branco University, especially in the 
School of Leadership; 

• Detection and training of Sustainability Am-
bassadors and Partners in the plants, with the 
following duties: 

• Ambassadors: Making contacts with the 
neighboring communities, monitoring the 
donations made by the company, being a 
representative of the sustainability team, 
supporting the volunteer project, enabling 
the achievement of sustainability and 
acting as a multiplier of training courses. 
GR4-S01  
 

• Partners: Multiplying the themes of 
sustainability in their respective plants, 
facilitating training courses with employ-
ees, supporting the disclosure of internal 
campaigns, encouraging volunteering 
among the employees and seeking infor-
mation on sustainability actions conduct-
ed in the plant. 

• Continuity of the training courses on sustain-
ability through lectures for leaders, ambassa-
dors and partners of sustainability; 

• Insertion of the Sustainability theme in the 
strategic matters disclosure indicator by the 
Communications area. 

• Conducting a survey on sustainability; 

• Inserting strategic sustainability content in 
newsletters; 

• Disclosure of social projects in the Magazine 
Flavor of the News, LinkedIn, an institutional 
website, and internal communication vehicles; 

• Intensification of internal actions that have an 
impact on reducing the consumption of natural 
resources (R3 campaign – Rethink, Reduce, 
Reinvent); 

• Dissemination of the annual report to the inter-
nal and external publics. 

The ultimate goal of these actions is to ensure that 
all employees have a positive perception of the 
company in its sustainable attitude, and act in uni-
son with this practice.

The R3 campaign was well attended by the employees 
and had a real impact on the production indicators

complaints about service registered by the SAC of 
the Eusébio/CE plant, (563 in 2015). The main com-
plaints were related to the SAC 0800 number being 
busy, lack of products on the market, lack of com-
mercial service, delivery time of products, product 
reimbursed with defects etc. The total number of 
notifications received at the SAC was 27,656 occur-
rences, where 97% of these calls were completed. 
G4-PR2, G4-27

The SAC of the Jaboatão dos Guararapes/PE plant 
received 31 “complaints about services” in the 
States of Pernambuco, Paraíba, Rio Grande do 
Norte, Amazonas, Bahia, São Paulo, Espírito Santo 
and Rio de Janeiro. The main complaints refer to 
lack of the product at the POS, delay in the delivery 
of the product and products delivered with a criti-
cal date, among others. Of the cases registered, the 
largest number of complaints was in the State of 
Pernambuco with 8 records of the lack of the prod-
uct at the POS, followed by the State of São Paulo 
with 6 complaints in 2016. G4-PR2

In 2016 there was no confirmed case of non-con-
formity concerning the information and labeling of 
products and services G4-PR4, nor cases of sales of a 
banned or challenged productG4-PR-6, nor records of 
complaints concerning communication, sponsor-
ship, publicity or advertising. G4-PR7

There was therefore no payment of significant fines 
for non-compliance with laws and regulations re-
garding the supply and use of products and ser-
vices. G4-PR9

The company also keeps its institutional site www.
mdiasbranco.com.br (in Portuguese, English and 
Spanish) and its profile on the social network Linke-
dIn constantly updated, maintaining dialog and 
forwarding all the contacts made to the responsi-
ble areas.
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INPUTS - COMMODITIES 
AND SUPPLIES  

The SGI team plans actions of the 

Socio-environmental 
assessment 
of suppliers

Supply management is part of the processes em-
braced by SGI - Industrial Management System. 
The departments responsible for this process 
are Procurement, Commodities, Systems Man-
agement, Food Safety, Environment, Third-Party 
Management and Research & Development.

In 2015 the Supplier Management department 
was created to monitor service providers' compli-
ance with labor, social security, and occupational 
health and safety requirements in relation to their 
employees, helping to ensure that applicable regu-
lations are heeded and workers' rights are upheld. 
In 2016 the Company published the supplier quali-

Socio-environmental issues  
in agricultural commodities

Sustainable commodities are essential to our busi-
ness, with the majority of the materials in our 
mass* balance derived from only five raw materi-
als: wheat and flour, vegetable oils and shorten-
ing, sugar, cocoa and cornstarch. These renewable 
materials amounted to 1.9 million metric tons in 
2016 (1.8 million in 2015 and 1.7 million in 2014), 
including shortening and flour purchased from 
third parties. G4-EN1

Social and environmental management metrics 
are included in the sustainability strategies of the 
leading multinational traders with which we do 
business. Therefore, sustainability criteria such 

fication management procedure extendable to the 
manufacturing plants.

Our primary categories of supplies are: agricul-
tural raw materials, flavoring, flexible packag-
ing, cardboard boxes, rigid packaging (plastic 
containers), machinery and equipment and as-
sociated services. Our product packaging is still 
largely sourced from the petrochemical indus-
try (polymers and resins), although we also use 
paper and cardboard at a large scale. Preference 
is given to local suppliers and with FSC (Forrest 
Stewardship Council) certification in the case of 
paper and cardboard.

The supplies and commodities department re-
ceived qualifying documents and questionnaires 
for a total of 246 suppliers, 131 of which of raw 
materials, 60 of packaging and 55 of commodities. 
This number represents 76% of the total number 
of suppliers which have been officially approved 
(324). The remaining suppliers are provisionally in 
the process of being approved. The documentation 
received is in the process of being analyzed by the 
technical area (Food Quality and Safety). G4-LA14

The criteria used for selection of which suppliers 
would receive the questionnaire was based on 
what is purchased from these suppliers and where 
these materials are used. Therefore, they are sup-
pliers of direct materials, i.e. items that are part of 
the company’s final product or enter in contact in 
the manufacturing process. The items are divided 
into three categories: commodities, raw materials 
and packaging.

The questions involved aspects of the labor legis-
lation (such as PPRA, PCMSO, and ASO, training in 

NR10, NR33 and NR35), not hiring persons under 16 
years of age, policies against forced labor, employ-
ment of people with physical or mental disabilities, 
quality of life programs for employees, relationship 
actions with the surrounding area, sustainable 
management practices, including involvement of 
the top leadership, etc. 

The evaluation of the answers indicates that, in 
general, with respect to legal practices, the vast 
majority of the suppliers comply with the legal 
requirements satisfactorily. On the other hand, 
non-mandatory good environmental practices, 
such as quality of life programs, relationship with 
the surrounding area and involvement of senior 
management in matters of this nature, are in the 
process of being implemented or already exist, but 
are not documented. 

The monitoring of these issues is important for us 
to take demands to the supply chain considered 
important for the company’s business, as well as for 
mitigating risks of shared responsibility. 

as environmental impacts from agriculture and human 
rights issues in the field are indirectly addressed by 
the supply chain. Another significant challenge for the 
Company is to encourage enhanced social and environ-
mental practices among local commodities suppliers. 
The supplier qualification questionnaire is a step in the 
right direction.

In relation to the impacts of climate change deriving 
from extreme weather events, the Company's weather 
services and information from the commodities trading 
agents continuously monitor climate data such as pre-
cipitation and volatility in wheat producing regions. 

*A mass balance is a budget of the materials used to manufacture our products.

G4-DMA G4-DMA
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When the entire team is committed it results in increased productivity

The year 2016 was marked by  
the best results in history. 
Even in the face of an economic recession, 
the company was able  
to adapt quickly, with strong control  
over spending and a constant quest  
for gains in productivity

ECONOMIC AND  
FINANCIAL RESULTS 

Net revenue
 
In 2016, net revenue totaled R$ 5,328.1 million, an 
increase of 15.3% compared to 2015, influenced by 
the 6.1% growth in sales and increase in the av-
erage price of 8.8%, and consequently the pass-
through of the Company’s cost increases which 
took place more significantly in the last quarter of 
2015.

The maintenance of a high level of sales through-
out 2016 showed that the Company has adapted 
quickly to the recession in Brazil and has imple-
mented structuring initiatives that have boosted 
the growth of sales in all regions, among which the 
following stand out:

• Restructuring the commercial area: the area 
has gone from an organization by brands to a 
multi-brand approach in the different regions 
of Brazil, which has provided a more optimized 
performance at a lower operating cost, with 

Product Lines
Rev. 
Net Weight

Price 
Average

Rev. 
Net Weight

Price 
Average

Rev. 
Net Weight

Price 
Average

2016

Cookies

Pasta

Flour and Bran

Margarine and Shortening

Other Product Lines**

TOTAL

Net sales revenue by product line *

2.745,2
1.205,0
1.002,5
260,4 
115,0

5.328,1

521,8
358,1
827,7
70,0
12,9

1790,5

5,26 
3,36 
1,21 
3,72
8,91
2,98

2015

2.390,9
1.043,7
887,0
220,2
80,4

4.622,2

503,8
340,2
769,3
65,9
7,9

1.687,1

4,75
3,07
1,15
3,34

10,18
2,74

Changes

14,8%
15,5%
13,0%
18,3%
43,0%
15,3%

3,6%
5,3%
7,6%
6,2%

63,3%
6,1%

10,7%
9,4%
5,2%

11,4%
-12,5%
8,8%

*Net Revenue in R$ million; weight (net of returned goods) in thousands of metric tons; and average net price in R$/Kg.
**Cakes, Snacks, Cake Mix and Packaged Toast

Change in Net Revenue
(in R$ millions)

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016

3,545.1
4,311.6

4,579.9

63

4,622.2

5,328.1
CAGR: 10.7%

(¹)Compound annual growth rate

a decrease in commercial expenses, gains in 
negotiations with clients, improvements in trade 
merchandising and better positioning of prices 
between brands and regions, among others; 

• Restructuring of the marketing area: the mar-
keting area now operates in a way that is much 
more aligned with the commercial area and 
its budget has been increased, providing more 
robustness and precision in the positioning of 
brands in each region and greater support for 
the launching of new products; 
 

• Price policy: price adjustments have been made 
consistent with the reality of each product line 
and with the positioning of the brands, contrib-
uting to an increase of 8.8% in the average price 
in comparison with 2015.
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Cost of goods sold Average purchase price in the inventories of the 
main 

2016 %RL 2015 %RL

Operating costs

2.263,4
1.394,9

353,6
180,4

71,4
19,7

243,4
361,7
451,8
286,0

94,3
3.457,2

2.085,8
1.303,7

301,3
118,0
142,3

12,3
208,2
329,3
398,0
284,8

85,2
3.183,1

45,1%
28,2%

6,5%
2,6%
3,1%
0,3%
4,5%
7,1%
8,6%
6,2%
1,8%

68,9%

AH% AH - %RL

8,5%
7,0%

17,4%
52,9%

-49,8%
60,2%
16,9%

9,8%
13,5%

0,4%
10,7%
8,6%

-2,6 p.p.
-2 p.p.

0,1 p.p.
0,8 p.p.

-1,8 p.p.
0,1 p.p.
0,1 p.p.

-0,3 p.p.
-0,1 p.p.
-0,8 p.p.

0 p.p.
-4 p.p.

Operating Costs
(R$ millions)

Raw materials
Wheat

Servicing the oil

Sugar

Flour from third parties

Fat from third parties

Other inputs

Packaging
Labor
General Manufacturing Expenses
Depreciation and Amortization
TOTAL

42,5%
26,2%

6,6%
3,4%
1,3%
0,4%
4,6%
6,8%
8,5%
5,4%
1,8%

64,9%

The cost of goods sold (COGS) amounted to R$ 
3,457.2 million in 2016, representing 64.9% of net 
revenues (68.9% in 2015), as the table above shows:

The 8.6% increase in the cost of goods sold in 2016 
compared to 2015 represented a growth lower 
than the net earnings (15.3%), which resulted in 
the increase in the gross margin. Among the fac-
tors that explain the behavior of costs the following 
stand out:

• Decrease of 6.1% in the average cost of wheat 
consumed by the company as a result of the 
drop in prices in Reais of the wheat purchased; 

• Increase of 10.5% in the average cost of vegeta-
ble oil consumed in the Company due to the in-
crease in prices in Reais charged in the market; 

• Decrease in the volume of flour consumed by 
third parties as a result of increased verticaliza-
tion. In 2015, 16.6% of the flour consumed in 
the company was acquired from third parties, 
while in 2016 this percentage was 7.0%; 

• An increase of 50.1% in the average cost of sug-
ar, due to the estimates of a deficit in the global 
supply of this input;

• An increase in labor expense as a result of col-
lective bargaining agreements and an increase 
in INSS expense following the expiration of 
exemption from employers' payroll charges; It is 
worth pointing out that the gains in efficiency 
produced by the optimization of the production 
shifts minimized this unfavorable effect. 

• Growth in the volume of production, which con-
tributed to a higher dilution of the fixed portion 
of general manufacturing overheads. 

It is important to point out that the decline in the 
representativeness of the costs of the products 
sold over the net earnings (4.0 p.p.) is due, also, to 
the increase in the average price of the products, 
the result of passing on the increases in costs that 
have been occurring since 2015.

400
US$

370

340

310

280

250

220

190

160

130
jan-15 mar-15 may-15 jul-15 sep-15 nov-15 jan-16 mar-16 may-16 jul-16 sep-16 nov-16 dez-16

Wheat
Average inventory purchase price M. Dias Branco vs Market Price USD /
Tonne - Year 2015 and 2016 

255 248 248

225 225 225
221

220
204 198 190 191 190 190 188

220 215 210 206

188
170 160

252 246 247
245 241 233

225 225

215

224 220 208 204 199 194 193 193

187 191 198 197

198 198 191
233 230

Source:www.safras.com.br MonthMarket M. Dias Branco

US$

1.400

1.100

800

500
jan-15 mar-15 may-15 jul-15 sep-15 nov-15 jan-16 mar-16 may-16 jul-16 sep-16 nov-16 dez-16

822
719 780

765 760

674 655

723 698 680
700 750

796 793 767 753 789
791 804

865
896

954

703
780

818
816 791

688 711

730 729

686 687 667 635 635 642 660 635
732 733 725 728

773
816 806

752 752

Source: Braincorp MonthMarket M. Dias Branco

Palm Oil
Average inventory purchase price M. Dias Branco vs Market Price USD /
Tonne - Year 2015 and 2016

Soybean Oil

R$

3,200

2,800

2,400

2,000
jan-15 mar-15 may-15 jul-15 sep-15 nov-15 jan-16 mar-16 may-16 jul-16 sep-16 nov-16 dez-16

Average Inventory Purchase Price M, Dias Branco vs Market Price/
Tonne - Year 2015 and 2016

2,542

2,477

2,571
2,691

2,602

2,715
2,8902,893

2,963
3,090

3,268

3,219
3,109

3,222
3,160

3,046
2,919

3,118
3,199

3,320
3,377

3,275

2,558
2,635

2,379
2,409 2,327 2,387

2,421 2,415

2,441
2,509

2,610

2,856
3,011

3,395
3,153

3,1103,088

3,053 3,022

2,995
2,762 

2,792 2,792

2,799

2,401
2,392

Source: www.safras.com.br MonthMarket M. Dias Branco
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Production and utilization 
of the production capacity 

Gross income

Operating expenses

Investment  
subsidies

2016 2015

Cookies

538.2
704.1
76.4%

526.4
710.7
74.1%

2016 2015

368.8
438.0
84.2%

353.8
459.5
77.0%

2016 2015

1,557.2
1,912.0
81.4%

1,392.5
1,674.8
83.1%

2016 2015

148.7
180.0
82.6%

150.3
180.0
83.5%

2016 2015

13.9
35.8
38.8%

9.2
31.5
29.2%

2016 2015

2,626.8
3,269.9
80.3%

2,432.2
3,056.5
79.6%

Pasta
Flours
and bran

Other Lines
of Products** Total

* In thousand tonnes
* * Cakes, Snacks, Cake Mix and Packaged Toast

Effective Production / 
Production
Capacity *

Total Production

Total Production Capacity

Capacity
Utilization Rate

Marg. and 
Shortening

In 2016, the company increased its production capacity by 7.0%, mainly in the flour and bran product 
lines, the fruit of investments that entered into operation in October 2015 (Eusébio mill in Ceará and of 
Rolândia mill in Paraná), with the objective of promoting the growth of verticalization. Production grew 
by 8.0% compared with 2015, reflecting a total capacity utilization rate of 80.3% (79.6% in 2015).

Due to the increase in the volumes of sales, price adjustments and the increase in the cost of goods sold 
at a lower proportion than the growth in net earnings, the gross profit in 2016 was R$ 2,085.7 million, 
an increase of 26.0% compared to 2015, showing an increase of 3.3 pp in the representativeness on net 
revenue.

Government subsidies received by the Company are subsidies for investments, divided between state 
and federal, and are all monetary subsidies. The funds received are for purposes of replacing the capital in-
vested in the economic enterprises resulting from the investment projects implemented by the Company 
and which fall within the respective public programs to encourage development. In 2016 the Company 
was entitled to state subsidies of R$ 214.8 million (R$ 216.7 million in 2015) and federal subsidies of R$ 
98.3 million (R$ 44.4 million in 2015). G4-EC4

The decrease in the value of state subsidies for investments was due to the decrease in the average cost of wheat.

2016 %RL 2015 %RL

214,8 216,7 4,7%

AH% AH - %RL

-0,9% -0,7 p.p.

Subsidies for
state investment
(R$ million)
Investment grants 4,0%

2016 %RL 2015 %RL

Selling

Administrative and general expenses

Management fees

Tax

Depreciation and amortization

Other operating exp./(rev)

TOTAL

Operating expenses

971.5
166.8

11.8
24.2
24.5
86.3

1,285.1

18.2%
3.1%
0.2%
0.5%
0.5%
1.6%

24.1%

888.6
146.0

11.4
17.8
20.8
-9.4

1,075.2

19.2%
3.2%
0.2%
0.4%
0.5%

-0.2%
23.3%

AH% AH - %RL

9.3%
14.2%

3.5%
36.0%
17.8%

n/a
19.5%

-1 p.p
-0.1 p.p

0 p.p
0.1 p.p

0 p.p
1.8 p.p
0.8 p.p

Operating Expenses
(R$ millions)

In accordance with CPC 26 - Presentation of Finan-
cial Statements, we have adopted the classification 
of expenses by function in the income statement. 
Depreciation and amortization expenses were in-
cluded in selling and administrative expenses, and 
tax expenses were added to other expenses (in-
come), net. For more information, see note 23 to 
the financial statements for the year ended Decem-
ber 31, 2016.

In order to promote a better understanding of the 
changes that have occurred in the operating ex-
penses, we have disclosed the depreciation and 
amortization expenses and the tax expenses, sep-
arately, as per the table above.

It is relevant to point out that the operating ex-
penses for 2016 include non-recurring expenses, 
such as severance expenses of contracts with dis-
tributors and with personnel restructuring (R$ 17.5 

million) and they are impacted by the increase in so-
cial security contributions due on the payroll, due to 
the end of the exemption of the INSS (ended in No-
vember 2015), and other extraordinary events that are 
recorded as "other operating expenses and income", 
described in detail later.

In 2016, selling expenses increased by 9.3% and there 
was a decrease of 1.0 p.p. in representativeness on 
net earnings compared to 2015, due to the following 
factors: (i) decrease in staff due to the restructuring of 
the commercial area, wage adjustments and expens-
es with labor indemnities; (ii) increase in freight costs, 
due to the growth in the sales volume and adjust-
ments in wages and tariffs; and (iii) increased invest-
ments in marketing, with an emphasis on advertising 
campaigns to promote the packaged toast line and 
the Finna brand (domestic flour and mixes for cakes). 
 

Operating expenses increased by 19.5% in 2016, an increase of 0.8 percentage points as a percentage net revenue. 
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2016 2015

110,1
(41,7)

50,1
(86,9)
31,6

-11,3%
-6,3%

-144,7%
-192,4%
-48,5%

AH%
2015-2016

Finance
income
(R$ million)

124,1
(44,5)

(112,2)
94,0
61,4

Financial Revenue

Financial Expenses

Exchange Variance

Swap gains/losses

Total

Finance income

Added value 

To facilitate your comprehension of the changes 
in financial result, exchange variance and swap 
transactions in the period have been reported 
separately from other financial revenue and ex-

The financial result decreased from an income of R$ 61.4 million in 2015 to an income of R$ 31.6 million, due 
mainly to the recognition in 2015 of the updating of the tax credits of PIS/Cofins imports, registered due to a 
final court decision not subject to appeal (R$ 43.6 million). Disregarding this aspect, the financial result in 2016 
is higher than that of the previous year due to the greater efficiency of financial investments, the increases in 
interest rates and the volumes invested.

However, we reaffirm M Dias Branco's commitment to a conservative policy consisting of using swaps, con-
sisting of exchanging the currency risk plus a fixed rate for a percentage of the CDI rate to hedge important 
input and fixed asset transactions, which are recorded at fair value and whose results are recorded in finan-
cial income. 

Net Income and Ebitda

Net income increased from R$ 603.9 million in FY 2015 to R$ 784.4 million in 2016 (13.1% of net revenue 
in 2015 and 14.7% in 2016), an increase of 29.9%. EBITDA was R$ 919.4 million in 2016 (17.3% of net reve-
nue), an increase of 33.9% from 2015.

603.9 784.4 

2015 2016

Net Income (R$ million)

29.9%

686.6 914.4

2015 2016

Ebitda (R$ Million)

33.9%

The graph below shows 
the distribution of wealth generated 
by the Company in 2016: 

Distribution of added value - 2016

Payroll and related charges- 33.2%

Taxes and contributions - 26.6%

Interest and rent - 8.1%

Tax incentives - 12.8%

Retained earnings - 12.1%

Interest on shareholders' equity- 7.2%

Direct economic value generated and distributed 
is as follows: G4-EC1

In R$ thousand 2015 2016

(A) Direct economic value created: 5,623,150 6,346,248

Operating revenue    5,461,303        6,140,841 

Financial revenue        161,847            205,407 

(B) Economic value distributed: 5,157,085 5,736,999

Operating costs    3,649,398        3,924,603 

Employee salaries and benefits        762,058            808,758 

Payments to the Government        502,926            649,836 

Payments to capital providers 238,307 348,985

Community investments 
(social* and environmental)            4,396                 4,817

(A-B) Economic value distributed 466,065 609,249

* Includes social including made under Incentive Laws.

Administrative expenses increased 14.2% due to 
the increase in personnel expenses, especially due 
to the end of the payroll tax relief and personnel 
restructuring, as already mentioned, and the pro-
viding of consulting services. 

Other operating expenses and revenue rose from 
revenue of R$ 9.4 million to an expense of R$ 86.3 
million in the comparative period of as 2015 and 
2016. Among the events recorded in 2016, we em-
phasize the following: 

• Provisions for civil, labor and tax risks, as well as 
debts of untimely taxes in the amount of         R$ 
48.1 million (R$ 37.4 million in 2015); 

• Contribution to the State Fund for Fiscal Bal-
ance in the amount of R$ 7.5 million; 

• Estimated losses due to a decrease in the recov-
erable value of intangible assets related to one 
of the brands of products (Predilleto), in the 
amount of R$ 7.7 million;  

• Losses from an accident in the industrial plant 
located in Cabedelo (PB) in the amount of R$ 5.4 
million, due to the collapse of metal silos 

In 2015, in addition to provisions for tax contin-
gencies, write-off of non-performing assets and 
the restructuring expenditures due to the deacti-
vation of the Jaboticabal (SP) plant, the company 
recognized tax credits due to a final decision not 
subject to appeal on PIS/Cofins taxes, levied on 
imports, in the amount of R$ 53.9 million, and in-
come from the sale of vehicles via auction.
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Debt, capitalization 
and cash flow

Investment 

The amounts of and percent changes in gross debt and net debt at year-end 2016 and 2015 were as fol-
lows: 

Capital expenditure on expansion and mainte-
nance was R$ 263.9 million in 2016 (R$ 456.9 mil-
lion in 2015). The most significant capital expendi-
ture items in 2016 were as follows: (i) acquisition 
of more modern machines for the manufacture 
of long and short pasta in the plant located in Ja-
boatão dos Guararapes/PE; (ii) expenses on civil 
construction, machinery and equipment for the 
wheat mill located in Eusébio/CE; (iii) construc-
tion of a new milling plant in the city of Bento 

At the end of 2015, financial leverage was 10.7%, while the leverage in 2016 registered negative net debt, 
as a result of the drop in indebtedness coupled with the growth, as demonstrated below.

The company more than doubled its available funds in 2016, with a growth of R$ 511.3 million (146.6%). 
The increase in billing and the increase in the margins provided net available cash generated by operating 
activities of around R$ 964.2 million. R$ 259.0 million was used in the payment of fixed assets and soft-
ware licenses, R$ 42.4 million arising from the net flow of financing with third party, R$ 137.9 million on 
the payment of interest on equity capital and R$ 7.9 million on the payment of a debt from acquisitions 
of corporate interests.

Capitalization 2016

Short Term

Long Term

Total Indebtedness
(-) Cash

(-) Short-Term Financial Investments

(-) Long-Term Financial Investments

(=) Net Debt
Equity

Capitalization

348.0 
295.3
643.3

(860.1)
(0.2)

(10.3)
(227.3)
4.333.6

4,976.9

2015

392.1
363.1

755.2 
(348.8) 

(6.1) 
(4.1) 

396.2 
3,716.9

4,472.1

Change

-11.2%
-18.7%
-14.8%
146.6%
-96.7%
151.2%

-157.4%
16.6%
11.3%

Net cash at
Dec/2015

Net cash
provided

by operating
activities

Payment for
shareholdings

Payment of
PP&E and
software
licenses

Net financing
flow

- thirdparty
capital

Profit
sharing

Net cash
at

Dec/2016

348.8

964.2

-7.9

-259.0

-42.4
-137.9

860.118.1% of Net Revenue

In R$ millions

Gonçalves/RS; (iv) acquisition of machinery and 
equipment for packaging of a cookie line at the 
Jaboatão dos Guararapes/PE site; (v) construction 
of a stockroom for finished products and an indus-
trial restaurant in the Maracanaú/CE plant; and (vi) 
construction of a stockroom for raw material and a 
packaging plant in the Eusébio/CE plant, as well as 
expansion of the storage area in other plants.

Eusébio-CE distribution center received investment for expansion 
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MARKET 
INFORMATION

Sales channels  

An emphasis on the increase in the interest in the 
“Cash & Carry” channel, which has been showing 
high rates of growth in recent years, with the 
opening of new stores in all regions of Brazil. In 
addition, it is worth mentioning that during 2016, 
contracts were terminated with some distributors 
and in the markets in which they operated the 
client now deals directly with the Company.

Customer Mix 2016

Small Retail

Wholesale

Key Account. National and Regional

Cash & Carry

Distributors

Industry

Other

Total

33.8%
30.3%
13.9%
15.0%

5.3%
1.3%
0.4%

100.0%

2015

35.4%
30.5%
13.8%
12.7%

5.6%
1.5%
0.5%

100.0%

Change

-1.6 p.p
-0.2 p.p
0.1 p.p
2.3 p.p

-0.3 p.p
-0.2 p.p
-0.1 p.p

AccumulatedSequence

644.5
1,607.2 

479.4 
1,781.3
1,794.6

6,307.0

10,2%
25.5%

7.6%
28.2%
28.5%

10.2%
35.7%
43.3%
71.5%

100.0%

Revenue* in
2016 (R$ millions) In the range

Largest Clients Share in Revenue Net of Discounts

Top Client

49 Next biggest

50 Next biggest

900 Next biggest

Other Clients

Total

Accumulated

1
50

100
1,000

All

*Revenue net of discounts

Sales by Region - 2016
(% of Revenue Net of Discounts)

71.3%

Northeast Southeast
Midwest

South
North

15.4%

6.1%

4.1%
2.7%

*NB: 0.4% referring to exports

Market Share

In 2016, we maintained the leadership in the pasta and cookie lines with an increased market share 
in both, the result of the recovery observed during the second half in the Northeast region and the  
good performance in other regions.

Market Share Cookies* 2016 – Brazil
(in % of volume sold)

Brand B
8.8%

Brand C
7.9%

Brand D
5.8%

Other
Brands
43.4%

Brand E
5.5%

M. Dias Branco
28.6%

*Data from AC NIELSEN

Market Share Pasta* 2016 – Brazil
(in % of volume sold)

Brand B
11.3%

Brand C
9.6%

Brand D
7.6%

Brand E
5.5%

M. Dias Branco
28.8%Other

Brands
37.2%

*Data from AC NIELSEN

Historical growth
in Market Share* -Brazil
(in % of volume sold)

23.3%

22.3%

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016

25.4%

25.1% 25.7%
28.0% 28.1% 27.9%

26.6%
28.0% 28.9% 28.4% 28.8%

28.6%

Cookies Pasta

* Data from AC NIELSEN | Nb: The data includes Pilar and Estrela from 2011 and Moinho Santa Lúcia from 2012.



140 | Annual Report 2016

MARKET OVERVIEW AND STRATEGY

Annual Report 2016 | 141

STOCK PERFORMANCEECONOMIC AND FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

PERFORMANCE ON 
THE STOCK MARKET

Company shares are listed on BM&FBovespa's Novo Mercado and are traded under the ticker symbol 
MDIA3. The company had 28,371,697 shares outstanding at December 30, 2016, representing 25.11% 
of the Company's total capital, priced at R$ 115.01 each for a total of R$ 3,263.0 million. Average daily 
trading volume in 2016 was R$ 15.0 million.

The share price appreciated by 450% from the start of share trading until the end of 2016. The graph 
below compares the performance of MDIA3 shares with the Ibovespa and IGC indexes for 2016. 

M Dias Branco is listed in important national and international indexes in the stock market: IBrX-100, 
IGC (Corporate Governance Index) and ICON (Consumption Index), Special Tag Along Share Index 
(ITAG), Trade Corporate Governance Index (IGCT), Corporate Governance Index – Novo Mercado (IGC-
NM), MidLarge Cap Index (MLCX), Industrial Sector Index (INDX), Brazil Broad BM&FBOVESPA Index 
(IBrA) of BM&FBovespa and MSCI Brazil, of MSCI.

MDIA3 x IBOV x IGC

120.0%

100.0%

80.0%

60.0%

40.0%

20.0%

0.0%

-20.0%

25.0

20.0

15.0

10.0

5.0

0.0

jan/16 feb/16 mar/16 apr/16 may/16 jun/16 jul/16 ago/16 sep/16 oct/16 nov/16 dez/16

Average Daily Trading Volume:
MDIA3 (R$ million) Yield (%)

Volume (in millions) MDIA3 IBOV IGC

Shareholders’ remuneration

The Board of Directors' meeting held August 1, 
2016 approved the credit of R$ 56.5 million for 
shareholders as interest on shareholders' equity, 
which was included in the minimum mandatory 
dividend for FY 2016, pursuant to article 24 (3) of 
the Bylaws.  The credit was made on August 10, 
2016 based on the shareholdings in place at the 
close of trading at BM&FBOVESPA on August 4, 
2016, with shareholder payments being made on 
August 15, 2016.

Furthermore, on December 12, 2016 the Board of 
Directors approved the crediting of interest on 
shareholders' equity of R$ 118.6 million, with pay-

ment scheduled for April 28, 2017, within the lim-
its established by law 9249/1995. The interest on 
shareholders' equity for FY 2016 amounted to R$ 
175.1 million (R$ 165.8 million, net of IRRF).  

This profit distribution, reported in the financial 
statements for 2016, represents 40.5% of distrib-
utable profit, equivalent to R$ 1.5500 per share 
(R$ 1.2200 in 2015), allocated to corporate share-
holders, thus avoiding retention of income tax, or 
R$1.3175 per share (R$ 1.0370 in 2015), net of with-
holding tax, allocated to individual shareholders.
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITIONFINANCIAL STATEMENTS

STATEMENT OF  
FINANCIAL POSITION Years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015 

(In thousands of Reais, except for net income per share)

Parent company Consolidated Parent company Consolidated

Assets 2016 2015 2016 2015 Liabilities 2016 2015 2016 2015

Current Current

Cash and cash equivalents 859,290 348,448 860,104 348,800 Suppliers 142,425 135,946 142,333 135,946 

Trade accounts receivable 725,363 597,942 725,363 597,952 
Loans and financing from financing 
institutions

297,622 370,582 297,622 370,582 

Inventories 587,721 675,280 587,745 675,304 Tax financing 5,354 13,980 5,354 13,980 

Recoverable taxes 156,160 238,785 156,225 238,838 Direct financing 45,052  7,467 45,052 7,467 

Call deposits 204 6,142 204 6,142 Social and labor obligations 140,510 124,688 140,695 124,855 

Derivative financial instruments 0 23,129 0 23,129 Income taxes and contributions payable 5,764 399 5,800 399 

Other receivables 17,371 15,737 17,702 15,943 Tax liabilities 56,873 58,312 56,950 58,350 

Prepaid expenses 4,528 1,716 4,528 1,716 Advances from customers 7,036 11,286 7,036 11,286 

Derivative financial instruments 14,497 1,026 14,497 1,026 

2,350,637 1,907,179 2,351,871 1,907,824 Other accounts payable 46,458 30,077 45,364 28,968 

Dividends proposed 51,524 21,668 51,524 21,668 

Government subsidies 4,714 9,175 4,714 9,175 

817,829 784,606 816,941 783,702 

Non-current Non-current

Long-term
Loans and financing from financing 
institutions

262,454 294,616 262,454 294,616 

Call deposits 10,339  4,070 10,339 4,070 Tax financing 3,878 1,551 3,878 1,551 

Judicial deposits 75,534 71,801 75,539 71,806 Direct financing 29,056 66,948 29,056 66,948 

Recoverable taxes 81,514 85,015 81,514 85,015 Tax liabilities 968 968 968 968 

Tax incentives/other receivables 9,079 12,699 9,077 12,696 
Deferred income and social contribution 
liabilities

130,391 129,984 130,391 129,984 

Other accounts payable 4,140 9,858 4,182 9,906 

176,466 173,585 176,469 173,587 
Provision for civil, labor  
and tax contingencies

99,569 94,957 99,569 94,957 

530,456 598,882 530,498 598,930 

Investment 3,267 2,729 140 140 

Shareholders' equity

Investment property 23,065 22,862 23,065 22,862 Share capital 1,705,452 1,701,692 1,705,452 1,701,692 

Capital reserves 16,529 16,529 16,529 16,529 

Property, plant and equipment 2,296,033 2,155,275 2,297,077 2,156,361 Cumulative translation adjustments 98 120 98 120 

Profit reserves 2,544,398 1,938,909 2,544,398 1,938,909 

Intangible assets 832,423 838,803 832,423 838,803 Additional dividends 67,129 59,695 67,129 59,695 

3,331,254 3,193,254 3,329,174 3,191,753 Total equity of controlling shareholders 21 4,333,606 3,716,945 4,333,606 3,716,945 

Total assets 5,681,891 5,100,433 5,681,045 5,099,577 Total liabilities and equity 5,681,891 5,100,433 5,681,045 5,099,577 

See the accompanying notes to the financial statements.
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STATEMENTS OF INCOME| STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOMEFINANCIAL STATEMENTS

STATEMENT 
OF INCOME 

COMPREHENSIVE 
STATEMENT OF 
INCOME

Parent company Consolidated

2016 2015 2016 2015

Net operating revenue 5,328,071 4,622,164 5,328,071 4,622,164 

Cost of goods sold  (3,458,266)  (3,182,868)  (3,457,167)  (3,183,076)

Subsidies for state investment 214,774 216,680 214,774 216,680 

Gross income 2,084,579 1,655,976 2,085,678 1,655,768 

Operating revenue (expense)

Sales expenses  (980,905)  (897,267)  (980,905)  (897,267)

Administrative expenses  (179,616)  (157,751)  (179,957)  (158,076)

Management fees  (11,833)  (11,416)  (11,833)  (11,416)

Other net operating income (expenses)  (112,298)  (8,309)  (112,379)  (8,324)

Net income before net financial revenue 
(expenses), equity income, and tax

799,927 581,233 800,604 580,685 

Financial revenue  205,352  161,812  205,407  161,847 

Finance costs  (173,833)  (100,444)  (173,835)  (100,447)

Net financial revenue (expense) 31,519 61,368 31,572 61,400 

Equity in net income of subsidiaries 560  (516) 0  - 

Net income before income and 
social contribution taxes

832,006 642,085 832,176 642,085

Income and social contribution taxes  (47,607)  (38,160)  (47,777)  (38,160)

Net income for the year 784,399 603,925 784,399 603,925 

Income attributable to:  
Controlling shareholders

784,399 603,925 784,399 603,925

Net income for the year 784,399 603,925 784,399 603,925 

Basic and diluted earnings per common 
share (R$)

6.94158 5.33679 6.94158 5.33679 

Average number of shares (ex-treasury 
shares)

113,000,000 113,162,592 113,000,000 113,162,592 

Years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015 
(In thousands of Reais, except for net income per share)

Years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015
(In thousands of reais)

Parent company Consolidated
2016 2015 2016 2015

   

Net income for the year 784,399 603,925 784,399 603,925 

Other comprehensive income to be 
reclassified to net income for the year in 
subsequent periods

Foreign-exchange differences on 
translation of offshore subsidiaries 
operations (22) 47 (22) 47 

Equity income gains - (3) - (3)

(22) 44 (22) 44

Total comprehensive income 784,377 603,969 784,377 603,969 

See the accompanying notes to the financial statements
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITYFINANCIAL STATEMENTS

  
Capital reserves Profit reserves

 

Capital
Tax incentive 

reserve
Special 
reserve

Tax incentive 
reserve

Legal 
Reserve

Reserves for 
investment 

plan

Equity 
Appraisal 

Adjustment

Cumulative 
translation 

adjustments
(-) Treasury 

Stock
Retained 
earnings

Additional 
dividends        Total 

Balances as of December 31, 2014  990,014          -          16,529           1,098,244           152,884             972,836                     3 73  - -              55,060           3,285,643

Capital increase 711,678                                     - (711,678)                    -     -  -  -  -                       -                      -

Net income for the year   -  -  -  -  - -  -  -  603,925                       - 603,925

Other comprehensive income to be reclassified to 
net income for the year in subsequent periods              

Foreign-exchange differences on translation of 
offshore operations  -   -                  -                     -                    -  -  - 47  -                       -                      47 

Equity income gains -   -                  -                     -                    -  - (3) -                          -                       - (3)

Total comprehensive income  -  -                  -                     -                    - -                  (3) 47                                       603,925                               -              603,969

Transactions with shareholders recorded directly 
in shareholders' equity             

Distributions to shareholders

Approval of additional dividends - - - - - - - -                           -             (55,060)            (55,060)

Minimum mandatory dividends - - -  - -       -    -    -  (78.165) - (78,165)

Additional dividends - - - - - - - -  (59,695) 59,695             -

Acquisition of treasury shares - - - - - - - - (39,442) - - (39,442)

Cancellation of treasury shares - - - - - (39,442) - - 39,442 - - -

Other profit distributions:             

Legal reserve  -  -  -                     - 30,197                        - -  -         (30,197)                       -                        - 

IRPJ tax incentive reserve  -  -  - 44,388 -                        - -  -  (44,388)                       - - 

 ICMS tax incentive reserve  -  -  - 216,680 -                        - -  -  (216,680)                       -                        - 

 Statutory reserve   -  -  -                     -  - 174,800  -  -  (174,800)                       -                        - 

Balances as of December 31, 2015  1,701,692 -               16,529         647,634              183,081     1,108,194                    -  120                           - -              59,695  3,716,945 

STATEMENT OF CHANGES 
IN SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 
Year ended December 31, 2015 
(In thousands of reais)
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITYFINANCIAL STATEMENTS

  
Capital reserves Profit reserves

 

Capital
Tax incentive 

reserve
Special 
reserve

Tax incentive 
reserve

Reserve
Legal

Reserve for 
investment plan

Cumulative 
translation 

adjustments
Retained 
earnings

Additional 
dividends

       Total 
Shareholders’ 

Equity

Balances as of December 31, 2015 1,701,692          -          16,529          647,634            183,081                     1,108,194 120  -              59,695           3,716,945

Capital increase 3,760 -                  -                   3,760     -  -  - -                       -                      -

Net income for the year  -  -  -  - -  -  - 784,399                       - 784,399

Other comprehensive income to be reclassified to net income for 
the year in subsequent periods           

Foreign-exchange differences on  
translation of offshore operations -   -                  -                    -  - - (22) -                       -                      (22) 

Total comprehensive income -  -                  -                    - -                  - (22)                                      784,399                       -             784,377

Transactions with shareholders recorded directly in 
shareholders' equity          

Distributions to shareholders

Approval of additional dividends - - - - - - -                          -             (59,695)            (59,695)

Minimum mandatory dividends - - - -       -    -    - (108,021) - (108,021)

Additional dividends - - - - - - - (67,129) 67,129             -

Other profit distributions:

Legal reserve  -  -  - -  39,220 -  -        (39,220)                       -                        - 

IRPJ tax incentive reserve  -  -  - 98,320                        - -  - (98,320)                       - - 

ICMS tax incentive reserve  -  -  - 214,774                        - -  - (214,774)                       -                        - 

Statutory reserve  -  -  -  - - 256,935  - (256,935)                       -                        - 

Balances as of December 31, 2016  1,705,452 -               16,529              956,968    222,301                    1,365,129  98 -              67,129 4,333,606 

STATEMENT OF CHANGES 
IN SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 
Year ended December 31, 2016 
(In thousands of reais)
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STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS | STATEMENTS OF ADDED VALUEFINANCIAL STATEMENTS

STATEMENT OF  
ADDED VALUE

 Parent company Consolidated

  2016  2015 2016 2015

Revenue

Sales of goods, products and services 6,043,705 5,284,528 6,043,705 5,284,528

Other revenue 36,827 78,652 36,827 78,652

Revenue relating to construction of company assets 74,326 121,431 74,326 121,431

Provision for doubtful accounts (14,017) (23,308) (14,017) (23,308)

 6,140,841 5,461,303 6,140,841 5,461,303

Inputs purchased from third parties

Cost of goods sold and services rendered      (2,330,053)      (2,160,312)      (2,328,955) (2,160,520)

Material, electricity, outsourced services and other (1,405,623) (1,275,241) (1,405,872) (1,275,460)

Losses/recovery of asset values (10,650) - (10,650) -

Materials relating to construction of company 
assets (40,355) (88,734) (40,355) (88,734)

 (3,786,681) (3,524,287) (3,785,832) (3,524,714)

 
Gross value added 2,354,160 1,937,016 2,355,009 1,936,589

Withholding

Depreciation and amortization      (118,814)      (105,951)      (118,814) (105,951)

 

Net value added 2,235,346 1,831,065 2,236,195 1,830,638

 
Transferred value added

Equity in income of associates 560 (516) -     - 

Financial revenue 205,352 161,812 205,407 161,847

Total added value to be distributed 2,441,258 1,992,361 2,441,602 1,992,485

Distribution of value added

Payroll and related charges 808,638 761,962 808,758 762,058

Direct compensation 529,056 510,816 529,157 510,896 

Benefits 229,073 203,512 229,092 203,528 

FGTS 50,509 44,573 50,509 44,573 

Other - 3,061 - 3,061 

Taxes 649,613 502,901 649,835 502,926

Federal 396,603 312,193 396,805 312,218 

State 244,798 184,013 244,798 184,013 

Municipal 8,212 6,695 8,232 6,695 

Third-party capital remuneration 198,608 123,573 198,610 123,576

Interest 173,833 100,444 173,835 100,447

Rent 24,775 23,129 24,775 23,129

Interest on equity 784,399 603,925 784,399 603,925

Dividends and interest on equity 175,150 137,860 175,150 137,860

Tax incentives 313,095 261,068 313,095 261,068

Retained earnings 296,154 204,997 296,154 204,997

2,441,258 1,992,361 2,441,602 1,992,485

Years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015 
(In thousands of Reais, except for net income per share)

Years ended December 31, 
2016 and 2015 
(In thousands of Reais, except 
for net income per share)

STATEMENT OF CASH  
FLOW - INDIRECT METHOD 

Parent company Consolidated

2016 2015 2016 2015

Cash flows from operating activities

Net income before income and social contribution 
taxes

 832,006  642,085  832,176  642,085 

Reconciliation of income (loss) to cash provided by operating 
activities:

Depreciation and amortization  118,814  105,951  118,814  105,951 

Cost on the sale of permanent assets  1,473  317  1,473  317 

Equity in net income of subsidiaries  (560)  516  -  - 

Restatement of financing and short-term investments and 
exchange variance gains and losses

 (16,373)  150,105  (16,373)  150,105 

Restatement of Import Pis and Cofins tax credits  (3,790)  (98,678)  (3,790)  (98,678)

Provision for civil, labor and tax contingencies  4,612  36,014  4,612  36,014 

Provision for doubtful accounts  14,046  23,308  14,046  23,308 

Inventory impairment  5,837  1,342  5,837  1,342 

Provision for PP&E and intangible assets impairment  10,650  -  10,650  - 

Changes in assets and liabilities    

(Increase) in trade accounts receivable  (141,467)  (29,804)  (141,457)  (29,621)

(Increase) decrease in inventories  84,743  (210,388)  84,927  (210,193)

(Increase) decrease in short-term investments  6,338  (4,656)  6,338  (4,656)

(Increase) decrease in recoverable taxes  110,280  (7,010)  110,280  (7,012)

Increase (decrease) in other receivables 17,698  (17,031)  17,574  (17,117)

Increase (decrease) in trade payables  6,480  48,437  6,388  48,426 

Decrease in taxes and contributions  (21,434)  (7,360)  (21,395)  (7,368)

Decrease in government subsidies  (4,461)  (234)  (4,461)  (234)

Increase in accounts payable and provisions  36,263  22,730  36,268  22,811 

Interest and exchange variance paid  (55,152)  (128,372)  (55,152)  (128,372)

Income and social contribution taxes paid  (46,127)  (36,950)  (46,274)  (36,956)

Release of incentives for reinvestment  3,761  533  3,761  533 

Net cash and cash equivalents provided by operating 
activities

963,637 490,855 964,242 490,685 

Cash flows from investment activities

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment and intangible 
assets

 (258,964)  (398,548)  (259,107)  (398,549)

Amortization of debt on the acquisition of companies  (7,887)  (11,205)  (7,887)  (11,205)

Noncurrent call deposits  (6,454)  -  (6,454)  - 

Redemption of noncurrent call deposits  815  -  815  - 

Net cash used in investment activities  (272,490)  (409,753)  (272,633)  (409,754)

Cash flows from financing activities

Interest on shareholders’ equity paid  (137,860)  (194,112)  (137,860)  (194,112)

Financing taken out  388,514  476,684  388,514  476,684 

Acquisition of stock issued by the Company  -  (39,442)  -  (39,442)

Financing payments  (430,959)  (422,544)  (430,959)  (422,544)

Net cash used in financing activities  (180,305)  (179,414)  (180,305)  (179,414)

Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents  510,842  (98,312)  511,304  (98,483)

Statements of increase (decrease) in cash and cash 
equivalents 

At the beginning of the year  348,448  446,760  348,800  447,283 

At end of year  859,290  348,448  860,104  348,800 

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  510,842  (98,312)  511,304  (98,483)
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Pages 15 and 135

Page 132

Pages 106, 107, 108 and 109
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GRI CONTENT INDEXG4-32GRI CONTENT INDEXG4-32

GRI INDEX

STANDARD DISCLOSURES
General Stan-
dard Disclo-
sures Page (or link) External assurance

STRATEGY AND ANALYSIS

G4-1 Pages 4 and 5  

ORGANIZATIONAL PROFILE

G4-3 Pages 10 to 12  

G4-4 Pages 10 to 12   

G4-5 Pages 10 to 12   

G4-6 Pages 10 to 12  

G4-7 Pages 10 to 12  

G4-8 Pages 10 to 12  

G4-9 Pages 10 to 12  

G4-10 Page 113. The Company had 16,460 employees in December 2016. All employees are 
permanent employees under indefinite term, full-time employment contracts. Yes

G4-11 All employees are covered by collective bargaining agreements.  

G4-12 Page 47 and 48  

G4-13 There were no significant changes during the reporting period in relation to the 
organization's size, structure, ownership or supply chain.  

G4-14 The precautionary approach is addressed through our risk management system.  

G4-15 The Company does not subscribe to externally developed economic, environmental 
and social charters, principles, or other initiatives.  

G4-16
The Company is a member of the Advisory Committee to the Brazilian Food Industry 
Association and the Management Committee of the Brazilian Association of Industrial 
cookie, Pasta, Bread & Cake Industry.

 

IDENTIFIED MATERIAL ASPECTS AND BOUNDARIES

G4-17
This information is contained in the consolidated financial statements and the 
reference form filed with the Brazilian Securities Commission (CVM). For further 
information, please visit the Company website at: www.mdiasbranco.com.br/ri  

 

G4-18 Pages 30 to 37  
G4-19 Pages 30 to 37  
G4-20 Pages 30 to 37  
G4-21 Pages 30 to 37  
G4-22 There were no significant changes.  
G4-23 There were no significant changes.  

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

G4-24 Pages 30 to 37  
G4-25 Pages 30 to 37  
G4-26 Pages 30 to 37  
G4-27

Page 106 (Social Investment and Communities) and page 123 (Transparency & 
Engagement – Customers & Consumers).  

REPORT PROFILE

G4-28 Pages 30 to 37  
G4-29 Pages 30 to 37  
G4-30 Pages 30 to 37  
G4-31 Pages 30 to 37  
G4-32 Pages 30 and 169 to 169  
G4-33 Pages 156 to 158  

GOVERNANCE

G4-34 Page 64 and Company website: www.mdiasbranco.com.br/ri  

ETHICS AND INTEGRITY

G4-56

Our values and principles can be viewed at: http://ri.mdiasbranco.com.br/
mdiasbranco/web/conteudo_pt.asp?idioma=0&conta=28&tipo=13804

The code of ethics can be accessed at:
http://mdiasbranco.com.br/codigo-de-etica/   
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ECONOMICS

G4-EC1 Pages 15 and 135

G4-EC4 Page 132

G4-EC8
Pages 106, 107, 
108 and 109

The closing down of the Jaboticabal/SP plant in December 2015 led to the 
downsizing of the Company’s staff. However, it has taken all the necessary 
measures to provide adequate support to its former employees.

NUTRITION & HEALTHINESS

FP7-DMA Page 74   
FPSD-FP7 Page 27 and 75  

PACKAGING AND WASTE

G4-DMA Page 77   

G4-EN1 Page 79 Because this information is strategic to the business, the Company reports on 
the quantity of plastic and paper and cardboard packaging in aggregate. Yes

G4-DMA Page 80  

G4-EN23 Page 81 and 82 Yes

WATER AND WASTEWATER

G4-DMA Page 84 and 85  

G4-EN8 Page 85 and 86  Yes

G4-EN10 Page 87  

G4-DMA Page 89 and 90  

G4-EN22 Page 90  Yes

ENERGY AND EMISSIONS

G4-DMA Pages 91 to 93  

G4-EN3 Page 92 

Data for all manufacturing plants has been included. In 2014 we reported 
only on electricity consumption without including the Jaboatão dos 
Guararapes (PE) site. From 2015 the total energy consumption of all plants 
was disclosed. Energy consumption at distribution centers is negligible and 
has not been taken into account.

G4-EN5 Page 92

Data for all manufacturing plants has been included. The data has been 
reviewed and updated as in the 2014 Report there were no disclosures for the 
Jaboatão dos Guararapes/PE plant due to the integration process. The data 
for 2014 and 2015 has therefore been updated to include all plants. Energy 
consumption at distribution centers is negligible and has not been taken into 
account.

Yes

G4-DMA Page 94  

SPECIFIC STANDARD DISCLOSURES

G4-DMA Page 94  

G4-EN15 Page 94
The Company monitors scope 1 GHG emissions only for the transportation 
fleet. As part of our Strategic Sustainability Agenda, fixed-source emissions 
will be monitored from 2016. 

G4-EN21 Page 95  

G4-EN30 Page 94  

COMMUNITIES & SOCIAL INVESTMENT
G4-DMA Page 95  

G4-SO1
Pages 105, 106 
and 122  Yes

G4-SO2 Page 106  

TRANSPARENCY AND ENGAGEMENT
G4-DMA Page 117   

G4-LA2 Page 117   

G4-DMA Page 120 and 
121   

G4-LA6 Pages  
120 and 121 

The Company reports on injury frequency and severity rates in accordance 
with international standards. Due to the integration process, frequency rate 
and severity rate data for 2014 did not include the Jaboatão dos Guararapes/
PE plant. For this reason it cannot be compared with 2014. The 2015 data 
includes all the industrial plants.

Yes

G4-LA7 Page 121  

G4-DMA Page 114 and 
115  

G4-LA9 Page 27 and 114  Yes

G4-LA11 Pages 116 and 
118 

G4-HR12 Page 54 and 55

G4-PR2 Page 123

G4-PR4 Page 123

G4-PR6 Page 123

G4-PR7 Page 123

G4-PR9 Page 123  

INPUTS
G4-DMA Page 125  

G4-EN1 Page 124 Because this information is strategic to the business, the Company reports on 
the quantities of major agricultural feedstocks in aggregate. Yes

G4-DMA Page 124   

G4-LA14 Page 125
The indicator is calculated based on: Numerator – Number of qualified 
suppliers; Denominator - total suppliers participating in the qualification 
process. 
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